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Overview of
the Fortuna
Entertainment
Group N. V.

O v e r v i e w o f t h e Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.

or “Fortuna SazKan”) was established

Croatia, and B2B in Spain, Germany

(hereinafter “Fortuna” or “FEG” or “the

in 1990 in Prague. Since its incorpora-

and other countries. In August 2017,

Group” or “the Company”) is the leading

tion, the Company’s primary business

Fortuna acquired Romanian compa-

Central European multi-channel bet-

has been sports fixed-odds betting.

nies Bet Active Concept S.R.L. and Bet

ting and gaming operator. The Group

A year after it was formed, T E R N O,

Zone S.R.L. (for which Fortuna had pro-

offers a comprehensive range of online

akciová spoločnosť was established in

vided its trademark since 2015), Public

and land network-based betting and

Slovakia. In 2005, Penta Investments be-

Slots S.R.L. and Slot Arena S.R.L.

gaming products, including pre-match

came the owner of both entities and in

and live betting on a range of sporting

the same year it acquired Polish betting

From October 2010 until June 2018,

events as well as online gaming.

operator Profesjonał. Subsequently, all

FEG’s shares were traded on the

the companies were rebranded under

Prague and Warsaw stock exchanges.

one brand: Fortuna.

Since the squeeze-out of minority in-

Thanks to its accumulated experience
from operating for more than 20 years

vestors in November 2018, Fortuna’s

on the market of Central & Eastern Eu-

In May 2017, Fortuna acquired a 100%

sole shareholder has been FORTBET

rope, Fortuna sets industry standards

stake in Hattrick Sports Group Ltd.,

HOLDINGS LIMITED, a subsidiary of

and trends in the betting sector. The

Ireland (“Hattrick Sports Group”), the

Penta Investments Limited. The Com-

founding company FORTUNA sázková

owner of Casa Pariurilor, the lead-

pany is currently 100% private com-

kancelář a. s. (hereinafter “FORTUNA

ing betting operator in Romania, and

pany.

Betting Office, joint stock company”

PSK, the second largest operator in
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2018 Financial
Highlights

2 0 1 8 F i n a n ci a l H igh l ights

Financials (EUR thousands)

2018

2017

3,734,411

2,007,143

2,734,954

1,502,174

— of which Retail

999,457

504,969

Gross Win

483,624

305,444

— of which Online

276,979

180,707

— of which Retail

206,645

124,737

Revenues

335,191

212,365

EBITDA

82,005

54,956

Operating Profit

61,865

40,232

Net Profit

47,656

15,437

Amounts Staked
— of which Online

1

Ratios

2018

2017

13.0%

15.2%

9.2%

10.7%

EBITDA Margin

24.5%

25.9%

Operating Profit Margin

18.5%

18.9%

Net Profit Margin

14.2%

7.3%

7.5%

5.5%

As of 31 Dec 2018

As of 31 Dec 2017

Total Assets

505,078

336,528

Total Equity (including non-controlling interest)

123,825

76,955

Total Borrowings

217,069

129,663

Net Debt / (Net Cash) 2

132,691

48,947

25,050

11,641

Number of Points-of-Sale (sports betting)

3,255

3,194

Number of Employees – EOP

6,275

6,064

Gross Win Margin
Net Gross Win Margin

CAPEX as % of Revenues

CAPEX

Operations

1 Online includes online sports betting and gaming, Retail includes retail sports betting, slots and SSBT.
2 See the Section Glossary for a more detailed explanation.
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Management
Board Report

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

3.1 Description of the Company’s Business
and Markets
3.1.1 General Market
Overview

to compete not only at a local level, but

taken by Fortuna Slovakia with approxi-

also against offshore online operators.

mately 34% of the market and third

In terms of retail operations, potential

place is taken by Tipsport with approxi-

The Group operates in the betting and

new market entrants encounter signifi-

mately 20%. Besides these three market

gaming sector. The betting is mainly fo-

cant entry barriers such as local licensing

leaders, other competitors include Tipos

cused on sporting events while the gam-

requirements, significant marketing and

and Junior Game. The deregulation of in-

ing services include the following: online

branding spend demands and high retail

ternet betting has allowed for stronger

casino games such as slots, black jack,

establishment costs.

market growth through the online sales
channel.

roulette as well as products like Poker
and Bingo. After gaming and lotteries,
betting is the biggest subsector in the

3.1.2 Czech Republic

overall EU betting and gaming market.

In January 2019, the Slovak parliament
approved new gambling regulations

Gaming is the most significant subsec-

The competitive landscape in the bet-

that the Ministry of Finance originally

tor, with further prospects for growth

ting and gaming sector is primarily com-

announced in the spring of 2018. The

that mainly stem from the rapid devel-

posed of five major bookmakers led by

new regime will begin accepting appli-

opment of online services. This trend is

Tipsport, Fortuna Synot Tip and Sazka.

cations for online casino licences as of

supported by cooperation between vari-

The leading position on the market in

March 1, 2019, with licence approvals to

ous entities in the betting and gaming

terms of the number of outlets is held

be issued starting July 1, 2019.

sector: landline operators are starting to

by Tipsport, with a significant factor be-

cooperate with online service providers,

ing “partner” outlets in bars. Fortuna has

while betting organisers are entering

a solid second position with a market

into agreements with gaming operators.

share of around 30%. Alternative book-

3.1.4 Poland

makers are SynotTip and Sazka, the core

There are three strong players on the

The Group operates in the Czech Repub-

activities of which are slot machines and

Polish betting market: Fortuna PL, To-

lic, Slovakia and Poland and from 2017

lotteries.

tolotek, and privately-owned STS (Ju-

also in Romania and Croatia. Compared
with the markets of Western countries,

Fortuna has operated online gaming in

the Central & Eastern Europe betting

the Czech Republic from 2017.

markets are still relatively underdeveloped and offer opportunities for future
growth. With the exception of the Czech

3.1.3 Slovakia

Republic, the competitive landscape
largely consists of a small number of

There are three main betting operators

single-country operators. However, due

on the Slovak sports betting market. Niké

to the growth in the online betting in-

is the market leader with a market share

dustry, country operators have started

of approximately 36%, second place is

Fortuna is the
largest betting
and gaming
regulated
operator in the
CEE region

7
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3.1.5 Romania

3.1.6 Croatia

ence, with a market share of approxi-

Fortuna is the no. 1 multi-channel and

There are six licensed sports betting

mately 33% of the domestic regulated

multi-product (sports betting/gaming)

operators in Croatia, five of which are

market. The big market players are fol-

operator with a combined market share

privately-owned companies. The State

lowed by smaller operators such as Mil-

of more than 30% and the biggest retail

Lottery is the sixth operator. Fortuna

lenium, E-Toto, LVBet, ForBet, Superbet

network in Romania. Other key players

is no. 2 on the market. The other five

and two newcomers of 2018, Totalbet

are Superbet and Stanleybet.

operators are Supersport, Germania,

roszek family). Fortuna PL is currently
number two in terms of market pres-

and BZBuk.

the State Lottery, Stanleybet and FavOther online betting & gaming players,

Bet. Fortuna operates both online and

Fortuna PL was the first operator to re-

which are also established on the Euro-

offline sports betting and casino games

ceive an online betting licence from the

pean market, are Unibet, NetBet, Betano,

in addition to offering slot machines in

Polish Ministry of Finance in January 2012.

Sportingbet, Betfair and 888.

outlets.

3.2 Regulatory Environment
The entertainment industry sphere,

the sector does not have the objective of

a bet is guaranteed, and the win or loss

which includes betting, games of chance

establishing a common market and the

is entirely or partly subject to chance or

and gaming machines, has not been sub-

liberalisation of its area of activities. In

unknown circumstance.

ject to harmonisation at the European

accordance with Article 45, in conjunc-

Union level and the competency remains

tion with Article 62 of the Treaty on the

The Gambling Act further differentiates

with EU Member States when it comes to

Functioning of the European Union, the

gambling into “types of gambling”. Any

defining the conditions for the pursuit of

free movement of services, guaranteed in

other game that meets the general gam-

activities in the sector. However, regula-

Article 56 of the Treaty, may be restricted

bling definition but does not meet the

tions concerning the sector have been

only on the grounds of public policy, pub-

requirements of one of the specified

several times brought before the Europe-

lic security or public health.

types of gambling is prohibited.

dicated that there is no intention to treat

The development of European legisla-

Gambling is subject to a special sector

the sector as an ordinary market sector

tion (regarding electronic services, for

tax under the Gambling Tax Act. The tax

that should be governed by the rules of

instance) and further judgments of the

basis of the gambling tax is the differ-

the market. It was noted that socially-

ECJ might conceivably impact local legis-

ence between the total value of accepted

based attitudes towards sector activities

lation and result in changes in the gam-

bets or wagers and the total value of

tend to restrict, or even prohibit, such

bling laws.

paid winnings (the tax base). The gam-

an Court of Justice (”ECJ”). The ECJ has in-

activities to prevent them from being
a source of private profit. Furthermore,
the issue of public security, in particular
the prevention of criminal or fraudulent
behaviour, is often raised by Member

bling tax rate is 23 percent of the gross

3.2.1 Regulatory
Environment in the
Czech Republic

gaming revenues, with the exception of
technical games that are subject to a 35
percent tax on the gross gaming revenue. Additionally, land-based operators
of technical games have to account for

States imposing limitations. The ECJ also
indicated that sometimes a proportion of

Czech Act No. 186/2016 on Gambling

a “minimum tax” per slot machine, which

the funds from operations in the sector

(the “Gambling Act”) in the Czech Repub-

is CZK 9,200 per calendar quarter. The

should be earmarked for social initiatives,

lic, which serves as the prime legislative

gambling tax is paid on a quarterly basis.

charitable works, sport or culture. There-

tool regulating gaming in the country,

Each gambling operator (even illegal op-

fore limiting the powers of the Member

defines gambling as a game of chance,

erators) is subject to the gambling tax re-

States in the ECJ’s interpretations of the

betting or a lottery in which a participant

gardless of the location of its registered

provisions of the Treaty with respect to

wagers a bet while no return on such

seat or main office.

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

Recent regulatory
changes in the
CEE region favour
operators with
local gaming
licences

new obligations related to personal

affiliated companies – have appeared on

data processing.

the country’s online gambling blacklist in
the 12 months preceding their applica-

3.2.2 Regulatory
Environment in
Slovakia

tion filing.
Betting operators will be subject to
a 22% gambling tax on online revenue.
The state-owned TIPOS will retain its on-

The operation of gambling games in the

line monopoly over lotteries, bingo and

Slovak Republic is regulated primarily by

raffles, but will now compete equally with

Act No. 171/2005 on Gambling Games,

private operators for the rest of the on-

as amended (the “Slovak Gambling Act”),

line market.

If a gambling operator has a registered

which is the main legislative instrument

seat or main office within the territory of

of Slovak gambling law.

the Czech Republic, then it is subject to

The government plans to create a new
Office for Regulation of Gambling, which

corporate income tax. The corporate in-

C h a nges t o t h e G a m i ng

will assume the oversight role currently

come tax is 19 percent of the net income

law in 2018

performed by the Slovak Ministry of Fi-

of a company.

In December 2018, the Slovak parlia-

nance. Furthermore, local authorities in

ment approved new gambling regula-

Slovakia will be able to restrict gambling

Players’ winnings are not subject to any

tions that the Ministry of Finance origi-

for a certain number of days per year

additional taxation, provided that the

nally announced this spring. As a result

and prohibit the establishment of points-

players’ winnings come from a game op-

of the proposed regulation, international

of-sale in proximity to schools, and so

erated by a licensed gambling operator

operators should finally be able to apply

forth.

with a licence from an EU or European

for local gambling licences.

Economic Area Member State.

As of 15 March 2018, an amendment
The new regime will begin accepting ap-

to the Anti-Money Laundering Act be-

As of 1 January 2017, an amendment to

plications for online casino licences as

came effective. The amendment con-

the Anti-Money Laundering Act became

of March 1, 2019, with licence approvals

tains changes especially with regard to

effective, requiring gambling operators

to be issued starting July 1, 2019. On-

the AML/CFT obligations related to Cus-

to carry out identifications of players and

line sports betting licence applications

tomer Due Diligence and AML/CFT risk

know-your-customer processes similar

will be accepted starting July 1, 2019,

assessment.

to those carried out by payment and

but the licences will not take effect until

credit institutions. Gambling operators

July 1, 2020.

As of 25 May 2018, the GDPR – the new
EU Regulation on data protection – be-

must take steps to prevent crime and
Online sports betting and casino licenc-

came effective. The GDPR stipulates new

es will cost operators EUR 3 million, al-

obligations related to personal data pro-

As of 1 January 2018, an amendment

though operators interested in offering

cessing.

to the Anti-Money Laundering Act and

both products can save EUR 1 million.

Act on Public Registers became effec-

Licences will be valid for a 10-year term,

tive. On the basis of the amendment,

but operators who want to offer both

the Register of beneficial owners was

online and land-based betting will be

established. Legal entities registered in

given 5-year licences with an option to

the Commercial Register had the obli-

extend for an additional 5-year term.

gation to record their beneficial owner

International operators who wish to op-

The current gambling law in Poland

in the Register of beneficial owners by

erate online will have to establish a rela-

came into force on 1 January 2010.

1 January 2019.

tionship with a local representative who

other wrongdoing.

3.2.3 Regulatory
Environment
in Poland

will serve as the operators’ government

An entity that intends to organise bet-

As of 25 May 2018, the GDPR – the new

liaison. The government won’t accept li-

ting is obliged to apply for the per-

EU Regulation on data protection – be-

cence applications from any operator if

mission of the ministry responsible

came effective. The GDPR stipulates

their domains – or those of any of their

for public finances. The permission

9
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is issued for 6 years for a specified

The total amount of money paid for

these concerns were not heard by the

number of betting outlets, which may

bets is subject to taxation. A 2.5% tax

authorities.

be amended. After the expiry of that

is imposed on Amounts Staked for bets

permission, an entity may apply for

concerning the results of a competition

In other areas, the situation of slot ma-

permission only once for 6 consecu-

involving animals if permission is issued

chine parlours in Poland remains dis-

tive years. An entity organising betting

only for this kind of betting and a 12%

puted. Although effectively outlawed

should be organised as a limited liabil-

tax is imposed on Amounts Staked for

in 2009, many still operate. Their own-

ity company or joint stock company

bets concerning the results of other

ers argue that the provisions of the Act

with share capital of at least 2 million

events. This licence was prolonged in

that restrict gambling to casinos are

zloty and have its registered office in

January 2018 for the next 6 years.

not binding, because the Act was not

Poland, or if such a company is organ-

notified to the European Commission –

ising betting for the territory of the EU

a step required when legislation includes

or EFTA, it is subject to the application
of a representative, or an applicant in
the form of a branch.
The fee for a betting permit is 2,000%
of the base amount and 50% of the
base amount for each betting outlet
or – in the case of organising betting
through the Internet – 9,000% of the
base amount. The base amount is the

Over the last
years, Polish
regulation has
improved its
compliance
with EU
recommendations

‘technical regulations” as defined by EU
law. After many contradictory local judgments, in October 2016 the Court of Justice of the European Union ruled in case
C-303/15 that these provisions do not
fall within the scope of “technical regulation”. The authorities continue to close
down unlicensed slot machine parlours,
and with the introduction of the amendments to the Act in April 2017, which

total average monthly gross wages and

greatly increased the related penalties

salaries excluding payments from profit

(and even made it a crime to possess

in the second quarter of the previous

R E C E N T C HA N G E S A N D

a slot machine), enforcement attempts

year as published by the Central Sta-

O U TL O O K

are expected to increase.

tistical Office. At the end of 2017, the

Owing to the significance of the new

base amount was 4,474.00 zloty, which

regulation, much of the past year has

Among the most significant new ele-

makes the permission fee 89,480 zloty

been spent discussing the shape of the

ments introduced in the amendment

and around 2,237 zloty for each betting

new laws. In general, it seems that de-

is the introduction of the blocking of

outlet. In addition, a betting company is

spite claims of the Polish government

unlicensed gambling websites. From

obliged to establish collateral securing

that the amendment is aimed at pro-

July 2017, the minister in charge of public

the interests of its customers and fiscal

tecting participants against the dan-

finance became able to select websites

obligations. The amount of collateral is

gers of gambling, its primary concern

that – in his or her opinion – are used

determined on the basis of the number

is clearly to increase state revenue.

to offer gambling games for residents of

of betting outlets. The base amount is

Because of this, while the amendment

Poland without the possession of a valid

40,000 zloty. The amount of collateral

expanded the scope of legal forms of

licence or permit. Polish internet service

for 40 betting outlets is six times the

gambling in Poland, the majority of

providers will be required to redirect

base amount and increases by one base

these new forms may only be pursued

users who try to access the websites to

amount are set for each further 10 bet-

in a monopolistic system. Several op-

a government website. Payment service

ting outlets (i.e. in the case of 100 betting

erators appealed to the government to

providers will be required to cease coop-

outlets = 240,000 zloty + 6 × 40,000 zloty

liberalise the gambling market in some

eration with such blacklisted operators.

= 480,000 zloty). The collateral may be

aspects (e.g., by introducing more lib-

This measure is intended to cut off their

in the form of a banking or insurance

eral rules on playing poker, widely

funding. The impact of these laws is sig-

guarantee, or cash deposit. If betting

considered a skill game, not a form of

nificant. Several highly significant foreign

is organised through the Internet, the

gambling), but these voices were largely

gambling websites have been blocked to

entity organising said betting shall pro-

ignored. The idea of blocking gambling

users in Poland.

vide, within the time limit prescribed in

websites – the first measure of such

the permit, a financial security of 480,000

a kind in Poland – was controversial

The amendment reintroduces slot ma-

zloty.

among privacy advocates, but again

chine parlours to the market after their

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

de facto banishment in 2009, but this

performed only within the specific legal

to 100,000 lei. In addition, the blacklist

time they will be exclusively operated

parameters imposed by the gambling

may contain individuals or legal entities

by a state-owned company. Totalizator

regulation.

who have carried out or are carrying

Sportowy opened the first venues in the

out unlicensed gambling activity.

fourth third quarter of 2018. In Decem-

However, the legislation creates a legal

ber 2018, Totalizator Sportowy was ex-

framework whereby any private opera-

L E G AL A N D R E G U LAT O R Y

pected to start the online casino.

tor that fulfils the requirements provided

F R AM E W O R K

by the law is able to apply for a licence

The conditions under which the organi-

As of 13 July 2018, the Anti-Money Laun-

and authorisation in order to conduct

sation and operation of games of chance

dering Act transposing the 4th AML Di-

gambling activities in Romania.

are regulated in Romania are outlined in

rective became effective. The Anti-Money

the following normative acts:

Laundering Act contains changes espe-

In accordance with the legislation in

cially with regard to the AML/CFT obliga-

force, only operators based in the EU,

•• Government Emergency Ordinance

tions related to Customer Due Diligence

European Economic Area (EEA) or the

No. 77/2009 on the organisation

and AML/CFT risk assessment.

Swiss Confederation may apply for

and operation of games of chance

and obtain the necessary licence and

(GEO 77/2009);

As of 25 May 2018, the GDPR – the

authorisation in order to provide re-

new EU Regulation on data protection,

mote gambling services in Romania.

•• Government Decision No. 111/2016

became effective. The GDPR stipulates

A situation in which a foreign eco-

for the approval of the Methodo-

new obligations related to personal data

nomic operator provides gambling

logical Norms for implementation of

processing.

services in Romania without holding

Government Emergency Ordinance

the relevant licence and authorisation

No. 77/2009 on the organisation

is explicitly regulated by the legislation

and operation of games of chance

as a criminal offence sanctioned with

(GD 111/2016);

3.2.4 Regulatory
Environment
in Romania

imprisonment of from one month up
to one year or with a fine. Additional

•• Law No. 124/2015 for the approval of

sanctions are also expressly provided

Government Emergency Ordinance

The Romanian primary gambling legisla-

in the legislation for a legal entity that

No. 92/2014 regulating certain fiscal-

tion (Government Emergency Ordinance

offers unlicensed gambling services in

budgetary measures and amending

No. 77/2009 on the organisation and

Romania: the entity shall be dissolved

certain normative acts;

operation of games of chance, as sub-

and the amounts derived from the un-

sequently amended and supplemented)

lawful activity shall be confiscated. As

•• Government Emergency Ordinance

defines a series of gambling products:

a separate tool to control and prevent

No. 20/2013 on the establishment,

Betting, Casino, Poker, slot machines,

unlicensed remote gambling activities,

organisation and functioning of the

bingo and lottery games.

the Romanian regulator manages the

National Gambling Office; and

‘blacklist’ of unlicensed gambling webGambling is permitted in Romania, pro-

sites. This list currently comprises of

•• Government Decision No. 298/2013

vided that the required licences and au-

almost 1,000 internet domain names.

on the organisation and functioning

thorisations are obtained, the respective

In this regard, the legislation also sets

of the National Gambling Office.

taxes are paid and the applicable legal

forth that internet service providers

provisions are observed in the course

(ISPs) as well as all service suppliers

In addition to the above-mentioned nor-

of business. Gambling is legally allowed

for the gambling industry, including

mative acts, gambling activities are also

in Romania in both its land-based and

payment processors, are bound to

regulated by means of instructions, or-

online forms.

comply with the decisions taken by the

ders or decisions issued by the National

regulator. Specific reference is made to

Gambling Office (NGO) in relation to

As a matter of principle, the very first

ISPs that are required to ban access to

various aspects of gambling activity in-

article of the primary gambling legisla-

the blacklisted websites (as well as to

cluding the issuance of licences and au-

tion sets forth that the organisation and

those websites promoting unlicensed

thorisations. Moreover, certain specific

operation of gambling in Romania rep-

gambling) under the threat of a sanc-

requirements in the field of anti-money

resents a state monopoly and may be

tion of a fine ranging from 50,000 lei

laundering and the prevention of ter-

11
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rorism are also applicable to gambling

In terms of costs, the licence fee is cal-

of revenues. Online gambling operators

activities, and are generally laid out in the

culated with reference to the opera-

are subject to corporate tax in Romania.

following normative acts:

tor’s turnover. GEO 77/2009 provides
for several turnover thresholds in order

In Romania, the revenues obtained by

No. 656 of 7 December 2002

to determine the applicable licence fee

the players are subject to tax charg-

on the prevention and combating of

(e.g., the minimum amount of the li-

es. In the case of both the online and

money laundering and the financing

cence fee is €6,000 per year for a turno-

land-based games, the operators are

of terrorism; and

ver of less than €500,000 per year while

required to withhold the applicable tax

the maximum amount is €120,000 per

and to subsequently pay such to the

year for a turnover exceeding €10 mil-

state budget, while in the case of online

lion per year).

games, each player is bound to execute

•• Law

•• Regulation of 4 June 2008 for implementing Law No. 656/2002.

individually the tax duties imposed by
TH E LI C E N S I N G P R O C E S S

The amount of the authorisation fee for

As a core rule applicable to remote

remote games of chance is 16 percent of

gambling activity, only operators based

the organiser’s revenue, but no less than

A D V E R TI S I N G A N D

in the EU, EEA or Swiss Confederation

€100,000 per year.

MA R K E TI N G

may apply for a licence and authorisation.

the Romanian authorities.

The advertising of gambling activities
In addition to the licence and authori-

performed in Romania by licensed gam-

sation fees, online operators are also

bling operators is permitted, provided

In order to perform land-based gambling

bound to contribute to the public foun-

that the principles regarding the protec-

activities, any gambling operator must

dation for preventing gambling addiction

tion of minors and responsible gambling

obtain a Class I licence and one or sev-

with a contribution of €5,000 per year,

are observed. In addition, GD 111/2016

eral authorisations. While the licensing

while for land-based operators the con-

also imposes certain requirements in

procedure is not product-specific, the

tribution has been set at €1,000

relation to the placement of advertising

authorisation must be obtained for each

material and content-related conditions.

type of gambling activity for which there

The regulation also sets forth certain ad-

is an intention to perform.

ministrative fees to be paid by the online

Most recently, Law no. 250/2018 en-

gambling operator when applying for a li-

tered into force which modified GEO

cence, namely:

no. 77/2009. The new law brought sev-

The Class I licence is valid for 10 years
with the exception of temporary games

•• a

eral modifications. The most important
documentation analysis fee of

modification by far is the one regarding

for three months. The authorisation is

€2,500 paid on submission of the li-

the ban on displaying outside the betting

valid for one year, with the same excep-

cence with the NGO; and

agencies the value/the goods awarded

of chance for which the licence is valid

tion – for temporary games of chance,
the validity of the authorisation is also
three months.

•• a fee for the issuance of the licence of

through bonuses, campaigns/promotions or jackpots.

€8,500 per year, per licence.
R E C E N T C HA N G E S A N D

To a certain extent, the licensing and au-

TA X ATI O N

O U TL O O K

thorisation requirements for land-based

From a fiscal point of view, land-based

At the end of 2018, Romania approved

gambling also apply for online activities.

gambling operators that operate in Ro-

new gambling legislation, namely Gov-

As a preliminary observation, while in

mania are subject to a 16 percent profit

ernment Emergency Ordinance (GEO)

the case of land-based gambling activi-

tax (which is for all types of businesses

no. 114/2018. The main change adopted

ties the authorisation must be obtained

and not specific to gambling), in addition

by the law is an introduction of a 2% tax

for each type of activity (or machine, as

to any other fiscal obligations imposed un-

from the cash deposited by players for

the case may be), in the case of online

der the Romanian Fiscal Code. The Fiscal

online gambling operators licensed in

gambling, only one authorisation is to be

Code provides for an exception in what

the country.

obtained for all the activities conducted

concerns land-based casinos, where it is

on the same gambling platform (which

stated that this category may be subject

Hence, operators will be required to pay

can be connected to one or several in-

to a 5 percent turnover tax in the case

an additional 2% on iGaming cash de-

ternet domain names).

that the profit tax is less than 5 percent

posits by players from January 1, 2019.

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

The tax will be imposed in addition
to existing licence and authorisation
requirements. Operators holding licences from national regulator Oficiul
National Pentru Jocuri de Noroc (ONJN)
currently pay a rate of 16% on Gross
Win.

•• Act on Games of Chance – NN 87/09,
35/13, 158/13, 41/14, 143/14

•• Ordinance on prize games – NN 8/10
•• Ordinance on spatial and technical
conditions for games of chance in casinos, slot clubs and betting shops –

The published GEO 114/2018 also sets

NN 38/10, 130/10, 69/11, 15/12,

out measures for iGaming companies to

151/14

pay an annual fee for social responsibility
in the gambling sector of EUR 5,000 each
year, while land-based operators will now
pay an extra EUR 1,000. In addition, the

•• Ordinance on organising remote bet-

Over the last
two year,
Croatia made
a significant
progress in
betting & gaming
market
regulation

ting games – NN 8/10, 63/10, 22/15

annual fixed fee for each slot machine in

•• Ordinance on the technical accuracy

casino in the country and the servers

Romania will increase from EUR 2,600 to

of machines and tables for games of

have to be located in Croatia. Online

EUR 3,600.

chance – NN 38/10, 130/10, 49/13,

betting and gaming is fully regulated

12/14

and permitted based on domestic li-

Adoption of the Anti-Money Laundering
Act transposing the 4th AML Directive
is expected in 2019. This Anti-Money
Laundering Act should include providers
of gambling services as obliged entities
(currently obliged entities are considered
casinos).

•• Ordinance on obtaining a licence to
operate in a casino – NN 78/10

•• Ordinance on interactive online casino gaming – NN 78/10

•• Ordinance on compulsory records for

cences.
International offshore operators (“operators from abroad” not having a physical presence in Croatia) are prohibited
from engaging and organising games
of chance in Croatia. Only persons who
are not Croatian citizens and are tem-

As of 25 May 2018, the GDPR – the new

the calculation of compensation for

porarily residing in Croatia are allowed

EU Regulation on data protection – be-

playing games of chance – NN 8/15

to hold receipts and tickets issued by

came effective. The GDPR stipulates new
obligations related to personal data processing.

3.2.5 Regulatory
Environment
in Croatia

•• Regulation on criteria for determin-

international operators of games of
chance.

ing the beneficiary and the method
of allocating part of the income

As of 1 January 2018, the Anti-Money

from games of chance for 2018 –

Laundering Act transposing the 4th

NN 129/17

AML Directive became effective. The
Anti-Money Laundering Act contains

The betting and gaming market in

changes especially with regard to the

Croatia is regulated by the Ministry of

AML/CFT obligations related to Cus-

Sports betting, casino, poker, bingo, and

Finance and the Tax Administration.

tomer Due Diligence and AML/CFT risk

lottery are the products currently under

The regulator has the right to deter-

assessment.

regulation on the local market. Apart

mine the number of licences awarded.

from lottery services, which are provid-

Licences are awarded for a period of

As of 25 May 2018, the GDPR – the new

ed by the state monopoly, literally any

15 years.

EU Regulation on data protection – be-

operator can apply for a licence for the

came effective. The GDPR stipulates new

operation of any of the other gambling

Online betting operators are required

obligations related to personal data pro-

services.

to be already providing land-based bet-

cessing.

ting services, and to employ a minimum
The conditions under which the organi-

of 100 employees and have a minimum

As of 1 July 2019, the Law on Protection

sation and operation of games of chance

of 50 active payment spots. Online ca-

of Persons who Report the Irregularity

are permitted in Croatia are outlined in

sino operators are required to have

will become effective. The act regulates

the following acts:

a licence for at least one land-based

the matter of whistleblowing.
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TA X ATI O N

an online casino, and a 500,000 HRK an-

A D V E R TI S I N G A N D

In Croatia, sports betting operators are

nual concession fee for operating a land-

MA R K E TI N G

subject to a 5% withholding tax on Amounts

based casino. There is a 25% Gross Win

Croatia maintains a ban on advertis-

Staked. There is a scaling player tax on win-

tax on tournament games.

ing, promotion or any publicity when it

nings which ranges from 10-30%, and there

comes to international games of chance

is an annual concession fee of 3 million HRK

Slot machines are subject to a 25% tax

and award games. It also prohibits the

for operating online sports betting.

on Gross Win, and there is a fixed annual

broadcasting of such advertisements on

concession fee of HRK 10,000 per slot

radio or TV programmes for children and

Casino games are subject to a 15%

machine. The annual concession fee for

youth or in printed media for children

Gross Win tax. There is an annual con-

roulette is HRK 40,000, or HRK 50,000 if

and youth.

cession fee of 3 million HRK for operating

there are more than 6 seats.

3.3 Products and Services
Fortuna Entertainment Group is a multi-

•• SOLO Bet – where a customer makes

In 2018, Fortuna extended its partner-

channel regulated sports betting & gam-

a single bet, for example, on the out-

ship with Nsoft, the leading provider

ing company which provides its custom-

come of one specific football match;

of software solutions for the gaming

ers with an extensive range of products
and first-class service wherever and
whenever they want to have a bet.

3.3.1 Sports Betting
The Group’s products as offered by the

•• AKO BET (accumulator bet) – where

and betting industry. In March 2018,
Fortuna Romania commenced offering

a customer can bet on a number of

a wide portfolio of retail products includ-

games on one ticket;

ing LIVE sportsbook, Virtual Sports and

•• COMBIBET (combination bet) – where

popular RNG lottery Lucky Six. Fortuna
launched Lucky Six in the Czech Repub-

a customer can bet on a combination

lic in December 2018, being the first

of betting events on one betting slip.

company to launch such a product in

sports betting division are divided into

the country.

three categories: sports betting, numeri-

Bets may be placed before the match

cal games (bets on numbers) and bets

(prematch bets) and during the event

on social events. The Group offers only

(live bets).

fixed-odds bets, which are bets at predetermined odds on an event occurring

In 2018, Fortuna replaced its main LIVE

which gives rise to either the retention

odds supplier Bwin with Betgenius and

by the Group of a stake placed by the

with an extension of the existing Betra-

customer or the liability to make a cer-

dar. As a result, Fortuna now receives

tain payment to the customer. The odds

odds from current leading data feed

offered by the Group vary depending on

providers and is able to offer more than

the nature of the event and the amount

20,000 LIVE events per month.

In February 2017,
Fortuna was
granted an
online casino
licence, first in
Czech Republic

to be paid to the given customer depends solely on such odds and is not

Although the popularity level of sports

influenced by the Amounts Staked by

events is similar in each country in which

other customers.

the Group operates, there is some local

3.3.2 Online Casino

bias towards particular sporting disciWithin each category of products, the

plines. However, the favourite sports are

In February 2017, Fortuna was grant-

Group generally offers three major types

similar in all countries, namely football,

ed an online casino licence (technical

of bets:

ice hockey, tennis and basketball.

games) by the Ministry of Finance of the

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

Czech Republic and therefore became

3.3.3 Slot Business

In order to offer the best LIVE betting
product to its customers, Fortuna ex-

the first company to start operating
online casino / technical games on the

The slot business is operated mainly in

tended the coverage from Betradar.

Czech market. Through the licence, For-

Romania and to a small extent also in

Existing sports were improved, more

tuna obtained the right to launch games

Croatia. The slot business is represented

markets and more events are offered

like online roulette and online slots. In

by two models: own slots and rented

to customers and also, new sports

October 2017, Fortuna was granted an

slots operated in own shops and slot

were added to our product portfolio:

additional licence by the Ministry of Fi-

clubs. Slot rentals are based on a rev-

snooker, table tennis, handball and

nance of the Czech Republic allowing for

enue share with an external partner.

baseball. The most relevant sports

the operation of “live games” which enable more players to join a game at the
same time. As a result, Fortuna launched
two new types of online roulette and

provided by Betradar are tennis and
ice hockey.

3.3.4 Other Products and
Services

one of the most popular card games,
blackjack.

In August 2016, Fortuna signed a contract

3.3.5 Multi-channels and
Distribution Network

with Playtech (LSE: PTEC) for the supply of
In addition to online casino in the Czech

a multi-channel gambling platform. Play-

The Group delivers its products to cus-

Republic, online gaming is also offered

tech is the world’s leading multi-channel

tomers through retail betting outlets,

by Fortuna Romania (16.9% of total

gambling software supplier offering cut-

Self Service Betting Terminals (“SSBTs”)

Amounts Staked of Fortuna Romania

ting-edge solutions to the industry’s lead-

and via online/mobile. The Group offers

in 2018) and Hattrick’s operation in Croa-

ing operators. The Playtech platform will

retail betting through outlets operat-

tia and Romania (Casa Pariurilor) repre-

provide Fortuna with the necessary tools

ing under its own brand name, and at

senting 57.9% of total Amounts Staked

to accelerate the Company’s strategy im-

counters and betting points-of-sale in-

of PSK in 2018.

plementation such as when it comes to

stalled at other retail outlets (such as

a Fortuna-customised and scalable multi-

sports bars, restaurants and pubs) as

During the last two years Fortuna added

channel solution with respect to seamless

well as at outlets operated by third par-

new games from its existing and new

wallet technology, gaming and CRM.

ties under the Group’s “Partner” pro-

providers. The goal has been to offer

gramme. The availability of distribution

a portfolio of both international and lo-

During 2018, main odds provider Bwin

channels varies between the countries

cally popular games. That’s why games

was replaced by one of the best suppli-

in which the Group operates, primarily

from NetEnt, one of the most popular

ers in the industry Betgenius. Betgenius

reflecting the legal framework regulat-

gaming system suppliers worldwide,

has been offering LIVE sports betting

ing betting services in each given juris-

were launched at Fortuna Romania and

data, including odds, fixtures, results,

diction.

later in the Czech Republic. In addition

scoreboards and event calendar for

Fortuna launched local popular games

14 LIVE sports that have been integrated

The following table summarises the

from suppliers such as EGT, Synot,

to date. The most popular sports pro-

types of distribution channels used by

Apollo and Live Dealer Casino supplied

vided by Betgenius are football, tennis

the Group in the markets on which it

by Evolution and Playtech.

and basketball.

operates:

Czech Republic

Slovakia

Poland

Romania

Croatia

Betting outlets

Available

Available

Available

Available

Available

“Partner” betting outlets

Available

Available

Available

Available

n/a

Online&Mobile

Available

Available

Available

Available

Available

n/a

n/a

n/a

Available

Available

SSBT

Source: the Company
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The management believes that the dis-

and prefer watching sports events in

ence and expect immediate access

tribution channels used by the Group

a social setting. The users of online

to betting products regardless of the

complement each other while serving

services are generally younger and

time of day.

different groups of customers. Betting

better educated, and the users of so-

outlets and especially “Partner” bet-

cial networking sites and the various

The table below presents information on

ting outlets operated in bars appeal

functionalities of smart phones and

the Group’s retail network for the year

to customers who like to discuss bets

mobile phones value their independ-

ending 31 December 2018:

Czech Republic

Slovakia

Poland

Fortuna
Romania

Hattrick

Total

Betting outlets

174

182

373

485

945

2,159

“Partner” betting outlets

396

173

212

309

0

1,090

Slots (own)

0

0

0

225

1,261

1,486

SSBT

0

0

0

0

3,547

3,547

570

355

585

1,019

5,753

8,282

Total number in 2018

3.4 Marketing, Sponsorship and CSR
The strength and awareness of the

ball leagues, the Second League (Fortuna

Federation. There are also five other con-

“Fortuna” brand remains the key asset

národní liga), the Cup and the National

tracts with ExtraKlasa and First League

across all territories and provides a sub-

Team. As a result of this sponsorship,

football teams – GKS Katowice, Miedź

stantial competitive edge for attracting

Fortuna was able to organise a number

Legnica, Raków Częstochowa, Wigry

and maintaining customers. The Group

of events during the 2018 FIFA World

Suwałki and Podbeskidzie Bielsko-Biała.

will keep to a dual-brand strategy in Ro-

Cup qualifiers. Fortuna participates in

In addition, Fortuna is a sponsor of the

mania (Fortuna / Casa Pariurilor) and

the re-branding of football stadiums and

Ago eSport team and Playarena (biggest

in Croatia it will support the brand PSK

obtains visibility including via TV broad-

semi-professional football club in Poland).

which is well-known and highly trusted

casts and polls.
Romania

by local customers.
S l ov a k i a

FEG has become the main partner of the

The focus of Fortuna’s sponsorship ac-

Fortuna has been a long-term titular

Romanian Football Federation, confirm-

tivities is football, the sport being the

partner for Slovak football, including its

ing its commitment to Romanian sports

favourite discipline in terms of sports

titular sponsorships of the Slovak foot-

performances.

betting. Football clubs and competitions

ball league (Fortuna Liga) and the Slovak

therefore offer natural partnership op-

National Football Team (U21 included).

The National Football Team is the focus

portunities for Fortuna Entertainment

In addition, Fortuna sponsors the Slo-

of Fortuna’s flagship sponsoring activ-

Group.

vak tennis association, local American

ity in Romania. Casa Pariurilor is a titu-

football team Bratislava Monarchs and

lar partner for Football League 2 (now

Y-Games (Slovak e-sport tournaments).

named League 2 Casa Pariurilor) and the

C z ec h R epu b l i c
Fortuna has been in a long-term strate-

sponsor of the Romanian Football Cup.

gic partnership with the Czech Football

P o l a nd

Association including a general partner-

The main sponsoring activity in Poland is

C ro a t i a

ship with the First Football League. This

focused on Legia Warsaw football club,

There were no flagship sponsorships in

sponsorship also covers amateur foot-

Fortuna First League and the Sky Jumping

Croatia in 2018.

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

3.5 Corporate social responsibility
Management believes that being a re-

its own corporate social responsibil-

backs disabled sportspersons and other

sponsible member of the community can

ity programme. The Group undertakes

disabled people in adapting and return-

play a role in building customer loyalty

charitable activities in countries where

ing to social life after suffering debilitat-

and strengthening a corporate brand.

it operates and also donates to selected

ing injuries.

The Group is therefore committed to

child support programmes. Fortuna also

3.6 Research & Development
The Group relies on the strength of its

The Group owns more than 120 trade-

nies with the right to use certain of the

brands and the names and/or logos of

marks, registered in the countries of

Group’s domain names.

its betting outlets, all of which are regis-

operations as well as international

tered trademarks and are protected by

trademarks. The Group has more than

As in previous years, the Group has not

local legislation applicable in the coun-

100 registered Internet domains. Under

conducted any material research and

tries of operation.

intragroup agreements, Group compa-

development activities in 2018.

nies may provide other Group compa-

3.7 Review of 2018
compared with 2017. The absolute

The consolidated financial results of

Fortuna, the leading Central & Eastern Eu-

Fortuna Entertainment Group for the

ropean regulated fixed-odds sports bet-

Gross Win increase was driven by

full year 2018 confirm growth in all mar-

ting and gaming operator present on the

Amounts Staked growth and by the full

kets where the Company is operating:

markets of Poland, the Czech Republic,

consolidation of acquisitions of 2017

Slovakia, Romania and Croatia recorded

acquisitions. The Gross Win from the

Amounts Staked in 2018 in-

in 2018 a total Amounts Staked figure

Online segment in 2018 reached EUR

creased by 86.1% to EUR 3,734.4 mn

of EUR 3,734.4 mn, 86.1% more than

277.0mn, 53% more than in 2017. The

in 2017. This increase was driven primar-

Gross Win from the Retail segment

ily by the organic growth of both sports

in 2018 was EUR 206.6 mn, a 69% in-

betting and gaming online and retail in all

crease compared to the previous year.

•• Total

•• Total Gross Win in 2018 increased by
58.3% to EUR 483.6 mn

•• Total EBITDA amounted to EUR 82.0 mn,
up 49.2% yoy

•• Net

Group countries and by the full consolidation of 2017 acquisitions (Hattrick Sports

The Total Group Gross Win margin

Group and Fortbet Romanian entities).

in 2018 slightly declined to 13.0% from
15.2% in 2017 as a result of a product

profit in 2018 increased by

208.7% to EUR 47.7 mn

In 2018, total Gross Win reached

and channel mix shift to lower margin

EUR 483.6 mn, an increase of 58.3%

products / channels.
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S e l ec t ed f i n a nc i a l i nd i c a t ors of F or t un a E n t er t a i n m en t G roup N . V .
Financials (EUR thousands)

FY 2018

FY 2017

% change

3,734,411

2,007,143

86.1%

Gross Win

483,624

305,444

58.3%

Revenues

335,191

212,365

57.8%

EBITDA

82,005

54,955

49.2%

Operating Profit

61,865

40,232

53.8%

Net Profit

47,656

15,437

208.7%

Amounts Staked

R evenues , O P E X , E BIT D A

E BIT a nd N e t P rof i t

Income tax equalled EUR 12.6 mn

In 2018, the Company recorded total rev-

In 2018, operating profit (EBIT)

in 2018, 32.6% more than in 2017 due

enues in the amount of EUR 335.2 mn,

amounted to EUR 61.9 mn, 53.8%

to the higher Profit before Tax figure.

57.8% more than in the previous year.

more than in the previous year due
to higher EBITDA.

Total operating costs in 2018 reached

In 2018 the Company recorded Net Profit
for the period of EUR 47.7 mn, 208.7%

EUR 253.2 million, 60.8% more than

Net finance costs reached EUR 1.6 mn

more than in the previous year due to

in 2017. Staff costs went up 55.6% yoy

in 2018 and declined by 89.5% yoy pri-

higher profitability and lower finance

to EUR 101.6 million due to fully consoli-

marily due to the recognition of earn-

costs.

dated new acquisitions.

outs at fair value in 2017, which relates

In 2018, the overall amount of betting

to the acquisitions of Hattrick and for-

C A P E X a nd Inves t m en t s

mer Fortbet Romanian entities.

In 2018, total capital expenditures
amounted to EUR 25.1 mn, 116.4%

taxes paid in respective countries came
to EUR 141.4 mn, up 57.1% yoy driven by

Total long-term and short-term indebt-

more than in 2017. Of this, EUR 10.6 mn

higher betting volumes.

edness as of December 31, 2018 was

was related to investments in retail.

EUR 217.1 mn, 67.4% more compared

Higher capital expenditures resulted

Total consolidated EBITDA recorded

with December 31, 2017 as a result of

from the consolidat3ion of new entities

in 2018 was EUR 82.0 mn, up 49.2% yoy.

higher bank debt. The Net Debt po-

and investments in Group headquarter

sition as of December 31, 2018 was

systems (sports betting & gaming plat-

In 2018, total depreciation rose 36.7% to

EUR 132.7 mn, a 171.4% increase over

form, data warehouse and front-end

EUR 20.1 mn.

the end of 2017.

system).
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3.8 2019 Outlook
In 2019, Fortuna Entertainment Group

building competitive advantages and scal-

Furthermore, the Company will take

as a regulated multi-channel sports bet-

ability for future value creation. The stra-

advantage of new opportunities in the

ting & gaming company will continue to

tegic focus will be given to Operational

online gaming segment in Slovakia fol-

provide its customers with an extensive

Excellence, Technology Foundation and

lowing up on regulatory changes and

range of products and first-class service

People Capability and Capacity build-up.

the approval of the new gambling law

wherever and whenever they want to

in 2018. Fortuna will also closely moni-

have a bet. FEG will further focus on in-

In 2019, the Company expects that or-

vestments in core competencies and in

ganic growth will accross all markets.

tor M&A opportunities in the region.

3.9 Material Subsequent Events
In February 2019, the registered office of

Amsterdam, Netherlands. The change of

Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V. was

the seat was solely administrative, within

changed to Strawinskylaan 1223, 1077XX

the same office building.

3.10 Risk Section
The Company’s business, results of op-

based capital in excess of the cost

erations and financial condition may

of capital.

be adversely affected by the risks described below.

Fortuna’s risk appetite sets the ranges
and limits of the acceptable risk taking

R i sk a ppe t i t e w i t h respec t

for the Group as a whole. The Com-

t o s i gn i f i c a n t r i sks

pany expresses the overall attitude to

a nd uncer t a i n t i es a nd

risk using the following statements and

con t ro l m e a sures t a ken

measures:

Fortuna accepts risk in the normal
course of business and aims to
deliver sustainable returns on risk-

High standards of
risk management
have been
Fortuna’s long
term priority
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Risk area

Competition /
Strategic

Operational

Risk
Irrational marketing
spend and price wars
Product innovation by
competitors

Gross Win margin
volatility

Risk appetite

Medium

Low (on an annual basis, yet
volatility of Gross Win margin
on a short-term basis due to
single-event losses of sports
betting events is inevitable
and arises from the nature of
the Company’s core business)

Operational

Crime, Fraud
& Security Risks

Zero tolerance

Operational

Risk of Disruption in
IT services

Zero tolerance

Financial

Financial

Credit Risk – this
refers to the risk that
the counterparty
will default on
its contractual
obligations resulting
in a financial loss to
Fortuna.

Interest Rate Risk –
Fortuna is exposed
to interest rate risk
on interest bearing
loans and borrowings
and on cash and cash
equivalents.

Low

Risk control measure taken

Fortuna monitors activities of its
competitors on a regular basis. Strategy
reviews are performed at least annually.

Fortuna manages the volatility of its Gross
Win margin by implementing an enhanced
and tight risk management system of sports
betting odds.
Fortuna limits the maximum win per
ticket, performs ticket-duplicity checks and
manually checks and verifies stakes over
certain thresholds (both per selection and
cumulative stake). Fortuna further actively
manages stake / potential loss alerts.
Fortuna continuously strives to strengthen
the integrity and security of its betting
and gaming operations by improving its
compliance functions and anti-money
laundering procedures.
There is a mechanism in place to identify
suspicious matches and to not accept
bets on fixed sporting events. Fortuna also
cooperates with international and local
sport associations in this respect.
Fortuna continuously invests in IT solutions
to be able to prevent any disruption of its IT
services.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is
limited since the vast majority of sales are
carried out on the basis of prepayments
made by customers. With respect to
trade receivables related to other sales,
risk control assesses the credit quality of
customers, taking into account the financial
position, past experience and other factors.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk through
loans granted is limited since any third party
lending is very rare.

Low

Fortuna manages interest rate risk by
having a portfolio of fixed and variable rate
loans. The Group policy is to aim at having
cca 25% of its borrowings at fixed interest
rates.

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

Risk area

Financial

Financial

Risk

Risk appetite

FX Risk – Fortuna
carries out operations
through foreign
subsidiaries. The day
to day transactions of
those subsidiaries are
carried out in local
currencies.

Low

Liquidity Risk

Low

Risk control measure taken
Fortuna seeks to mitigate the effect of its
structural currency exposure arising from
the translation of foreign currency assets
through bank loans in the same currencies.
The FX risk is kept at an acceptable level
since the majority of operations are carried
out within operating companies and
hence any movements of FX rates of their
functional currencies against each other
and the euro does not result in significant
exchange rate risk.
The Group policy on liquidity is to ensure
that there are sufficient medium-term
and long-term committed borrowing
facilities to meet the medium-term funding
requirements.
The Company monitors the level of cash on
a daily basis and draws bank cash when and
if needed.

Laws,
rules and
regulations

Risk of Adverse
Changes in
the Regulatory
Environment and
Taxation

Medium

In order to mitigate this risk, Fortuna is
actively engaged in public discussions on
proposed regulatory and taxation changes
in the respective countries of operations
and participates in the creation of legal acts
and amendments.

R i sks re l a t i ng t o t h e

an impact on the enterprise’s revenues.

socially desirable types of entertain-

b e t t i ng a nd g a m i ng

Accordingly, there can be no assurance

ment. Peaks in anti-betting and anti-

i ndus t ry

that adverse general economic condi-

gaming sentiment may occur from time

tions in those countries in which the

to time, causing significant damage

General Market Conditions

Group operates will not have adverse

to the betting and gaming industry as

Changes and developments in econom-

effects on the Group’s business, finan-

a whole. Adverse changes in the general

ic, regulatory, administrative or other

cial condition, results of operations or

public’s perception of the betting and

policies in the countries in which the

prospects.

gaming industry may lead to a decrease

Group operates, over which the Group

in demand for betting and gaming ser-

has no control, could significantly affect

The number of the Group’s customers

vices or increased regulatory restrictions

the Group’s business, prospects, finan-

is in turn directly related to the repu-

which, in turn, may have a material ad-

cial conditions and results of operations

tation of betting and gaming and the

verse effect on the Group’s business, fi-

in manners that cannot be predicted.

general public’s perception of betting

nancial condition, results of operations

and gaming in the countries in which

or prospects.

The Group’s results are dependent on

the Group operates. Public sentiment

general economic conditions over which

towards the betting and gaming industry

Fortuna Entertainment Group espouses

it has no control. General economic con-

can vary considerably. While the Group

a wholly responsible approach to bet-

ditions such as employment rates and

is attempting to improve the image of

ting. It strictly operates within the con-

disposable income rates in the countries

betting and gaming in its core markets,

fines of the law in the countries where it

in which the Group operates can have

the activities are often labelled as less

is active and, contrary to “virtual” online
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operators, it is also a regular taxpayer

be changed at any given moment. New

Any increase of taxation or imposition of

in all locations. In relation to the local

legislation may be unfavourable to the

new taxes may decrease the amount of

regulations, it turns over a certain per-

operations of the Group or may require

money customers want to spend on the

centage of its earnings to purposes for

necessary adjustments to the opera-

Group’s products. It may also lead to in-

the common good.

tions. Consequently, the Group’s opera-

creased competition from online betting

tions in particular countries may change.

and gaming organisers that do not com-

Management of the Company regularly

An inability to use common solutions or

ply with local regulations and therefore

monitors the development of revenue,

implement a common strategy may lead

are not impacted by changes in taxa-

margin, costs and other key indicators.

to additional expenses. Moreover, since

tion. Consequently, such changes may

In the case of a negative trend over the

the Group operates in a highly regulat-

have an adverse material impact on the

long run, it can conceivably lead to fur-

ed market, the relationships with local

Group’s revenues and financial results.

ther action.

regulators are very important to the
business.

Changes in the Regulatory

Dependence on Licences
The Group conducts activities that are

Environment

The Compliance and Legal department

highly regulated. Licences or permissions

The Group operates in various jurisdic-

of the Group monitors local legislative

are required to organise sports betting

tions in sectors that are subject to state

environments. This concerns gaming

or to provide gaming products. Regula-

and/or municipal regulation and super-

legislation, tax and commercial legisla-

tions in each of the countries in which the

vision. The regulations are complex and

tion and other regulations. Adherence

Group operates stipulate, among other

the legal framework does not always re-

to local legislation is regularly reviewed

things, various conditions concerning ser-

flect technological progress. The Group

and major changes for the coming pe-

vices organisation, marketing, employees,

may try to offer its products in EU coun-

riod are updated. The Group evaluates

and premises in which products are sold.

tries where the legal framework may

impacts of changes (as well as changes

Furthermore, the introduction of new

contravene the free movement of ser-

that are simply possible looking ahead)

products may result in a necessity to ob-

vices and impose limitations making the

and prepares follow-up action where

tain new licences or to widen the scope of

offering of such products impossible or

needed.

current licences and to make respective

economically unreasonable. In addition,

adjustments to conducted operations.

different legal requirements in particular

The Group complies with local regula-

The Group makes all reasonable efforts

jurisdictions sometimes make it difficult

tions and strives to maintain its position

to comply with the terms and conditions

to implement unified offers or to benefit

as a responsible provider of services for

of its licences and to renew licences that

fully from synergy effects.

players.

are due to expire. Any failure to comply

Another aspect of the regulatory issue

Changes in the Taxation of Betting

terms and conditions of its licences, or

is the uncertainty embedded in opera-

Services and Other Products

any unfavourable change of law, may

tions in highly regulated sectors. Some

The Group is subject to taxation and/or

lead to the Group losing one or more of

crucial matters are not directly regu-

levies in each of the countries in which

its licences or to an inability to renew its

lated and depend on the discretion of

it operates. The taxation and levies im-

licence(s). The loss of licences or a failure

regulators or interpretations that could

posed upon the Group have changed

to obtain new licences may have a mate-

over time. In the past certain govern-

rial adverse effect on the business of the

ments considered that the sports bet-

Group, its financial results and prospects.

with any applicable regulations or the

Compliance with
local regulations
is one of the
key pillars of
the Company’s
business

ting and gaming sector was a potential
source of additional taxation or other

Restrictions on Marketing and

income. As the recent global economic

Advertising

crisis has led to a decrease in revenues

Extensive restrictions apply to the mar-

from taxes in the countries in which the

keting of betting and gaming services

Group operates, some or all of those

in some countries in which the Group

countries may consider increasing

operates. In those countries where such

taxes on, or imposing new taxes on,

restrictions apply, the Group is forced

services and products offered by the

to limit its marketing activities accord-

Group.

ing to the relevant applicable laws. Such

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

procedures, an allegation or a finding

restrictions may have the effect of reduc-

lenges caused by crime and fraud in the

ing the Group’s potential to attract new

countries in which it conducts its busi-

of illegal or improper conduct on the

customers, launch new products, im-

ness. The betting and gaming industry is

Group’s part, or on the part of one or

plement a common marketing strategy

subject to various pressures as a result

more of the Group’s employees, or an

or expand its market share in affected

of criminal activity, including organised

actual or alleged system security defect

markets.

crime, fraud, robbery, petty crime and

or failure, could materially adversely

theft. As the Group expands its opera-

affect the Group’s business, financial

R i sks re l a t ed t o

tions, both on the markets in which it

condition, results of operations or pros-

oper a t i ng a c t i v i t i es

currently operates as well as on new mar-

pects.

kets, the Group expects criminal activity
Volatility of Gross Win Margin

to continue to present certain challenges,

Key Personnel

Overall, the Group’s Gross Win margin

especially in newly entered countries.

The Group’s success depends to a sig-

slightly decreases in line with the long-

nificant extent upon the contributions

term trend in the betting industry. The

of a limited number of the Group’s key

trend mainly results from rising competition in the industry and from the further
development of new products. In absolute terms, the Group’s margin steadily
increases over the years due to the rising
volume of Amounts Staked. In the short
term, the volatility of the Gross Win margin due to single-event losses of sports
betting events is inevitable and arises
from the nature of the Group’s core
business. The Group has systems and

The Company
pays a high
attention to
supervision and
management
of risks of the
Group

controls in place which seek to cap the

senior management and personnel, especially bookmakers and local managers. There can be no certainty that the
Group will be able to retain its key personnel. The loss (whether temporary or
permanent) of the services of any director, member of the senior management
team or other key personnel such as
bookmakers, either at the FEG level or
within a local management team, could
have an adverse material effect on the
business, financial condition or results of

maximum losses occurring on a Gross

operations of the Group.

Win basis. The effect of the fluctuations

The continued activities of organised or

could have an adverse material effect on

other crime, fraud, new criminal chal-

Disruptions in IT Network Services

the Group’s cash flows and therefore an

lenges or activity to which the Group

The Group’s operations are highly de-

adverse material effect on its business,

is not accustomed, or claims that the

pendent on the IT network that pro-

financial condition and results of opera-

Group may have been involved in of-

vides links between premises where

tions on a quarterly basis.

ficial corruption, may, in the future,

Fortuna’s products are offered and the

bring negative publicity or disrupt the

headquarters where the operations are

Due to the fact that the Group accepts

Group’s ability to conduct its business

accepted. Furthermore, the IT solutions

bets related to sports events, its busi-

effectively, which could therefore mate-

are of key importance for online services

ness and financial results are partially

rially adversely affect the Group’s busi-

offered by the operating companies. Any

related to schedules in sports events.

ness, financial condition, results of op-

disruption of services in the IT network

Therefore factors such as weather con-

erations or prospects.

may result in an inability to operate busi-

ditions, acts of terrorism, wars and out-

ness in a particular operating company.

breaks of pestilence and infectious dis-

The integrity and security of betting and

Consequently, depending on the dura-

eases, which may result in cancellations

gaming operations are significant factors

tion of such disruptions, the Group’s rev-

or changes in the planned schedules of

in attracting betting and gaming custom-

enues may be adversely impacted by

sports events, may adversely impact the

ers and in dealing with state authorities.

such failures and the perception of the

Group’s business, financial condition and

Notwithstanding the Group’s attempts

Fortuna brand may deteriorate.

results of operations.

to strengthen the integrity and security
of its betting and gaming operations by

F i n a nc i a l r i sks

Crime, Fraud And Security

improving its compliance functions and

The Group’s results of operations are

Like many operators in the betting and

anti-money laundering procedures and

directly affected by the general financial

gaming industry, the Group faces chal-

its corporate governance policies and

risks related to conducting business
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such as credit risk, liquidity risk and

nificantly affect the comparability of the

overview of all of the Group’s ongoing

interest rate risk. The Group has intro-

Group’s results between financial periods

exposures relating to particular events.

duced respective policies to limit these

and/or result in significant changes to the

In addition, by offering a broad range

risks and analyses the sensitivity to par-

carrying value of its assets, liabilities and

of betting products to its customers on

ticular factors of the Group’s financial

shareholders’ equity and its ability to pay

a wide variety of events, the Group is

standing. The Group also tries to limit its

dividends in the future.

able to spread its risk over a large num-

exposure to such risks inter alia through

ber of events. The risks are also diversi-

prepayments made by customers, the

R i sk m a n a ge m en t sys t e m

fied by operating in various countries,

provision of services to clients with an

The success of the Group depends on

because betting preferences differ

appropriate creditworthy history and

its risk management system. The internal

in each of the countries in which the

hedging transactions related to inter-

risk management and control systems

Group operates. The Group has further

est rates and the rational management

provide a reasonable assurance that the

enhanced its risk management system

of liquidity. Any failure with respect to

financial information does not contain

by installing software which calculates

financial risk management or inappro-

any material misstatements and that the

probabilities during live betting. As part

priateness of procedures in place may

risk management and control systems

of the Group’s risk management system,

adversely impact the Group’s business,

functioned properly in the year ending

the Group compiles odds in order to

financial condition and results of opera-

31 December 2018.

assure their competitiveness and se-

tions.

cure the Group’s profit and monitors
the bets proposed by customers to

Currency fluctuations
the Group’s operating entities use the
currency of the country in which they
are domiciled as their functional currency, as the Group considers that this best
reflects the economic substance of the
underlying events and circumstances
relating to that entity. The Group reports its financial results in EUR. The

The Group
invests
significantly
into the risk
management
systems

avoid any material exposures towards
a particular sports event or to eliminate
suspicious bets. In addition, the Group
monitors the output of particular sports
events and the paying out of prizes. Risk
management is based on the performance of experienced employees from
the bookmaking department with the
proper knowledge, experience and expertise. They are supported by tailored

Group also has expenses, assets and

software.

liabilities denominated in currencies
other than in EUR due to its interna-

Effective risk management and profit

tional operations, most particularly, the

protection is of the highest importance

The Group cooperates with a team of

Czech koruna, Croatian kuna, Romanian

to the Group. Management believes that

experienced bookmakers across five

leu and Polish zloty. The Group does

having more than 20 years’ experience

countries (CZ, SK, PL, RO, CRO) who are

not hedge the risk of operating com-

in risk management and bookmaking

responsible for determining fixed odds

panies’ profit translations. Fluctuations

procedures and being supported by

and risk management. Initial odds are

in the exchange rates of these foreign

a team of experienced bookmakers,

compiled from first principles, prob-

currencies could have an impact on the

well-qualified risk management profes-

ability and the mathematical chance of

Group’s results.

sionals and state of the art IT systems

an outcome based on previous results,

gives the Group a strong competitive

current team form and other statistical

advantage.

inputs. The odds also have an embedded

Increases and decreases in the value of
the euro versus other currencies could af-

assumed margin. Initial odds are further

fect the Group’s reported results of oper-

The Group has a multi-layered risk

processed to set additional odds related

ations and the reported value of its assets

management system, divided into four

to a particular game and are adjusted

and liabilities in its statement of its finan-

phases: odds compilation, odds ad-

for any market information, bookmakers’

cial position even if the Group’s results

justing, bet acceptance and payment

knowledge of the sport and local exper-

or the value of those assets and liabilities

management. Management believes

tise. The bookmakers have access to Bet-

has not changed in their original currency.

that the Group’s risk management sys-

radar databases which collect information

These currency translations could sig-

tem gives the Group a comprehensive

on odds from more than 450 bookmaker

M a n a geme n t B o a rd R eport

clients in over 80 countries. Betradar is

S t a t e m en t of t h e

reporting does not contain any material

a brand of Sportradar, the world’s leading

M a n a ge m en t Bo a rd on

inaccuracies;

supplier of sports-related live data, odds

R i sk M a n a ge m en t

solutions and fraud detection services to

The Management Board states in the

iii. based on the current state of affairs,

bookmakers, media companies, sports

management report, with clear substan-

it is justified to state that the financial

federations and government agencies.

tiation, that:

reporting is prepared on a going concern

The databases help to monitor, assess

basis; and

and compare odds proposed by the

i. the report provides sufficient insights

Group’s competitors. The management

into any failings in the effectiveness of

iv. the report states those material risks

believes that the odds compilation pro-

the internal risk management and con-

and uncertainties that are relevant to the

cess used by the Group is more accurate

trol systems;

expectation of the Company’s continu-

than fully-automated odds generation,

ity for the period of 12 months after the

thus enabling the Group to provide com-

ii. the aforementioned systems provide

petitive odds to its customers.

reasonable assurance that the financial

preparation of the report.
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Corporate
Information

C orpor a te I n form a tio n

4.1 Information on Shares and Shareholding
Shareholders as of 31 December 2018:
FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED, a subsidiary of Penta Investments Limited

100%
Source: Company Data

On 15 February 2018, the Extraordinary

issued by FEG was 8 June 2018. The

M i nor i t y S h a re h o l ders

General Meeting of shareholders of For-

shares issued by FEG were delisted

S q uee z e - O u t

tuna Entertainment Group N. V. held in

from the unregulated Free Market of

On 20 June 2018, Fortbet Holdings

Amsterdam adopted a proposal to delist

the Prague Stock Exchange on the

Limited initiated squeeze-out proceed-

the Company from trading on both the

same day.

ings before the Enterprise Chamber
(Ondernemingskamer) of the Amster-

Warsaw Stock Exchange and the Prague
Stock Exchange.

Fortuna delisted
its shares from
stock exchanges
in spring 2018

V o l un t a ry Buy - ou t b y t h e

dam Court of Appeals (Gerechtshof Am-

M a j or i t y S h a re h o l der

sterdam) under the applicable Dutch

in 2018

law provisions. On 30 October 2018, the

On 2 January 2018, Fortuna Entertain-

Enterprise Chamber granted Fortbet’s

ment Group N. V. announced that it had

request and set the price at EUR 7.83

reached an agreement with Fortbet in

per share plus Dutch statutory interest

connection with a public tender offer by

as per 9 March 2018 (which amounted

Fortbet for all issued and outstanding

to EUR 7.94 per share as at 19 Novem-

shares in the capital of Fortuna at an of-

ber 2018).

fer price of CZK 182.50 or PLN 29.80 in
cash for each share.
Effective 2 May 2018, Fortuna’s shares

On 19 November 2018, Fortbet paid
an amount corresponding to the num-

were excluded from the trading on the

The offer price represented a full and

ber of Fortuna shares it did not already

Prime Market of the Prague Stock Ex-

fair valuation of the Company and a pre-

own into the consignment account of

change. The trading of shares contin-

mium of 54.2% in CZK and 53.5% in PLN

the Dutch Ministry of Finance. As such,

ued on the Free Market of the Prague

over the 12-month volume weighted

Fortbet became the sole shareholder of

Stock Exchange until delisting from the

average price, and was also above the

Fortuna by operation of Dutch law and

stock exchange in Warsaw. The man-

spot price which already incorporated

the former minority shareholders ob-

agement board of the Warsaw Stock

the substantial takeover premium po-

tained a right to receive their share of

Exchange adopted a resolution on the

tential based on Fortbet’s previous offer

the proceeds from the Dutch consign-

delisting effective as of 10 June 2018.

and Fortbet’s subsequent public state-

ment office (i.e. EUR 7.94 per previously

The last day of the trading of shares

ments.

held share).
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100%

ALICELA a. s.
(CZ)

100%

FORTUNA CZ

FORTUNA RENT
s. r. o. (CZ)

100%

FORTUNA GAME
a. s. (CZ)

Consolidation unit

FORTUNA PL

FORTUNA
online zakłady
bukmacherskie
Sp. z o. o. (PL)

33.33% 33.33% 33.33%

100%

RIVERHILL a. s.
(CZ)

Core Business

Bet Active
Concept S.R.L.
(RO)

100%

Fortuna
Bet Shops
Holding s.r.l.
(RO)

100%

0%
(1 share)

99.02%

ALTER POWER
PLANT S.R.L. (RO)

100%

Bet Zone S.R.L.
(RO)

0.98%

100%

Other minor entities

Public Slots
S.R.L. (RO)

99.97%

Fortuna Bet
Holding (RO)

0.03%

FORTUNA SK

FORTUNA SK,
a. s. (SK)

100%

Fortuna Entertainment
Group N. V. (NL)

99.02%

ROMANIA

Slot Arena S.R.L.
(RO)

0.98%

100%
99.99%

OK Albastru
Rosu s.r.l. (RO)

0.01%

100%

HATTRICK

Hattrick Bet s.r.l.
(RO)

Source: Company Data

PRO HB SLOTS
s.r.l. (RO)

0%
(1 share)

100%
Hattrick – PSK
d.o.o. (CRO)
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4.2 Organisational Structure

The diagram below presents the structure of the Group as of 31 December 2018:

CORPORaTE InFORMaTIOn

4.3 Management Board
as of 31 December 2018, feG had

function of the Supervisory Board was

below sets out the names and positions

a management Board composed of two

terminated in 2018 following the delist-

of the current members of the Manage-

members. as of 31 December 2018, the

ing of the Company’s shares from the

ment Board:

Company had no Supervisory Board. the

regulated stock exchanges The table

naME

Position

Per Widerström

Chairman of the Management Board

Marek Rendek

Member of the Management Board

The General Meeting of shareholders

mr. Boudewijn wentink resigned from

of business at Strawinskylaan 809 wtC

held in June 2018 approved changes

the position of Management Board

t.a/L 8, 1077XX amsterdam, nether-

to the Management Board of Fortuna

member. mr. marek rendek joined the

lands. in January 2019 it was changed

ms. Janka Galáčová and mr. richard

management Board as a new member.

to Strawinskylaan 1223, 1077XX amster-

van Bruchem stepped down from the

dam, netherlands

management Board. ms. Galáčová

at the end of the year the business ad-

stepped down because her maximum

dress of the members of the Manage-

office term of eight years had expired.

ment Board was FEG's principal place

amsterdam, 29 march 2019

Per Widerström

Marek Rendek

Chairman of the Management Board

Member of the Management Board

of fortuna entertainment Group n. v.

of fortuna entertainment Group n. v.
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Consolidated statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December 2018
€ 000

Notes

2018

2017

Goodwill

5.14

150,618

150,912

Intangible assets

5.15

58,162

60,075

Property, plant and equipment

5.16

24,930

18,375

Deferred tax assets

5.12

6,763

3,831

Related party loans rendered

5.19

105,084

—

Restricted cash

5.20

734

3,101

Other non-current assets

5.18

4,047

2,748

350,338

239,042

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Current receivables

5.17

13,987

8,412

Income tax receivable

5.12

205

111

Loan notes

5.21

20,411

—

Derivatives

5.24

3

—

Other current assets

5.18

10,755

8,247

Bank term deposit

5.22

25,001

—

Cash and cash equivalents

5.23

84,378

80,716

154,740

97,486

—

—

505,078

336,528

Total current assets
Assets held for sale
TOTAL ASSETS

5.11
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€ 000

Notes

2018

2017

Share capital

5.25

520

520

Share premium

5.25

8,262

8,262

Statutory reserve

5.25

161

116

Foreign currency translation reserve

5.25

(705)

108

Hedge reserve

5.25

(33)

(60)

Retained earnings

5.25

115,620

68,009

Reserves of a disposal group held for sale

5.11

—

—

123,825

76,955

—

—

123,825

76,955

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest
Total Equity

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability

5.12

5,825

6,983

Provisions

5.28

25,991

10,535

Long-term bank loans

5.29

184,806

113,615

Financial leasing – long-term portion

5.34

1,532

335

Other non-current liabilities

5.30

21,971

50,231

240,125

181,699

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

5.31

61,837

47,405

Income tax payable

5.12

8,009

6,817

Provisions

5.28

8,830

5,860

Current portion of long-term bank loans

5.29

32,263

16,048

Financial leasing – short-term portion

5.34

369

20

Derivatives

5.24

45

66

Other current financial liabilities

5.32

29,775

1,658

141,128

77,874

—

—

505,078

336,528

Total current liabilities
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

5.11
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018
€ 000

Notes

2018

2017

5.6

3,734,411

2,001,479

335,191

210,495

(207)

(55)

5.7

(101,590)

(64,681)

5.15, 5.16

(20,129)

(11,797)

5.15

(11)

(2,921)

Other operating income

5.8

527

1,115

Other operating expenses

5.9

(151,916)

(91,717)

61,865

40,439

Continuing operations
Amounts Staked1
Revenue
License fees
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Operating profit
Finance income

5.10

5,917

3,066

Finance cost

5.10

(7,568)

(18,285)

60,214

25,220

(12,558)

(9,538)

47,656

15,682

—

(171)

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations

—

(74)

Net profit / (loss) for the period from discontinued operations total

—

(245)

47,656

15,437

47,656

15,682

—

(240)

Continuing operations

—

—

Discontinued operations

—

(5)

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

5.12

Profit for the year from continuing operations

Discontinued operations
Profit / (loss) after tax for the year from discontinued operations

Profit for the year

5.11

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Non-controlling interest

1

Amounts Staked is a non-IFRS measure. See the Section Glossary for a more detailed explanation.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December
€ 000

2018

2017

47,656

15,437

Net movement on cash flow hedges

33

(66)

Income tax effect

(6)

6

27

(60)

(813)

2,297

—

—

Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods

(786)

2,237

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(786)

2,237

46,870

17,674

46,870

17,679

—

(5)

Profit for the year

Notes

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified
to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Income tax effect

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest
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Consolidated statement of cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2018
€ 000

Notes

2018

2017

60,214

25,220

—

(245)

60,214

24,975

20,139

14,723

—

74

18,506

8,336

(15)

(5)

2,934

2,345

Revaluation of earn-out liability carried at fair value through P&L

(1,947)

8,657

Other non-cash items

(1,256)

1,594

Operating cash flow before working capital changes

98,575

60,699

(289)

(1,518)

(Increase) / Decrease in receivables

(6,813)

7,411

(Decrease) / Increase in payables and other liabilities

16,618

6,011

(15,547)

(4,678)

92,544

67,925

5.5

—

(91,733)

5.11

—

3,299

221

245

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax from continuing operations
Profit / (loss) before tax from discontinued operations
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

5.15

Loss on disposal of subsidiary
Changes in provisions
(Gain) / Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

5.8

Interest expenses and income

(Increase) / Decrease in other current assets

Corporate income tax paid
Net cash flows provided by / (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash disposed
Interest received
Loan provided to the acquiree, prior to the acquisition

5.5

—

(12,586)

Loand acquired from the seller

5.5

—

(2,923)

—

(59)

(23,233)

(11,547)

69

129

5.19

(105,000)

—

5.21, 5.22

(45,000)

—

(172,943)

(115,175)

Earn-out payment for acquisition
Purchase of property, plant and, equipment and intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Rendering of related party loans
Purchase of short-term financial Instruments
Net cash flows provided by / (used in) investing activities
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€ 000

Notes

2018

2017

Net proceeds from long-term borrowings

5.29

104,340

134,808

Repayments of long-term borrowings

5.29

(16,241)

(38,548)

(258)

(97)

(2,907)

(2,144)

(45)

(6)

84,889

94,013

Net effect of currency translation in cash

(828)

1,960

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

3,662

48,723

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

80,716

31,993

Cash flows from financing activities:

Finance lease payments
Interest paid
Interest paid on finance lease liability
Net cash flows provided by / (used in) financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year from continuing
operations

5.23

84,378

80,716

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year from
discontinued operations

5.23

—

—

84,378

80,716

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (total)

37

520

—

—

—

—

—

520

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Disposal of non-controlling interest

Transfer of statutory reserves

31 December 2018

€ 000

1 January 2018

Notes

Share
capital

8,262

—

—

—

—

—

8,262

€ 000

161

45

—

—

—

—

116

€ 000

Share
Statutory
premium reserves

115,620

(45)

—

47,656

—

47,656

68,009

€ 000

Retained
earnings

(33)

—

—

(33)

27

—

(60)

€ 000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

€ 000

(705)

—

—

(705)

(813)

—

108

€ 000

Reserve of
Foreign
Hedge
disposal
currency
reserve group held translation
for sale
reserve

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent

Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

—
—

123,825

—

—

—

—

—

€ 000

Noncontrolling
interest

—

—

123,825

(786)

47,656

76,955

€ 000

Total

123,825

—

—

123,825

(786)

47,656

76,955

€ 000

Total
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520

—

—

—

—

—

520

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Disposal of non-controlling interest

Transfer of statutory reserves

31 December 2017

€ 000

1 January 2017

Notes

Share
capital

8,262

—

—

—

—

—

8,262

€ 000

116

50

—

—

—

—

66

€ 000

Share
Statutory
premium reserves

68,009

(50)

—

15,442

—

15,442

52,617

€ 000

Retained
earnings

(60)

—

—

(60)

(60)

—

—

€ 000

—

—

—

—

—

125

(125)

€ 000

108

—

—

2,172

2,297

(125)

(2,064)

€ 000

Reserve of
Foreign
Hedge
disposal
currency
reserve group held translation
for sale
reserve

Attributable to the equity holders of the parent

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the Year Ended 31 December 2017

76,955

—

—

17,679

2,237

15,442

59,276

€ 000

Total

—

—

(194)

(5)

—

(5)

199

€ 000

Noncontrolling
interest

76,955

—

(194)

17,674

2,237

15,437

59,475

€ 000

Total
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2018

5.1 Corporate Information
The consolidated financial statements

5.1.1 Description of business

for the year ended 31 December 2018

As of 31 December 2018, FEG had a Management Board which comprised of two

of Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.

Fortuna Entertainment Group (“Fortuna

members. As of 31 December 2018, the

(hereinafter “FEGNV” or “the Parent

Group” or “the Group”) operates in the

Company had no Supervisory Board. The

Company”) comprise of the consolidat-

betting industry under local licences in

function of the Supervisory Board was ter-

ed statements of the financial positions

the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Poland

minated in 2018 following the delisting of

as of 31 December 2018 and 31 De-

and, since 2017, also in Croatia and Ro-

the Company’s shares from the regulated

cember 2017, respectively, the consoli-

mania. Sports betting is the key product

stock exchanges. The table below sets out

dated statements of profit or loss, the

of FEGNV with the most popular betting

the names and positions of the current

consolidated statements of other com-

events being football, ice hockey, tennis

members of the Management Board:

prehensive income, the consolidated

and basketball. The odds are distributed

statements of changes in equity and

to customers via retail chains, online

the consolidated statements of cash

websites and mobile applications in the

flows for the years ended 31 Decem-

Czech Republic, Slovakia, Poland, Croatia

ber 2018 and 31 December 2017, re-

and Romania. Since February 2017, an

spectively, and a summary of significant

online casino has been operated in the

accounting policies and other explana-

Czech Republic. Besides sports betting,

tory notes.

the acquisition of Hattrick Group con-

The General Meeting held on 11 June 2018

tributed another casino, operated in

appointed a new member of the Man-

The Parent Company has its regis-

Croatia, and software licensing and the

agement Board, Mr. Marek Rendek. As

tered office at Strawinskylaan 809,

acquisition of Romanian companies (Bet

Ms. J. Galacova’s eight-year term had ex-

Amsterdam, Netherlands, Chamber

Active Concept s.r.l., Bet Zone s.r.l., Slot

pired, she stepped down from the Man-

of Commerce number 34364038. An

Arena s.r.l. and Public Slots s.r.l.) contrib-

agement Board. Mr. B. Wentink tendered

amount of 100% of the shares of the

uted slots and another online casino.

his resignation as a Management Board

Company is held by Fortbet Holdings

Management Board
Chairman:

Per Widerström

Member:

Marek Rendek

member. His resignation was accepted

Limited (formerly AIFELMONA HOLD-

At the end of 2017, the management of

INGS LIMITED), having its registered

Fortuna Group decided to sell the lottery

by the General Meeting.

office at Agias Fylaxeos & Polygnostou

segment, which was represented by the

No further changes in the composition

212, C&I Center, 2nd floor, 3082 Limas-

company FORTUNA sázky a. s. The trans-

of the Management Board occurred

sol, Cyprus.

action was completed on 23 May 2017.

in 2018.

5.2 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and

The consolidated financial statements

have been prepared in accordance with

the International Financial Reporting In-

are presented in euros and all values are

International Financial Reporting Stand-

terpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

rounded to the nearest thousand (€ 000),

ards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European

except when indicated otherwise.

Union. IFRS as adopted by the European

The consolidated financial statements

Union comprises of standards and in-

have been prepared on a historical cost

These financial statements do not rep-

terpretations issued by the International

basis unless disclosed otherwise.

resent statutory financial statements,
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and are not prepared for the purposes

Profit or loss and each component of other

In May 2018, the merger of Hattrick

of submitting it to the regulatory bodies

comprehensive income (OCI) are attribut-

Sports Group Ltd. with FORTUNA Virtu-

as the Company is exempt from pre-

ed to the equity holders of the parent of

al d.o.o. (as a successor) was completed.

senting statutory consolidated finan-

the Group and to the non-controlling in-

cial statements since its parent Fortbet

terests, even if this results in the non-con-

Holdings Ltd, which sits in Cyprus pre-

trolling interests having a deficit balance.

FORTUNA Virtual d.o.o and Hattrick

sents consolidated FS in accordance to

When necessary, adjustments are made to

PSK d.o.o. (as a successor) was com-

IFRS (EU).

the financial statements of subsidiaries to

pleted.

In November 2018, the merger of

bring their accounting policies into line with

5.2.1 Basis of consolidation

the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-

Fortuna Virtual d.o.o., Fortuna Bet

group assets and liabilities, equity, income,

Shops Holding s.r.l. and Fortuna Bet

expenses and cash flows relating to trans-

Holding s.r.l. were established in 2017

The consolidated financial statements

actions between members of the Group

as holding companies with the purpose

comprise of the financial statements

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

of the acquisition of Hattrick Group and

of the Company and its subsidiaries

Romanian betting and gaming compa-

(together “Group”) as of 31 Decem-

A change in the ownership interest of

nies (Bet Zone s.r.l., Bet Active s.r.l., Slot

ber 2018. Control is achieved when the

a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

Arena s.r.l. and Public Slots s.r.l.).

Group is exposed, or has rights, to vari-

accounted for as an equity transaction.
On 19 May 2017, the acquisition of Hat-

able returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect

As of the date of these consolidated finan-

trick Group was completed. Hattrick

those returns through its power over the

cial statements, FEGNV is the legal parent

Group consists of the parent company

investee. Specifically, the Group controls

of legal entities operating in the betting and

Hattrick Sports Group Ltd. operating

an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

lottery industry which are ultimately owned

in Ireland and subsidiaries Hattrick –

by Penta Investments Limited. The consoli-

PSK d.o.o. operating in Croatia and OK

•• Power over the investee (i.e. existing

dated financial statements were prepared

Albastru Rosu s.r.l. and Hattrick Bet s.r.l.

rights that give it the current ability

by FEGNV, as the reporting entity, as of

operating in Romania. For more detailed

to direct the relevant activities of the

31 December 2018 and include the fol-

information see note 5.5.

investee)

lowing entities (together “Fortuna Group”):

•• Exposure,

or rights, to variable re-

turns from its involvement with the
investee, and

•• The ability to use its power over the
investee to affect its returns
The Group re-assesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements
of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary
begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the statement of comprehensive income from

•• Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.
•• Riverhill a. s.
•• Alicela a. s.
•• Fortuna Game a. s.
•• Fortuna Rent s. r. o.
•• Fortuna SK, a. s.
•• FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.

•• Hattrick – PSK d.o.o.
•• Hattrick Bet s.r.l.
•• OK Albastru Rosu s.r.l.
•• PRO HB Slots s.r.l.
•• Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.
•• Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.
•• Bet Zone s.r.l.
•• Bet Active Concept s.r.l.
•• Slot Arena s.r.l.
•• Public Slots s.r.l.
•• Alter Power Plant s.r.l.

FORTUNA sázky a. s. (representing the
lottery segment) is reported according
to IFRS 5 – Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations due
to the decision of the management to
sell the lottery segment. The transaction
was completed on 23 May 2017 and the
company was sold beyond the Group
(see note 5.11 Discontinued operations).
On 31 August 2017 the acquisition of
Bet Active Concept s.r.l., Bet Zone, s.r.l.
Public Slots s.r.l. and Slot Arena s.r.l. in
Romania was closed.
In October 2017 a new company, PRO
HB Slots s.r.l. with the purpose of running a slot business, was established.
The company was incorporated into
Hattrick Group, in Romania.

the date the Group gains control until
the date the Group ceases to control

All the entities are 100%-owned by FEG-

On 30 November 2017 the report of the

the subsidiary.

NV, either directly or indirectly.

liquidator of FortunaWin Ltd. (Malta) was

41
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issued. The company has been subject

On 28 December 2017 the merger

ES Sp. z o.o. SKA with FORTUNA online

to liquidation since 2015 when it ceased

of Polish companies FORTUNA SER-

zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o. was

its business activities.

VICES Sp. z o.o. and FORTUNA SERVIC-

completed.

5.3 Summary of significant accounting policies
The accounting policies used in

date. Subsequent changes to the fair

in a business combination is, from the

preparing the consolidated finan-

value of the contingent consideration

acquisition date, allocated to each of the

cial statements for the years ended

which is deemed to be an asset or li-

Group’s cash-generating units which are

31 December 2018 and 31 Decem-

ability will be recognised in accordance

expected to benefit from the combina-

ber 2017, respectively, are set out below.

with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as

tion, irrespective of whether other assets

a change to other comprehensive in-

or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned

come. If the contingent consideration

to those units.

5.3.1 Business combinations
and goodwill

is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is ac-

Where goodwill has been allocated to

counted for within equity. In instances

a cash-generating unit and part of the

Business combinations are accounted

where the contingent consideration

operation within that unit is disposed of,

for using the acquisition method. The

does not fall within the scope of IAS 39,

the goodwill associated with the opera-

cost of an acquisition is measured as

it is measured in accordance with the

tion disposed of is included in the carry-

the aggregate of the consideration

appropriate IFRS.

ing amount of the operation when deter-

transferred, measured at acquisition

mining the gain or loss on the disposal

date fair value and the amount of any

Goodwill is initially measured at cost,

of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in

non-controlling interest in the acquiree.

being the excess of the aggregate of

these circumstances is measured based

For each business combination, the ac-

the consideration transferred and the

on the relative values of the operation

quirer measures the non-controlling in-

amount recognised for non-controlling

disposed of and the portion of the cash-

terest in the acquiree either at fair value

interests, and any previous interest

generating unit retained.

or at the proportionate share of the

held, over the net identifiable assets

acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acqui-

acquired and liabilities assumed. If the

sition costs incurred are expensed and

fair value of the net assets acquired is

included in administrative expenses.

in excess of the aggregate considera-

5.3.2 Current versus noncurrent classification

tion transferred, the Group re-assesses
When the Group acquires a business, it

whether it has correctly identified all of

The Group presents assets and liabilities

recognises the separately identifiable ac-

the assets acquired and all of the li-

in the statement of the financial position

quired assets and liabilities at fair value

abilities assumed and reviews the pro-

based on current/non-current classifi-

and it assesses the financial assets and

cedures used to measure the amounts

cation. An asset is classified as current

liabilities assumed for appropriate clas-

to be recognised at the acquisition date.

when it is:

sification and designation in accordance

If the re-assessment still results in an

with the contractual terms, economic cir-

excess of the fair value of net assets

•• Expected to be realised or intended

cumstances and pertinent conditions as

acquired over the aggregate considera-

to be sold or consumed in a normal

at the acquisition date. This includes the

tion transferred, then the gain is recog-

operating cycle

separation of embedded derivatives in

nised in profit or loss.

host contracts by the acquiree.
After initial recognition, goodwill is
Any contingent consideration to be

measured at cost less any accumulated

transferred by the acquirer will be rec-

impairment losses. For the purpose of

ognised at fair value at the acquisition

impairment testing, goodwill acquired

•• Held

primarily for the purpose of

trading

•• Expected

to be realised within 12

months after the reporting period, or
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•• Cash or cash equivalent unless re-

The principal or the most advantageous

on a recurring basis, the Group deter-

stricted from being exchanged or

market must be accessible to the Group.

mines whether transfers have occurred

used to settle a liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period

between Levels in the hierarchy by reThe fair value of an asset or a liability is

assessing categorisation (based on the

measured using the assumptions that

lowest level input that is significant to the

All other assets are classified as non-

market participants would use when

fair value measurement as a whole) at

current. A liability is current when:

pricing the asset or liability, assuming

the end of each reporting period.

•• It is expected to be settled in a normal

that market participants act in their economic best interest.

operating cycle

•• It is held primarily for the purpose of
trading

•• It

the Group has determined classes of
A fair value measurement of a non-finan-

assets and liabilities on the basis of the

cial asset takes into account a market

nature, characteristics and risks of the

participant’s ability to generate economic

asset or liability and the level of the fair

benefits by using the asset according to

value hierarchy as explained above.

is due to be settled within 12

its highest and best use or by selling it

months after the reporting period, or

to another market participant that would

•• There is no unconditional right to de-

For the purpose of fair value disclosures,

use the asset according to its highest
and best use.

fer the settlement of the liability for

5.3.4 Revenue recognition
and measurement –
IFRS 15

at least 12 months after the report-

The Group uses valuation techniques

ing period

that are appropriate in the circumstances

R ecogn i t i on a nd

and for which sufficient data are available

m e a sure m en t

The Group classifies all other liabilities

to measure fair value, maximising the use

Revenue represents the amount of con-

as non-current.

of relevant observable inputs and mini-

sideration to which the Group expects

mising the use of unobservable inputs.

to be entitled in exchange for transfer-

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

5.3.3 Fair value
measurement
The Group measures financial instruments, such as derivatives, at fair value

ring the promised services to the cusAll assets and liabilities for which fair val-

tomer, excluding amounts collected on

ue is measured or disclosed in the finan-

behalf of third parties (for example, value

cial statements are categorised within

added taxes); the transaction price. The

the fair value hierarchy, described as

Group includes in the transaction price

follows, based on the lowest level input

an amount of variable consideration

that is significant to the fair value meas-

as a result of rebates/discounts only to

urement as a whole:

the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal in the amount of

at each balance sheet date. Fair value is

•• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) mar-

the price that would be received to sell

ket prices in active markets for identi-

occur when the uncertainty associated

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in

cal assets or liabilities

with the variable consideration is sub-

an orderly transaction between market

cumulative revenue recognized will not

sequently resolved. Estimations for re-

participants at the measurement date.

•• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for

The fair value measurement is based on

which the lowest level input that is sig-

Group’s experience with similar contracts

the presumption that the transaction

nificant to the fair value measurement

and forecasted sales to the customer.

to sell the asset or transfer the liability

is directly or indirectly observable

takes place either:

•• In the principal market for the asset
or liability, or

•• In the absence of a principal market,

•• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for

bates and discounts are based on the

The Group recognises revenue when
the parties have approved the contract

which the lowest level input that is

(in writing, orally or in accordance with

significant to the fair value measure-

other customary business practices

ment is unobservable

) and are committed to perform their
respective obligations, the Group can

in the most advantageous market for

For assets and liabilities that are rec-

identify each party’s rights and the

the asset or liability

ognised in the financial statements

payment terms for the services to be
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transferred, the contract has commer-

contract (that is, the service is distinct

Fortuna Group also provides its clients

cial substance (i.e. the risk, timing or

within the context of the contract).

with acquisition and retention bonuses

amount of the Group’s future cash flows

if they meet certain conditions based on

is expected to change as a result of the

Revenues earned by the Group are rec-

Fortuna regulations. The acquisition and

contract), it is probable that the Group

ognised on the following bases:

retention bonuses are deducted from

will collect the consideration to which it

the revenue from the bets that were en-

will be entitled in exchange for the ser-

Fixed-odds betting

vices that will be transferred to the cus-

Amounts Staked comprises of the gross

tomer and when specific criteria have

takings received from customers in re-

Income from B2B licences

been met for each of the Group’s con-

spect of the betting activities and does

Hattrick Group developed its own bet-

tracts with customers.

not represent Fortuna Group’s revenue.

ting platform. The B2B solution is pro-

The Group bases its estimates on histori-

Revenue is recognised as the net win or

The Group recognises revenue for

cal results, taking into consideration the

loss on an event, net of betting tax. Open

a sales based royalty promised in ex-

type of customer, the type of transaction

betting positions, which are accounted

change for a license of the intellectual

and the specifics of each arrangement.

for as derivative financial instruments,

property (B2B solution) as the latter of

In evaluating whether collectability of

are carried at fair value and gains and

the following events occurs. Subsequent

an amount of consideration is prob-

losses arising on these positions are

sales (usage) by ultimate customers of

able, the Group considers only the cus-

recognised in revenue. Odds betting is

partners using B2B solution occurs and

tomer’s ability and intention to pay that

outside IFRS 15 and is recognised in ac-

the performance obligation has been

amount of consideration when it is due.

cordance to IFRS 9 (as previously recog-

satisfied (rendering the technology so-

nised under IAS 39).

lution). The licensing fee is calculated

titled to receive the bonus.

vided to the partners for a regular fee.

Estimates of revenues, costs or extent of

as a percentage of revenue invoiced on

progress toward completion are revised

Other wagers

if circumstances change. Any resulting

Slots and other games of chance are

increases or decreases in estimates are

identified as separate performance obli-

reflected in the consolidated statement

gations giving the right for the customer

of profit or loss and other comprehen-

to provide tries in the game of chance.

sive income in the period in which the

Performace obligations are fulfilled when

circumstances that give rise to the revi-

the customer tries in a game of chance.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that

sion become known by management.

Revenue is recognised immediately after

it is probable that the economic benefits

the game’s end as the result of the game

will flow to the Group and the revenue

Iden t i f i c a t i on of

is known. Any open betting positions are

can be reliably measured, regardless of

perfor m a nce o b l i g a t i ons

accounted for as derivate accounting

when the payment is being made. Rev-

The Group assesses whether contracts

instruments measured at fair value with

enue is measured at the fair value of the

that involve the provision of a range

gains or losses arising on these positions

consideration received or receivable, tak-

of services contain one or more per-

recognised in the income statement. This

ing into account contractually defined

formance obligations (that is, distinct

is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 9.

terms of payment and excluding taxes

promises to provide a service) and al-

a monthly basis.

5.3.5 Revenue recognition –
2017

or duty.

locates the transaction price to each

Customer loyalty programme and

performance obligation identified on

client bonuses

The following specific recognition crite-

the basis of its stand alone selling price.

Fortuna Group operates a loyalty pro-

ria must also be met before revenue is

A service that is promised to a customer

gramme enabling customers to accumu-

recognised:

is distinct if the customer can benefit

late awarded credits for gaming spends.

from the service, either on its own or

A portion of the gaming spend, equal to the

F I X E D - O D D S B E TTI N G

together with other resources that are

fair value of the awarded credits earned,

REVENUE

readily available to the customer (that is

is treated as deferred revenue. Revenue

Amounts Staked comprises of the gross

the service is capable of being distinct)

from the awarded credits is recognised

takings received from customers in re-

and the Group’s promise to transfer the

when the credits are redeemed. The cred-

spect of the betting activities and does

service to the customer is separately

its expire at the end of the financial year

not represent Fortuna Group’s rev-

identifiable from other promises in the

and are not redeemable afterwards.

enue.
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Revenue is recognised as the net win or

earned, is treated as deferred revenue.

from goodwill if the fair value can be

loss on an event, net of betting tax. Open

Revenue from the awarded credits is rec-

measured reliably on initial recognition.

betting positions, which are accounted

ognised when the credits are redeemed.

The costs relating to internally generated

for as derivative financial instruments,

The credits expire at the end of the fi-

intangible assets, principally software

are carried at fair value and gains and

nancial year and are not redeemable

costs, are capitalised if the criteria for

losses arising on these positions are rec-

afterwards.

recognition as assets are met. Other internally generated intangible assets are

ognised in revenue.
Fortuna Group also provides its clients

not capitalised, and expenditure is re-

L O TT E R Y

with acquisition and retention bonuses

flected in the statement of profit or loss

Scratch cards are not distinguished as

if they meet certain conditions based

in the year in which the expenditure is

derivatives as set out in IAS 39. Revenue

on Fortuna regulations. In accordance

incurred.

(and expenses) are recognised as soon as

with IFRIC 13, acquisition and retention

the scratch cards are sold. Open betting

bonuses are deducted from the revenue

The useful lives of intangible assets are

positions are recorded as a liability given

from the bets that were entitled to re-

assessed as either finite or indefinite.

the fact that the profit margins are fixed.

ceive the bonus.

Open betting positions for numerical

INTEREST INCOME/EXPENSE

assets with finite useful lives are car-

games are accounted for as derivative

For all financial instruments measured

ried at cost less any accumulated am-

financial instruments and are carried at

at amortised cost, interest income or

ortisation and accumulated impairment

fair value and gains and losses arising on

expense is recorded using the effective

losses. Where amortisation is charged

these positions are recognised in revenue.

interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that

on assets with finite lives, this expense

exactly discounts the estimated future

is taken to the statement of profit or loss

G AMI N G R E V E N U E

cash payments or receipts based on the

through the ‘depreciation and amortisa-

Revenue is recognised as the net win or

expected life of the financial instrument

tion’ line item. Useful lives are reviewed

loss on an event, net of gaming tax. Rev-

or a shorter period, where appropriate,

on an annual basis.

enue from the event (a single game) can

to the net carrying amount of the finan-

be recorded once the event is finished.

cial asset or liability. Interest income/

A summary of the policies applied to

No open betting positions are recorded.

expense is included in finance income/

Fortuna Group’s intangible assets is as

costs in the statement of profit or loss.

follows:

Following initial recognition, intangible

SLOTS
Amounts Staked comprises of the drops
received from customers in respect of

5.3.6 Cash dividend

The straight-line amortisation method
is used.

the betting activities. Drops represent
real cash inserted into slot machines

The Group recognises a liability to make

with the purpose of performing a spin –

cash distributions to equity holders of

an individual game.

the parent when the distribution is authorised and the distribution is no longer

Useful life
Software
Betting and
gaming licences

8‑15 years
2,5‑3 years

Revenue is recognised as the net win or

at the discretion of the Company. As per

loss on a spin, net of betting tax. Rev-

the corporate laws in the Netherlands,

Customer list

enue from the spin can be recorded

a distribution is authorised when it is

once the slot machine comes to a rest.

approved by the shareholders. A corre-

Brand name with
definite useful live

No open betting positions are recorded.

sponding amount is recognised directly
in equity.

3‑5 years

15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful

C U S T O M E R L O Y ALT Y

lives (brand names Fortuna) are not am-

P R O G R AMM E A N D C LI E N T

ortised, but are tested for impairment

BONUSES

5.3.7 Intangible assets

Fortuna Group operates a loyalty pro-

annually, either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. The assess-

gramme enabling customers to accumu-

Intangible assets acquired separately are

ment of indefinite life is reviewed annu-

late awarded credits for gaming spends.

measured on initial recognition at cost

ally to determine whether the indefinite

A portion of the gaming spend, equal to

and those acquired as part of a business

life continues to be supportable. If not,

the fair value of the awarded credits

combination are recognised separately

the change in useful life from indefinite
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to finite is made on a prospective basis.

pleted and the asset is available for use. It

or when no future economic benefits are

Annual impairment tests are performed

is amortised over the period of expected

expected from its use or disposal. Any

also for the intangible assets not yet in

future benefit. Amortisation is recorded

gain or loss arising on derecognition of

use.

in the statement of profit or loss in the

the asset (calculated as the difference

depreciation and amortisation line item.

between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset) is in-

The assets’ residual values, useful lives
and methods of depreciation are re-

During the period of development, the

cluded in the statement of profit or loss

viewed at each financial year-end, and

asset is tested for impairment annually.

when the asset is derecognised.

they are adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
Gains or losses arising from the de-

5.3.8 Property, plant and
equipment

recognition of an intangible asset are

The assets’ residual values, useful lives
and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end, and
they are adjusted prospectively, if ap-

measured as the difference between the

Land is stated at cost less any impair-

net disposal proceeds and the carrying

ment in value. Buildings, plant and

amount of the asset and are recognised

equipment and other fixed assets are

in the statement of profit or loss when

stated at cost less accumulated depre-

the asset is derecognised.

ciation and any impairment in value. As-

propriate.

5.3.9 Leases

sets not yet in use are carried at cost

The determination of whether an ar-

DEVELOPMENT COSTS

and are not depreciated. Depreciation

rangement is, or contains, a lease is

Development expenditures on an in-

of an asset begins when it is available

based on the substance of the arrange-

dividual project are recognised as an

for use, i.e. when it is in the location and

ment at the inception date.

intangible asset when the Group can

condition necessary for it to be capable

demonstrate:

of operating in the manner intended by

Leases, which substantially transfer to

management. Depreciation is calculated

Fortuna Group all the risks and benefits

on a straight-line basis over the estimat-

incidental to ownership of the leased

ed useful life of an asset as follows:

item, are capitalised at the inception of

•• The technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that the asset
will be available for use or sale

•• Its intention to complete and its ability
to use or sell the asset

•• How the asset will generate future
economic benefits

•• The availability of resources to com-

the lease at the fair value of the leased
Useful life
Buildings
Plant and
equipment

2-6 years

Other Fixed
Assets

4-6 years

generated

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are charged directly to the state-

The buildings also include leasehold im-

ment of profit or loss. Capitalised leased

provements.

assets are depreciated over the shorter
of the estimated useful life of the asset

penditure during development

•• The ability to use the intangible asset

the minimum lease payments.

15‑20 years

plete the asset

•• The ability to measure reliably the ex-

item or, if lower, at the present value of

Impairment is recognised when the carry-

and the lease term.

ing amount of an item of property, plant,
or equipment exceeds its recoverable

Leases where the lessee does not obtain

amount. The recoverable amount is the

substantially all the benefits and risks of

Following the initial recognition of the

higher value of an asset’s fair value less

ownership of the asset are classified as

development expenditure as an asset,

the costs of disposal and its value in use.

operating leases. Operating lease pay-

the asset is carried at cost less any accu-

ments, other than contingent rentals, are

mulated amortisation and accumulated

An item of property, plant and equip-

recognised as an expense in the state-

impairment losses. Amortisation of the

ment and any significant part initially rec-

ment of profit or loss on a straight-line

asset begins when development is com-

ognised is derecognised upon disposal

basis over the lease term.
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The assets’ residual values, useful lives

net disposal proceeds and the carrying

profit or loss or OCI. For investments in

and methods of depreciation are re-

amount of the asset) is included in the

equity instruments that are not held for

viewed at each financial year-end, and

statement of income when the asset is

trading, this will depend on whether the

they are adjusted prospectively, if ap-

derecognised.

Group has made an irrevocable election

propriate.

at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at FVOCI.

5.3.10 Recoverable amount
of non-current assets

5.3.11 Financial assets
and financial
liabilities – 2018

The carrying values of non-current as-

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

All purchases and sales of financial as-

sets with finite lives are reviewed for

C l a ss i f i c a t i on

sets that require delivery within the time

impairment when events or changes

From 1 January 2018, the Group classi-

frame established by regulation or mar-

in circumstances indicate that the car-

fies its financial assets in the following

ket convention (“regular way” purchases

rying values may not be recoverable. If

measurement categories:

and sales) are recorded at trade date,

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –
R ecogn i t i on a nd
derecogn i t i on

any such indication exists, and where

which is the date when the Group com-

the carrying values exceed the estimat-

•• those to be measured subsequently

ed recoverable amount, the assets or

at fair value (either through OCI or

other purchases and sales are recognized

cash-generating units are written down

through profit or loss), and

when the entity becomes a party to the

to their recoverable amount.
For goodwill, and intangible assets that

•• those to be measured at amortised
cost.

have indefinite useful lives, the recover-

mits to deliver a financial instrument. All

contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the

able amount is estimated at each bal-

The classification and subsequent meas-

financial assets have expired or have

ance sheet date.

urement of debt financial assets de-

been transferred and the Group has

pends on: (i) the Group’s business model

transferred substantially all the risks and

The recoverable amount is the higher of

for managing the related assets portfo-

rewards of ownership.

an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair

lio and (ii) the cash flow characteristics

value less costs of disposal and its value

of the asset. On initial recognition, the

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

in use. In assessing value in use, the es-

Group may irrevocably designate a debt

Me a sure m en t

timated future cash flows are discounted

financial asset that otherwise meets the

At initial recognition, the Group meas-

to their present value using a pre-tax dis-

requirements to be measured at amor-

ures a financial asset at its fair value plus,

count rate that reflects current market

tized cost or at FVOCI to be classified at

in the case of a financial asset not at FVT-

assessments of the time value of money

FVTPL if doing so eliminates or signifi-

PL, transaction costs that are directly at-

and the risks specific to the asset. For an

cantly reduces an accounting mismatch

tributable to the acquisition of the finan-

asset that does not generate largely in-

that would otherwise arise.

cial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in

dependent cash inflows, the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash gen-

For investments in equity instruments that

profit or loss. Fair value at initial recogni-

erating unit to which the asset belongs.

are not held for trading, classification will

tion is best evidenced by the transaction

depend on whether the Group has made

price. A gain or loss on initial recognition

Impairment losses are recognised in the

an irrevocable election at the time of ini-

is only recorded if there is a difference

statement of profit or loss in expense

tial recognition to account for the equity

between fair value and transaction price

categories consistent with the function

investment at FVOCI. This election is made

which can be evidenced by other observ-

of the impaired asset. Assets and any

on an investment by investment basis.

able current market transactions in the

significant part initially recognised are

same instrument or by a valuation tech-

derecognised upon disposal or when no

All other financial assets are classified as

nique whose inputs include only data

future economic benefits are expected

measured at FVTPL.

from observable markets.

arising on derecognition of the asset (cal-

For assets measured at fair value, gains

Financial assets with embedded de-

culated as the difference between the

and losses will either be recorded in

rivatives are considered in their entirety

from use or disposal. Any gain or loss
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when determining whether their cash

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the cri-

the cash flows that the Group expects to

flows are solely payment of principal

teria for amortised cost or FVOCI are

receive, discounted at an approximation

and interest.

measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on

of the original effective interest rate. The

a debt investment that is subsequently

Group measures ECL and recognises

D e b t i ns t ru m en t s

measured at FVTPL is recognised in prof-

credit loss allowance at each reporting

Subsequent measurement of debt in-

it or loss in the period in which it arises.

date. The measurement of ECL reflects:
(i) an unbiased and probability weighted

struments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and

E q u i t y i ns t ru m en t s

amount that is determined by evaluat-

the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

The Group subsequently measures all

ing a range of possible outcomes, (ii)

There are three measurement catego-

equity investments at fair value. Where

time value of money and (iii) all reason-

ries into which the Group classifies its

the Group’s management has elected to

able and supportable information that

debt instruments:

present fair value gains and losses on

is available without undue cost and ef-

equity investments in OCI, there is no

fort at the end of each reporting period

Amortised cost: Assets that are held

subsequent reclassification of fair value

about past events, current conditions

for collection of contractual cash flows

gains and losses to profit or loss follow-

and forecasts of future conditions.

where those cash flows represent solely

ing the derecognition of the investment,

payments of principal and interest are

any related balance within the FVOCI

The carrying amount of the financial as-

measured at amortised cost. Interest

reserve is reclassified to retained earn-

sets is reduced through the use of an

income from these financial assets is in-

ings. The Group’s policy is to designate

allowance account, and the amount of

cluded in ‘other income’. Any gain or loss

equity investments as FVOCI when those

the loss is recognised in the consolidat-

arising on derecognition is recognised

investments are held for strategic pur-

ed statement of profit or loss and other

directly in profit or loss and presented

poses other than solely to generate in-

comprehensive income.

in other gains/(losses) together with for-

vestment returns. Dividends from such

eign exchange gains and losses. Impair-

investments continue to be recognised

Debt instruments measured at amor-

ment losses are presented as separate

in profit or loss as other income when

tized cost are presented in the consoli-

line item in the consolidated statement

the Group’s right to receive payments

dated statement of financial position

of profit or loss and other comprehen-

is established.

net of the allowance for ECL. For loan

sive income. Financial assets measured

commitments and financial guarantee

at amortised cost comprise: cash and

Changes in the fair value of financial

contracts, a separate provision for ECL

cash equivalents, bank deposits with

assets at FVTPL are recognised in the

is recognised as a liability in the consoli-

original maturity over 3 months, trade

consolidated statement of profit or loss

dated statement of financial position.

receivables and financial assets at am-

and other comprehensive income as

ortised cost.

applicable. Impairment losses (and re-

For debt instruments at FVOCI, an al-

versal of impairment losses) on equity

lowance for ECL is recognised in profit

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection

investments measured at FVOCI are not

or loss and it affects fair value gains or

of contractual cash flows and for selling

reported separately from other changes

losses recognised in OCI rather than the

the financial assets, where the assets’

in fair value.

carrying amount of those instruments.

of principal and interest, are measured

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

Expected losses are recognized and

at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying

I m p a i r m en t – cred i t l oss

measured according to one of two ap-

amount are taken through OCI, except

a l l o w a nce for E C L

proaches: general approach or simplified

for the recognition of impairment gains

From 1 January 2018, the Group assess-

approach.

or losses, interest income and foreign

es on a forward looking basis the ECL for

exchange gains and losses which are

debt instruments (including loans) meas-

For trade receivables including trade

recognised in profit or loss. When the

ured at amortized cost and FVOCI and

receivables with a significant financing

financial asset is derecognised, the cu-

with the exposure arising from loan com-

component and contract assets and

mulative gain or loss previously recog-

mitments and financial guarantee con-

lease receivables the Group applies the

nised in OCI is reclassified from equity

tracts. ECLs are based on the difference

simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,

to profit or loss and recognised in other

between the contractual cash flows due

which uses lifetime expected losses to

gains/(losses).

in accordance with the contract and all

be recognised from initial recognition

cash flows represent solely payments
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of the financial assets. Therefore, the

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

for subsequent impairment calculation

Group does not track changes in credit

R ec l a ss i f i c a t i on

purposes, including determining wheth-

risk, but instead recognizes a loss allow-

Financial instruments are reclassified

er a SICR has occurred. The Group also

ance based on lifetime ECLs at each re-

only when the business model for man-

assesses whether the new loan or debt

porting date. The Group has established

aging those assets changes. The reclas-

instrument meets the SPPI criterion. Any

a provision matrix that is based on its

sification has a prospective effect and

difference between the carrying amount

historical credit loss experience, adjust-

takes place from the start of the first

of the original asset derecognised and

ed for forward–looking factors specific

reporting period following the change.

fair value of the new substantially modified asset is recognised in profit or loss,

to the debtors and the economic enviF i n a nc i a l a sse t s – Wr i t e

unless the substance of the difference

off

is attributed to a capital transaction with

For all other financial asset that are

Financial assets are written off, in whole

owners.

subject to impairment under IFRS 9, the

or in part, when the Group exhausted

Group applies general approach three

all practical recovery efforts and has

In a situation where the renegotiation

stage model for impairment. The Group

concluded that there is no reasonable

was driven by financial difficulties of the

applies a three stage model for impair-

expectation of recovery. The write off

counterparty and inability to make the

ment, based on changes in credit qual-

represents a derecognition event. The

originally agreed payments, the Group

ity since initial recognition. A financial in-

Group may write off financial assets

compares the original and revised ex-

strument that is not credit impaired on

that are still subject to enforcement ac-

pected cash flows to assets whether

initial recognition is classified in Stage 1.

tivity when the Group seeks to recover

the risks and rewards of the asset are

amounts that are contractually due,

substantially different as a result of the

Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL

however, there is no reasonable expec-

contractual modification. If the risks and

measured at an amount equal to the por-

tation of recovery.

rewards do not change, the modified

ronment.

tion of lifetime ECL that results from de-

asset is not substantially different from

fault events possible within the next 12

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

the original asset and the modification

months or until contractual maturity, if

Mod i f i c a t i on

does not result in derecognition. The

shorter (“12 month ECL”). If the Group

The Group sometimes renegotiates

Group recalculates the gross carrying

identifies a significant increase in credit

or otherwise modifies the contractual

amount by discounting the modified

risk (“SICR”) since initial recognition, the

terms of the financial assets. The Group

contractual cash flows by the original

asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL

assesses whether the modification of

effective interest rate, and recognises

is measured based on ECL on a lifetime

contractual cash flows is substantial

a modification gain or loss in profit or

basis, that is, up until contractual maturity

considering, among other, the following

loss.

but considering expected prepayments,

factors: any new contractual terms that

if any (“Lifetime ECL”). Refer to note 3.10,

substantially affect the risk profile of the

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s a t

Risk section for a description of how the

asset (eg. profit share or equity based re-

a m or t i sed cos t

Group determines when a SICR has oc-

turn), significant change in interest rate,

These amounts generally arise from

curred. If the Group determines that

change in the currency denomination,

transactions outside the usual operat-

a financial asset is credit impaired, the

new collateral or credit enhancement

ing activities of the Group. These are

asset is transferred to Stage 3 and its

that significantly affects the credit risk

held with the objective to collect their

ECL is measured as a Lifetime ECL. The

associated with the asset or a significant

contractual cash flows and their cash

Group’s definition of credit impaired as-

extension of a loan when the borrower

flows represent solely payments of prin-

sets and definition of default is explained

is not in financial difficulties.

cipal and interest. Accordingly, these are

in note 3.10, Risk section.

measured at amortised cost using the
If the modified terms are substantially

effective interest method, less provision

Additionally the Group has decided to use

different, the rights to cash flows from

for impairment. Financial assets at amor-

the low credit risk assessment exemption

the original asset expire and the Group

tised cost are classified as current assets

for investment grade financial assets. Re-

derecognises the original financial asset

if they are due within one year or less (or

fer to note 3.10, Risk section for a descrip-

and recognises a new asset at its fair val-

in the normal operating cycle of the busi-

tion of how the Group determines low

ue. The date of renegotiation is consid-

ness if longer). If not, they are presented

credit risk financial assets.

ered to be the date of initial recognition

as non current assets.
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F i n a nc i a l l i a b i l i t i es –

For the purposes of subsequent meas-

subsequently measured at amortised

Me a sure m en t c a t egor i es

urement, financial assets are classified in

cost using the effective interest rate (EIR)

Financial liabilities are initially recog-

four categories:

method, less impairment. Amortised

nised at fair value and classified as sub-

cost is calculated by taking into account

sequently measured at amortised cost,

•• Financial assets at fair value through

except for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL:

profit or loss (including cash flow

and fees or costs that are an integral

this classification is applied to deriva-

hedges)

part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is

tives, financial liabilities held for trading
(e.g. short positions in securities), contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination and
other financial liabilities designated as
such at initial recognition and (ii) financial
guarantee contracts and loan commit-

•• Loans and receivables, cash and cash
equivalents

•• Held-to-maturity investments
•• Available-for-sale financial investments

ments.

any discount or premium on acquisition

included in finance income in the statement of profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in finance
costs for loans and in other operating
expenses for receivables.
This category generally applies to trade

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s a t f a i r

and other receivables. For more informa-

O ffse t t i ng f i n a nc i a l

v a l ue t h roug h prof i t or

tion on receivables, refer to note 5.17.

i ns t ru m en t s

loss

Financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets at fair value through

Cash and cash equivalents in the state-

are offset and the net amount reported

profit or loss include financial assets held

ment of the financial position comprise

in the consolidated statement of finan-

for trading and financial assets designat-

of cash at banks and on hand and short-

cial position if, and only if, there is a cur-

ed upon initial recognition at fair value

term deposits with a remaining maturity

rently enforceable legal right to offset

through profit or loss. Financial assets

of three months or less.

the recognised amounts and there is an

are classified as held for trading if they

intention to settle on a net basis, or to

are acquired for the purpose of selling

For the purpose of the consolidated

realise the asset and settle the liability

or repurchasing in the near term. De-

statement of cash flows, cash and cash

simultaneously. This is not generally the

rivatives, including separated embedded

equivalents consist of cash and short-

case with master netting agreements,

derivatives, are also classified as held for

term deposits as defined above.

and the related assets and liabilities are

trading unless they are designated as ef-

presented gross in the consolidated

fective hedging instruments as defined

He l d - t o - m a t ur i t y

statement of financial position.

by IAS 39. The Group has not designated

i nves t m en t s

any financial assets at fair value through

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed

profit or loss. Financial assets at fair val-

or determinable payments and fixed

ue through profit or loss are carried in

maturities and which do not meet the

the statement of the financial position at

definition of loans and receivables are

fair value with net changes in fair value

classified as held to maturity when the

Financial assets are classified, at ini-

presented as finance costs (negative net

Group has the positive intention and

tial recognition, as financial assets at

changes in fair value) or finance income

ability to hold them to maturity. After

fair value through profit or loss, loans

(positive net changes in fair value) in the

initial measurement, held to maturity

and receivables, held-to-maturity in-

statement of profit or loss.

investments are measured at amortised

5.3.12 Financial
assets – 2017

vestments, available-for-sale financial

cost using the EIR, less impairment. The

assets, or as derivatives designated

Lo a ns a nd rece i v a b l es ,

amortised cost is calculated by taking

as hedging instruments in an effective

c a s h a nd c a s h

into account any discount or premium

cash flow hedge, as appropriate. All fi-

e q u i v a l en t s

on acquisition and fees or costs that are

nancial assets are recognised initially

This category is the most relevant to the

an integral part of the EIR. The EIR am-

at fair value plus, in the case of finan-

Group. Loans and receivables are non-

ortisation is included as finance income

cial assets not recorded at fair value

derivative financial assets with fixed or

in the statement of profit or loss. The

through profit or loss, transaction costs

determinable payments that are not

losses arising from impairment are rec-

that are attributable to the acquisition

quoted in an active market. After initial

ognised in the statement of profit or loss

of the financial asset.

measurement, such financial assets are

as finance costs. The Group did not have
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any held-to-maturity investments during

include indications that the debtors or

repurchasing in the near term. This cat-

the years that ended 31 December 2018

a group of debtors is experiencing sig-

egory also includes derivative financial

and 2017, respectively.

nificant financial difficulty, default or

instruments entered into by the Group

delinquency in interest or principal pay-

that are not designated as hedging in-

Av a i l a b l e - for - s a l e ( A F S )

ments, the probability that they will enter

struments in hedge relationships as de-

f i n a nc i a l i nves t m en t s

bankruptcy or other financial reorgani-

fined by IAS 39. Separated embedded

AFS financial investments include eq-

sation and observable data indicating

derivatives are also classified as held for

uity investments and debt securities.

that there is a measurable decrease in

trading unless they are designated as ef-

Equity investments classified as AFS are

the estimated future cash flows, such as

fective hedging instruments.

those that are neither classified as held

changes in arrears or economic condi-

for trading nor designated at fair value

tions that correlate with defaults. The

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trad-

through profit or loss. Debt securities in

carrying amount of the asset is reduced

ing are recognised in the statement of

this category are those that are intend-

through the use of an allowance account

profit or loss.

ed to be held for an indefinite period of

and the loss is recognised in the state-

time and that may be sold in response

ment of profit or loss.

to needs for liquidity or in response to
changes in the market conditions.
After initial measurement, AFS financial

Lo a ns a nd b orro w i ngs
This is the category most relevant to the

5.3.13 Financial liabilities –
2017

investments are subsequently meas-

Group. After initial recognition, interestbearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the EIR method. Gains and losses

ured at fair value with unrealised gains

Financial liabilities are classified, at ini-

are recognised in profit or loss when

or losses recognised in OCI and credited

tial recognition, as financial liabilities at

the liabilities are derecognised as well

in the AFS reserve until the investment is

fair value through profit or loss, or as

as through the EIR amortisation process.

derecognised, at which time the cumula-

loans and borrowings, or as payables,

tive gain or loss is recognised in other

or as derivatives designated as hedging

The amortised cost is calculated by tak-

operating income, or the investment is

instruments in an effective hedge, as ap-

ing into account any discount or pre-

determined to be impaired, when the

propriate.

mium on acquisition and fees or costs

cumulative loss is reclassified from the

that are an integral part of the EIR. The

AFS reserve to the statement of profit

All financial liabilities are recognised

EIR amortisation is included as a finance

or loss in finance costs. Interest earned

initially at fair value and, in the case of

cost in the statement of profit or loss.

whilst holding AFS financial investments

loans and borrowings and payables, net

is reported as interest income using the

of directly attributable transaction costs.

This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans. For more information

EIR method. The Group did not have
any AFS financial investments during

The Group’s financial liabilities include

the years that ended 31 December 2018

trade and other payables, bank loans,

and 2017, respectively.

derivative financial instruments and pay-

refer to note 5.29.

I m p a i r m en t of f i n a nc i a l

current financial liabilities in the consoli-

a sse t s

dated statement of financial position).

5.3.14 Derecognition of
financial assets and
liabilities

date, whether there is objective evidence

F i n a nc i a l l i a b i l i t i es

A financial asset (or, where applicable

that a financial asset or a group of finan-

a t f a i r v a l ue t h roug h

a part of a financial asset or part of

cial assets is impaired. An impairment

prof i t or l oss

a group of similar financial assets) is

exists if one or more events that has

Financial liabilities at fair value through

derecognised when:

occurred since the initial recognition of

profit or loss include financial liabilities

the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’), has

held for trading and financial liabilities

an impact on the estimated future cash

designated upon initial recognition as at

flows of the financial asset or the group

fair value through profit or loss. Financial

of financial assets that can be reliably

liabilities are classified as held for trading

estimated. Evidence of impairment may

if they are incurred for the purpose of

ables from open bets (included in other

The Group assesses, at each reporting

•• The rights to receive cash flows from
the asset have expired

•• Fortuna

Group has transferred its

rights to receive cash flows from the
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asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party

5.3.15 Derivative financial
instruments and
hedge accounting

under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement;

identification of the hedging instrument,
the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how
the entity will assess the effectiveness of

and either (a) Fortuna Group has

Fortuna Group uses derivative finan-

changes in the hedging instrument’s fair

transferred substantially all the risks

cial instruments, such as interest rate

value in offsetting the exposure to chang-

and rewards of the asset, or (b) Fortu-

swaps, to hedge its risks associated with

es in the hedged item’s fair value or cash

na Group has neither transferred nor

interest rates. Such derivative financial

flows attributable to the hedged risk.

retained substantially all the risks and

instruments are initially recognised at fair

Such hedges are expected to be highly

rewards of the asset, but has trans-

value on the date on which a derivative

effective in achieving offsetting changes

ferred control of the asset

contract is entered into and are subse-

in fair value or cash flows and are as-

quently re-measured at fair value. Deriva-

sessed on an ongoing basis to determine

When Fortuna Group has transferred its

tives are carried as financial assets when

that they actually have been highly effec-

rights to receive cash flows from an asset

the fair value is positive and as financial

tive throughout the financial reporting

or has entered into a pass-through ar-

liabilities when the fair value is negative.

periods for which they were designated.

nor retained substantially all the risks

Any gains or losses arising from changes

In relation to cash flow hedges that meet

and rewards of the asset nor trans-

in the fair value of derivatives are taken

the conditions for hedge accounting, the

ferred control of the asset, the asset

directly to profit or loss, except for the

portion of the gain or loss on the hedg-

is recognised to the extent of Fortuna

effective portion of cash flow hedges,

ing instrument that is determined to be

Group’s continuing involvement in the

which is recognised in OCI and later

an effective hedge is recognised directly

asset. In that case, Fortuna Group also

reclassified to profit or loss when the

in other comprehensive income and pre-

recognises an associated liability. The

hedge item affects profit or loss.

sented within equity in the hedge reserve.

rangement, and has neither transferred

transferred asset and the associated

The ineffective portion is recognised in the

liability are measured on a basis that

For the purpose of hedge accounting,

statement of profit or loss. For all other

reflects the rights and obligations that

hedges are classified as:

cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that

Fortuna Group has retained.

•• Fair value hedges when hedging the

are recognised in other comprehensive
income are transferred to the statement

Continuing involvement that takes the

exposure to changes in the fair value

of income in the same period in which the

form of a guarantee over the transferred

of a recognised asset or liability or an

hedged cash flow affects the statement

asset, is measured at the lower of the

unrecognised firm commitment

of profit or loss. Hedge accounting is dis-

original carrying amount of the asset

continued when the hedging instrument

and the maximum amount of the con-

•• Cash flow hedges when hedging the

sideration that Fortuna Group could be

exposure to variability in cash flows

or no longer qualifies for hedge account-

required to repay.

that is either attributable to a particular

ing. At that point in time, any cumulative

risk associated with a recognised asset

gain or loss on the hedging instrument

A financial liability is derecognised when

or liability or a highly probable forecast

presented in the hedge reserve is kept in

the obligation under the liability is dis-

transaction or the foreign currency risk

the hedge reserve until the forecast trans-

charged or cancelled, or expires. When

in an unrecognised firm commitment

action affects profit or loss. If a hedged

an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the

•• Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

terms of an existing liability are sub-

expires or is sold, terminated or exercised,

transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative gain or loss is
transferred from the hedge reserve to the
statement of profit or loss for the period.

stantially modified, such an exchange or

At the inception of a hedge relation-

modification is treated as the derecog-

ship, the Group formally designates and

In relation to net investment hedges, the

nition of the original liability and the

documents the hedge relationship to

post-tax gains or losses on the transla-

recognition of a new liability. The differ-

which the Group wishes to apply hedge

tion at the spot exchange rate of the

ence in the respective carrying amounts

accounting and the risk management

hedged instrument are recognised in

is recognised in the statement of profit

objective and strategy for undertaking

other comprehensive income. The por-

or loss.

the hedge. The documentation includes

tion of the post-tax gains or losses on
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the hedging instrument that is deter-

assets. All other borrowing costs are ex-

at the foreign currency rate prevailing at

mined to be an effective hedge is recog-

pensed in the period they occur. Borrow-

the date of the transaction.

nised through other comprehensive in-

ing costs consist of interest and other

come and presented within equity in the

costs that an entity incurs in connection

Monetary assets and liabilities denomi-

hedge reserve. The ineffective portion

with the borrowing of funds.

nated in foreign currencies are retrans-

is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss. The interest element of the fair
value of the hedged item is recognised

lated at the foreign currency rate of

5.3.17 Provisions

in the statement of profit or loss.

the exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date. All differences are taken to
the statement of profit or loss.

Provisions are recognised when the
For derivative financial instruments that

Group has a present obligation (legal or

Non-monetary items that are measured

do not qualify for hedge accounting, any

constructive) as a result of a past event,

in terms of historical cost in a foreign cur-

gains or losses arising from changes in

and it is probable that an outflow of re-

rency are translated using the exchange

fair value are taken directly to the state-

sources embodying economic benefits

rates as of the dates of the initial transac-

ment of profit or loss.

will be required to settle the obligation

tions. Non-monetary items measured at

and a reliable estimate can be made of

fair value in a foreign currency are trans-

Open betting positions for sports bet-

the amount of the obligation. When the

lated using the exchange rates as of the

ting and lottery are accounted for as

Group expects some or all of a provision

date when the fair value is determined.

derivative financial instruments and are

to be reimbursed, for example, under an

carried at their fair value with gains and

insurance contract, the reimbursement

In the consolidated financial statements

losses recognised in revenues. As these

is recognised as a separate asset, but

the assets and liabilities of the con-

financial instruments are not quoted on

only when the reimbursement is virtually

solidated entities are translated into the

an active market and no observable data

certain. The expense relating to a pro-

presentation currency of Fortuna Group

is available, the fair value of these finan-

vision is presented in the statement of

at the rate of the exchange prevailing at

cial instruments is neither determined

profit or loss, net of any reimbursement.

the balance sheet date with the state-

by reference to published price quota-

ment of profit or loss items translated at

tions nor estimated by using a valuation

Provisions are measured at the manage-

the monthly weighted average exchange

technique based on assumptions sup-

ment’s best estimate of the expenditure

rates for the period. The exchange differ-

ported by prices from observable cur-

required to settle the obligation at the

ences arising on the translation are taken

rent market transactions. Open bets are

balance sheet date and are discounted

directly to a separate component of equity

paid out within a short time-frame after

to present value where the effect is ma-

recorded via other comprehensive income.

the year-end. Payables from open bets

terial using a pre-tax rate that reflects

at the year-end are recorded based on

current market assessments of the time

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of

historical pay-out ratios and are included

value of money and the risks specific to

a foreign operation is treated as an asset

in other current financial liabilities in the

the liability. The unwinding of the dis-

of the foreign operation and translated

consolidated statement of the financial

count is recognised as a finance cost.

at the closing rate.

position. The difference between the fair
value of these financial instruments as of
the year-end and the actual pay-out is
deemed immaterial.

5.3.18 Foreign currency
translation

The Profit and Loss statement is recalculated to EUR on the monthly average
FX rate. Balance sheet balances are recalculated from local currencies to EUR

5.3.16 Borrowing costs

The presentation currency of Fortuna

with the closing FXs:

Group is EUR (“€“). The functional currency of FEGNV is EUR, and those of its

The closing FX rate in 2018 changed

Borrowing costs directly attributable to

subsidiaries are Czech crowns (“CZK”),

from 27.540 CZK/EUR as of 31 Decem-

the acquisition, construction or produc-

Polish zlotys (“PLN”), Croatian kunas

ber 2017 to 25.725 CZK/EUR as of 31 De-

tion of an asset that necessarily takes

(“HRK”), Romanian Leus (“RON”) and EUR.

cember 2018.

for its intended use or sale are capital-

Transactions in foreign currencies are in-

The closing FX rate in 2018 changed

ised as part of the cost of the respective

itially recorded in the functional currency

from 4.177 PLN/EUR as of 31 Decem-

a substantial period of time to prepare
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ber 2017 to 4.302 PLN/EUR as of 31 De-

and corresponding tax bases used in the

Slovakia

cember 2018.

computation of taxable profits and it is

According to Slovak regulations, the

accounted for using the balance sheet

Company is obliged to pay a gaming

The closing FX rate in 2018 changed

liability method. Deferred tax liabilities

tax of 6% (2017: 6%) of total Amounts

from 7.427 HRK/EUR as of 31 Decem-

are generally recognised for all taxable

Staked, of which 0.5% is paid to munici-

ber 2017 to 7.411 HRK/EUR as of 31 De-

temporary differences and deferred tax

palities. Revenue is stated net of this tax.

cember 2018.

assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be

Poland

The closing FX rate in 2017 changed

available against which temporary differ-

According to Polish regulations, the

from 4.659 RON/EUR as of 31 Decem-

ences can be utilised.

Company is obliged to pay a gaming tax

ber 2017 to 4.664 RON/EUR as of 31 December 2018.

of 12% (2017: 12%) of total Amounts
The carrying amount of deferred tax as-

Staked. The amount paid by customers is

sets is reviewed at each balance sheet

deducted by 12% and only the remaining

date and reduced to the extent that it is

88% of ticket amounts is used to calcu-

no longer probable that sufficient taxable

late the potential winning prize (the po-

profits will be available to allow all or part

tential winning prize = 88% of the ticket

C U R R E N T I N C O M E TA X

of the asset to be realised. Unrecognised

(paid) amount * betting rate). Revenue is

Current income tax assets and liabilities

deferred tax assets are re-assessed at

stated net of this tax.

for the current period are measured at the

each reporting date and are recognised

amount expected to be recovered from or

to the extent that it has become prob-

Romania

paid to the taxation authorities. The tax

able that future taxable profits will allow

According to Romanian regulations, the

rates and tax laws used to compute the

the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Company is obliged to pay a gaming tax

5.3.19 Taxation

amount are those that are enacted or sub-

of 16% (2017: 16%) of the difference be-

stantively enacted, as of the reporting date

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates

tween total Amounts Staked and wins.

in the countries where the Group operates

that are expected to apply in the period

Revenue is stated net of this tax

and generates taxable income.

when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited

Croatia

The tax currently payable is based on

to profit or loss, except when it relates to

According to Croatian regulations,

taxable profit for the year. Taxable prof-

items charged or credited directly to other

the Company is obliged to pay a 5%

it differs from profit as reported in the

comprehensive income, in which case the

(2017: 5%) sports betting tax of the to-

statement of income because it excludes

deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

tal Amounts Staked and a 15% casino

items of income or expense that are tax-

games tax of the Gross Win (25% tax of

able or deductible in other years and it

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

the Gross Win for tournament games).

further excludes items that are never

offset when there is a legally enforce-

Revenue is stated net of this tax.

taxable or deductible.

able right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when

Pursuant to the Act on the Games of

Current income tax relating to items rec-

they relate to income taxes levied by the

Chance, the Company pays taxes on all

ognised directly in equity is recognised in

same taxation authority and the Group

gains and on behalf of all players. The tax

equity and not in the statement of profit

intends to settle its current tax assets

amount depends on the gain and ranges

or loss. Management periodically evalu-

and liabilities on a net basis.

from 10% to 30%.

ates positions taken in the tax returns
with respect to situations in which ap-

TA X E S O N B E TTI N G

plicable tax regulations are subject to in-

Czech Republic

terpretation and establishes provisions

According to Czech regulations, a unified

where appropriate.

23% tax rate (2017: 23%) is applied on the

P E N S I O N P LA N

5.3.20 Employee benefit plan

Gross Win of the Company. Revenue is

In the normal course of business, the

D E F F E R E D TA X

stated net of this tax. The tax on the Gross

companies within Fortuna Group pay

Deferred tax is recognised on differences

Win was increased from 20% to 23% ef-

statutory social insurance on behalf of

between the carrying amounts of assets

fective from 1 January 2017 for both

their employees in accordance with the

and liabilities in the financial statements

sports betting and the lottery segment.

legal requirements of the respective
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countries. Fortuna Group does not op-

economic benefits is probable. Contin-

an entity that either has been disposed

erate any other pension plan or post-re-

gent liabilities are not recognised in the

of, or is classified as held for sale, and:

tirement benefit plan, and, consequently,

consolidated financial statements but

has no legal or constructive obligation in

are disclosed in the notes, unless the

•• Represents a separate major line of

this respect.

possibility of an outflow of economic re-

business or geographical area of op-

sources is remote.

erations

B O N U S P LA N
A liability for employee benefits in the
form of bonus plans is recognised under
provisions; the bonus is paid following
the performance evaluation in the year
concerned.

5.3.24 Non-current assets
held for sale and
discontinued
operations

•• Is part of a single co-ordinated plan
to dispose of a separate major line
of business or geographical area of
operations
Or

Liabilities for bonus plans are measured

The Group classifies non-current assets

at the amounts expected to be paid

and disposal groups as held for sale if

when they are settled.

their carrying amounts will be recovered

•• Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale

principally through a sale rather than
through continuing use. Such non-cur-

Discontinued operations are excluded

rent assets and disposal groups classi-

from the results of continuing operations

fied as held for sale are measured at the

and are presented as a single amount as

Equity instruments issued by the Com-

lower of their carrying amount and fair

profit or loss after tax from discontinued

pany are recorded at the proceeds re-

value less costs to sale. Costs to sale are

operations in the statement of profit or

ceived net of direct issue costs.

the incremental costs directly attribut-

loss.

5.3.21 Equity instruments

able to the sale, excluding finance costs

5.3.22 Segment disclosure

and income tax expense.

Additional disclosures are provided in
note 5.11. All other notes to the finan-

The criteria held for sale classification is

cial statements include amounts for

For management purposes, Fortuna

regarded as met only when the sale is

continuing operations, unless indicated

Group is divided into operating seg-

highly probable and the asset or disposal

otherwise.

ments based on geographical areas. The

group is available for an immediate sale

management reviews also operating seg-

in its present condition. Actions required

ments by considering new material ac-

to complete the sale should indicate that

quisitions. Fortuna Group follows criteria

it is unlikely that significant changes to

set out by IFRS 8 Operating Segments to

the sale will be made or that the decision

determine the number and type of re-

to sell will be withdrawn. Management

portable segments. At the level of the ac-

must be committed to the sale, which is

The Group applied IFRS 15, IFRS 9 and

counting unit as a whole, Fortuna Group

expected within one year from the date

several other amendments and interpre-

discloses information on revenues to

of the classification.

tations for the first time in 2018. None

5.3.25 New and amended
standards and
interpretations

of the changes have any impact on the

external customers for major products
and services, respectively groups of simi-

Property, plant and equipment and in-

consolidated financial statements of

lar products and services, and on non-

tangible assets are not depreciated or

the Group. The Group has not earlier

current assets by geographical segment

amortised once classified as held for sale.

adopted any standards, interpretations

location and key significant acquisitions.

or amendments that have been issued
Assets and liabilities classified as held for

5.3.23 Contingencies

but are not yet effective.

sale are presented separately as current
items in the statement of the financial

The accounting policies adopted are

position.

consistent with those of the previous

Contingent assets are not recognised in

financial year, except for the following

the consolidated financial statements

A disposal group qualifies as discontin-

new and amended IFRS and IFRIC inter-

but are disclosed when an inflow of

ued operations if it is a component of

pretations effective as of 1 January 2018:
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are stated based on the previous poli-

C on t r a c t s w i t h

cies which comply with IAS 18 and IAS 11

C us t o m ers

and related interpretations.

IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construc-

4.	 Allocate the price to the performance
obligations

•• Allocation is performed immediately

tion Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and re-

The Group operates in the business of

after the game ends with respect to

lated Interpretations and it applies, with

sports betting and gaming. The Group

the result

limited exceptions, to all revenue aris-

adopted IFRS 15 as of 1 January 2018,

ing from contracts with its customers.

the Group is considering the following

IFRS 15 establishes a five-step model to

sources of revenue:

account for revenue arising from con-

5.	 Recognise revenue as the performance obligations are fulfilled

•• Revenue is recognised immediately

tracts with customers and requires that

(a) Odds betting

revenue be recognised at an amount

The result of a game of chance depends

after the game’s end with respect to

that reflects the consideration to which

on a future event. Odds betting is gov-

the result

an entity expects to be entitled in ex-

erned by IFRS 9 and is reported in fair

change for transferring goods or services

value as a derivative.

to a customer.

Revenue is recognised immediately after
the game’s end, when the result of the

IFRS 15 application has no impact on the
IFRS 15 requires entities to exercise

Group with respect to the revenue from

judgement, taking into consideration all

Odds betting.

performance obligation is known.
IFRS 15 application has no impact on the

of the relevant facts and circumstances

Group with respect to the revenue from

when applying each step of the model

(b) Other wagers

to contracts with their customers. The

The other wagers (slot machines and

standard also specifies the accounting

other games of chance) are reported in

Open betting positions for numerical

for the incremental costs of obtaining

accordance with IFRS 15. Steps applied

games are accounted for as derivative

a contract and the costs directly related

for revenue recognition are:

financial instruments and are carried at

to fulfilling a contract. In addition, the
standard requires extensive disclosures.
In accordance with the transition provisions of IFRS 15, the Group has elected
the simplified transition method for

fair value and gains and losses arising
1.	 Identify the contract with a customer

•• Customer’s willingness to play
•• Casino’s technological equipment set
up and ready to use

IFRS 15 should be recognized as at 1 January 2018 as an adjustment to opening
retained earnings directly in equity.
The Group has applied IFRS 15 retrospectively only to contracts that are not

on these positions are recognised in revenue. This is rather the scope of IFRS 9.
These revenues are part of discontinued
operations – disposed of on May 2017.
(c) Customer loyalty programme
and client bonuses

adopting the new standard. Accordingly, any cumulative effect of transition to

Other wagers.

2.	 Identify all the individual performance
obligations within the contract

•• The

Fortuna Group operates a loyalty programme enabling customers to accumulate awarded credits for gaming spends.

performance obligation of the

A portion of the gaming spend, equal to

casino is to provide tries in a game

the fair value of the awarded credits

of chance

earned, is treated as deferred revenue.
Revenue from the awarded credits is rec-

completed contracts at the date of ini-

•• Individual performance is an individu-

tial application and adopted the practical

al game where the customer wins or

The credits expire at the end of the fi-

expedient not to retrospectively restate

loses (a spin in case of slots)

nancial year and are not redeemable

contracts for which contract modifications occurred before the date of initial application. In accordance with the

ognised when the credits are redeemed.

afterwards.
3.	 Determine the transaction price

•• Transaction

Fortuna Group also provides its clients
price, wager, is recog-

with bonuses. If they meet certain con-

for implementation of IFRS 15 the com-

nised at the beginning or during the

ditions, bonuses increase the cash bal-

paratives have not been restated but

game

ance of the player. These requirements

transition method elected by the Group
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are generally short-term (maximum of

•• The performance obligation represents

and the contractual cash flows charac-

several months). To meet the future

rendering the technology solution

teristics of the instruments. For equity

requirement of IFRS 15, bonuses are
deducted from the revenue unless it is

•• Individual

financial assets it depends on the enperformance represents

highly probable that the Company will

gaming revenue generated via the

not have to pay these bonuses.

solution

tity’s intentions and designation.
In particular, assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where

In view of this, the application of IFRS 15
has no impact on the Group.

3.	 Determine the transaction price

•• Transaction price represents share

those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Assets

(d) Income from brand licence

of the generated gaming revenue –

that are held for collection of contrac-

Fortuna receives royalties from a brand

licensing fee

tual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows

licensing contract. These royalties are
based on the revenue performance
of the customer. This is therefore accounted for on a monthly basis as the
revenues occur.

4.	 Allocate the price to the performance
obligations

•• Allocation is performed immediately

represent solely payments of principal
and interest, are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income.
Lastly, assets that do not meet the cri-

after the generation of gaming rev-

teria for amortised cost or fair value

According to the contract, the licence is

enue, due to the simplification the li-

through other comprehensive income

granted for an indefinite period. As the

censing fee is calculated on a monthly

are measured at fair value through

customer consumes the benefit from

basis

profit or loss.

obtaining a licence over time, the application of IFRS 15 should not have any
impact on the Group.

5.	 Recognise revenue as the performance obligations are fulfilled

For investments in equity instruments
that are not held for trading, the classification depends on whether the en-

The royalty income relates to the Roma-

•• Revenue is recognised immediately

nian companies acquired in 3Q 2017.

after the generation of gaming rev-

the time of initial recognition to account

The income from the brand licence is

enue. Due to the simplification the li-

for the equity investment at fair value

eliminated in the consolidation as the

censing fee is calculated on a monthly

through other comprehensive income.

intercompany transaction from the ac-

basis

If no such election has been made or

quisition date and has no impact to consolidated financials.

tity has made an irrevocable election at

the investments in equity instruments
In view of this, the application of IFRS 15

are held for trading they are required to

does not have any impact on the Group.

be classified at fair value through profit

(e) Income from B2B licences

or loss.

Hattrick Group developed its own bet-

I F R S 9 F i n a nc i a l

ting platform. The B2B solution is provid-

i ns t ru m en t s

The classification and measurement re-

ed to the partners for a regular fee. The

(a) Classification and measurement

quirements of IFRS 9 had only an imma-

licensing fee is calculated as a percent-

The new standard requires debt fi-

terial impact on the Group. The Group

age of revenue invoiced on a monthly

nancial assets to be classified into two

continued measuring at fair value all

basis. Steps applied for revenue recog-

measurement categories: those to be

financial assets previously held at fair

nition are:

measured subsequently at fair value,

value under IAS 39.

either through other comprehensive
1.	 Identify the contract with a customer

•• Individual

contract with each B2B

partner
2.	 Identify all the individual performance
obligations within the contract

income (FVOCI) or through profit or

(b) Impairment

loss (FVTPL) and those to be measured

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamen-

at amortized cost. The determination

tally changed the Group’s accounting for

is made at initial recognition. For debt

impairment losses for financial assets by

financial assets the classification de-

replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach

pends on the entity’s business model

with a forward-looking expected credit

for managing its financial instruments

loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the
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Group to recognise an allowance for

IFRS 9 and has no impact on the pres-

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of

ECLs for all debt instruments not held

entation of comparative figures.

Investment Property
The amendments clarify when an entity

at fair value through profit or loss and
contract assets as well as cash deposits

Under IAS 39, all gains and losses arising

should transfer property, including prop-

held at banks.

from the Group’s cash flow hedging rela-

erty under construction or development,

tionships were eligible to be subsequently

into or out of investment property. The

IFRS 9 also introduces a single impair-

reclassified to profit or loss. However,

amendments state that a change in use

ment model applicable for debt instru-

under IFRS 9, gains and losses arising on

occurs when the property meets, or

ments at amortised cost and fair value

cash flow hedges of forecast purchases

ceases to meet, the definition of invest-

through other comprehensive income

of non-financial assets need to be incor-

ment property and there is evidence of

and removes the need for a triggering

porated into the initial carrying amounts

the change in use. A mere change in

event to be necessary for recognition

of the non-financial assets. This change

management’s intentions for the use of

of impairment losses. The new impair-

only applies prospectively from the date

a property does not provide evidence of

ment model under IFRS 9 requires the

of initial application of IFRS 9 and has no

a change in use. These amendments do

recognition of allowances for doubtful

impact on the presentation of compara-

not have any impact on the Group’s con-

debts based on expected credit losses

tive figures.

solidated financial statements.

as under IAS 39. The standard further

(d) Other adjustments

Amendments to IFRS 2

introduces a simplified approach for

In addition to the adjustments described

Classification and Measurement of

calculating impairment on trade re-

above, upon adoption of IFRS 9, other

Share-based Payment Transactions

ceivables as well as for calculating im-

items of the primary financial state-

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2

pairment on contract assets and lease

ments such as deferred taxes, invest-

Share-based Payment that address three

receivables, which also fall within the

ment in an associate and a joint venture

main areas: the effects of vesting condi-

scope of the impairment requirements

(arising from the financial instruments

tions on the measurement of a cash-

of IFRS 9.

held by these entities), income tax ex-

settled share-based payment transac-

pense, non-controlling interests and

tion; the classification of a share-based

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group

retained earnings were adjusted as

payment transaction with net settlement

recognised no additional impairment on

necessary.

features for withholding tax obligations;

(ECL), rather than incurred credit losses

the Group’s Trade receivables.

and accounting where a modification
IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign

to the terms and conditions of a share-

(c) Hedge accounting

Currency Transactions and

based payment transaction changes its

The Group applied hedge accounting

Advance Considerations

classification from cash settled to equity

prospectively. At the date of initial ap-

The Interpretation clarifies that, in de-

settled. On adoption, entities are re-

plication, all of the Group’s existing

termining the spot exchange rate to use

quired to apply the amendments without

hedging relationships were eligible

on initial recognition of the related asset,

restating prior periods, but retrospective

to be treated as continuing hedging

expense or income (or part of it) on the

application is permitted if elected for all

relationships. Before the adoption

derecognition of a non-monetary as-

three amendments and other criteria

of IFRS 9, the Group designated the

set or non-monetary liability relating to

are met. The Group’s accounting policy

change in fair value of the entire for-

advance consideration, the date of the

for cash-settled share based payments is

ward contracts in its cash flow hedge

transaction is the date on which an entity

consistent with the approach clarified in

relationships. Upon adoption of the

initially recognises the non-monetary as-

the amendments. In addition, the Group

hedge accounting requirements of

set or non-monetary liability arising from

has no share-based payment transac-

IFRS 9, the Group designates only the

the advance consideration. If there are

tion with net settlement features for

spot element of forward contracts as

multiple payments or receipts in advance,

withholding tax obligations and had not

hedging instrument. The forward ele-

then the entity must determine the date

made any modifications to the terms and

ment is recognised in OCI and accu-

of the transactions for each payment or

conditions of its share-based payment

mulated as a separate component of

receipt of advance consideration. This

transaction. Therefore, these amend-

equity under Cost of hedging reserve.

Interpretation does not have any impact

ments do not have any impact on the

This change only applies prospectively

on the Group’s consolidated financial

Group’s consolidated financial state-

from the date of initial application of

statements.

ments.
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Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time

ognise the interest expense on the lease

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with

Adoption of International Financial

liability and the depreciation expense on

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Reporting Standards – Deletion of

the right-of-use asset.

The amendments address concerns aris-

short-term exemptions for first-

ing from implementing the new financial

time adopters

Lessees will be also required to remeas-

instruments standard, IFRS 9, before im-

Short-term exemptions in paragraphs

ure the lease liability upon the occur-

plementing IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts,

E3–E7 of IFRS 1 were deleted because

rence of certain events (e.g., a change in

which replaces IFRS 4. The amendments

they have now served their intended

the lease term, a change in future lease

introduce two options for entities issu-

purpose. These amendments do not

payments resulting from a change in an

ing insurance contracts: a temporary

have any impact on the Group’s consoli-

index or rate used to determine those

exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an

dated financial statements.

payments). The lessee will generally rec-

overlay approach. These amendments

ognise the amount of the remeasure-

are not relevant to the Group.

ment of the lease liability as an adjust-

Amendments to IAS 28 Investments

5.3.26 Future accounting
developments

in Associates and Joint Ventures –

ment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is sub-

Clarification that measuring

The new and amended standards and

stantially unchanged from today’s ac-

investees at fair value through

interpretations that are issued, but are

counting under IAS 17. Lessors will con-

profit or loss is an investment-by-

not yet effective, up to the date of issu-

tinue to classify all leases using the same

investment choice

ance of the Group’s financial statements

classification principle as in IAS 17 and

The amendments clarify that an entity that

are disclosed below. The Group intends

distinguish between two types of leases:

is a venture capital organisation, or other

to adopt these new and amended stand-

operating and finance leases.

qualifying entity, may elect, at initial rec-

ards and interpretations, if applicable,

ognition on an investment-by-investment

when they become effective.

IFRS 16, which is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 Janu-

basis, to measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value

I F R S 1 6 Le a ses

ary 2019, requires lessees and lessors

through profit or loss. If an entity that

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2017 and

to make more extensive disclosures than

is not itself an investment entity, has an

it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Deter-

under IAS 17.

interest in an associate or joint venture

mining whether an Arrangement contains

that is an investment entity, then it may,

a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incen-

Tr a ns i t i on t o I F R S 1 6

when applying the equity method, elect to

tives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance

The Group plans to apply a modified

retain the fair value measurement applied

of Transactions Involving the Legal Form

approach when the lessee does not re-

by that investment entity associate or joint

of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the princi-

state comparative figures. Instead, the

venture to the investment entity associ-

ples for the recognition, measurement,

lessee recognises the cumulative effect

ate’s or joint venture’s interests in subsidi-

presentation and disclosure of leases and

of initially applying IFRS 16 as an adjust-

aries. This election is made separately for

requires lessees to account for all leases

ment to the opening balance of retained

each investment entity associate or joint

under a single on-balance sheet model

earnings (or other component of equity,

venture, at the later of the dates on which:

similar to the accounting for finance leas-

as appropriate) at the date of initial ap-

es under IAS 17. The standard includes

plication, e.g., 1 January 2019.

(a) the investment entity associate or

two recognition exemptions for lessees –

joint venture is initially recognised;

leases of ’low-value’ assets (e.g., personal

The Group will elect to use the exemp-

computers) and short-term leases (i.e.,

tions proposed by the standard on lease

(b) the associate or joint venture be-

leases with a lease term of 12 months

contracts for which the lease terms ends

comes an investment entity; and

or less). At the commencement date of

within 12 months as of the date of initial

a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability

application, and lease contracts for which

(c) the investment entity associate or

to make lease payments (i.e., the lease

the underlying asset is of low value.

joint venture first becomes a parent.

liability) and an asset representing the

These amendments do not have any

right to use the underlying asset during

The Group has assessed that the pre-

impact on the Group’s consolidated fi-

the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset).

liminary impact as of 1 January 2019 will

nancial statements.

Lessees will be required to separately rec-

be the following:
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€ 000

1.1.2019

31.12.2019

85,885

—

(73)

—

85,812

—

Deferred tax liabilities

—

—

Trade and other payables

—

—

Net impact on equity

—

—

Increase of depreciation

—

21,708

Increase of interest expense

—

2,929

Decrease of other expense

—

(21,619)

Increase of net case flow from operating activities

—

22,062

Decrease of net cash flow from financing activities

—

(22,062)

Assets
Property, plant and equipment (right-of-use assets)
Prepayments

Liabilities
Lease liabilities

Expected impact on statement of comprehensive income:

Expected impact on statement of cash flows:

The group applies different incremental

treatments involve uncertainty that af-

An entity has to determine whether to

borrowing rates according to given coun-

fects the application of IAS 12 and does

consider each uncertain tax treatment

tries. The rate is updated on a quarterly

not apply to taxes or levies outside the

separately or together with one or

basis for new and modified contracts.

scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically

more other uncertain tax treatments.

The calculation is based on an inter-

include requirements relating to inter-

The approach that better predicts the

bank interest rate (EURIBOR, PRIBOR,

est and penalties associated with uncer-

resolution of the uncertainty should be

ROBOR…) and a risk margin derived from

tain tax treatments. The Interpretation

followed. The interpretation is effective

bank loan tranches.

specifically addresses the following:

for annual reporting periods beginning

Due to the adoption of IFRS 16, the

•• Whether an entity considers uncer-

Group’s operating profit will improve
(rental costs decrease), while its interest
expense and depreciation will increase.

tain tax treatments separately

•• The

on or after 1 January 2019, but certain
transition reliefs are available. The Group
will apply the interpretation from its effective date.

assumptions an entity makes

This is due to the change in the account-

about the examination of tax treat-

A m end m en t s t o

ing for expenses of leases that were clas-

ments by taxation authorities

I F R S 9 : P rep a y m en t

sified as operating leases under IAS 17.

•• How an entity determines taxable prof-

F e a t ures w i t h N eg a t i ve
C o m pens a t i on

I F R I C In t erpre t a t i on 2 3

it (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax loss-

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can

U ncer t a i n t y over

es, unused tax credits and tax rates

be measured at amortised cost or

Inco m e T a x Tre a t m en t
The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax

•• How an entity considers changes in
facts and circumstances

at fair value through other comprehensive income, provided that the
contractual cash flows are ‘solely
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payments of principal and interest

A m end m en t s t o IA S 1 9 :

plication permitted. These amendments

on the principal amount outstanding’

P l a n A m end m en t ,

will apply only to any future plan amend-

(the SPPI criterion) and the instru-

C ur t a i l m en t or

ments, curtailments, or settlements of

ment is held within the appropriate

S e t t l e m en t

the Group.

business model for that classification.

The amendments to IAS 19 address the

The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify

accounting when a plan amendment,

A m end m en t s t o IA S 2 8 :

that a financial asset passes the SPPI

curtailment or settlement occurs during

Long - t er m i n t eres t s i n

criterion regardless of the event or

a reporting period. The amendments

a ssoc i a t es a nd j o i n t

circumstance that causes the early

specify that when a plan amendment,

ven t ures

termination of the contract and ir-

curtailment or settlement occurs during

The amendments clarify that an entity

respective of which party pays or re-

the annual reporting period, an entity is

applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in

ceives reasonable compensation for

required to:

an associate or joint venture to which the

the early termination of the contract.

•• Determine current service cost for the

equity method is not applied but that, in
substance, form part of the net invest-

The amendments should be applied

remainder of the period after the plan

retrospectively and are effective from

amendment, curtailment or settle-

(long-term interests). This clarification

1 January 2019, with earlier application

ment, using the actuarial assumptions

is relevant because it implies that the

permitted. These amendments have no

used to remeasure the net defined

expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 ap-

impact on the consolidated financial

benefit liability (asset) reflecting the

plies to such long-term interests.

statements of the Group.

benefits offered under the plan and
the plan assets after that event

A m end m en t s t o I F R S 1 0
a nd IA S 2 8 : S a l e or

•• Determine

ment in the associate or joint venture

The amendments also clarified that, in
applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take

net interest for the re-

account of any losses of the associate or

C on t r i b u t i on of Asse t s

mainder of the period after the plan

joint venture, or any impairment losses

b e t w een a n Inves t or

amendment, curtailment or settle-

on the net investment, recognised as ad-

a nd i t s Assoc i a t e or

ment using: the net defined benefit

justments to the net investment in the

Jo i n t V en t ure

liability (asset) reflecting the benefits

associate or joint venture that arise from

The amendments address the conflict

offered under the plan and the plan

applying IAS 28 Investments in Associ-

between IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing

assets after that event; and the dis-

ates and Joint Ventures.

with the loss of control of a subsidiary

count rate used to remeasure that

that is sold or contributed to an as-

net defined benefit liability (asset).

sociate or joint venture. The amend-

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 Jan-

ments clarify that the gain or loss re-

The amendments also clarify that an en-

uary 2019, with early application permit-

sulting from the sale or contribution

tity first determines any past service cost,

ted. Since the Group does not have such

of assets that constitute a business,

or a gain or loss on settlement, without

long-term interests in its associate and

as defined in IFRS 3, between an inves-

considering the effect of the asset ceil-

joint venture, the amendments will not

tor and its associate or joint venture,

ing. This amount is recognised in profit

have an impact on its consolidated finan-

is recognised in full. Any gain or loss

or loss. An entity then determines the

cial statements.

resulting from the sale or contribu-

effect of the asset ceiling after the plan

tion of assets that do not constitute

amendment, curtailment or settlement.

Annu a l I m prove m en t s

a business, however, is recognised

Any change in that effect, excluding

2 0 1 5 ‑ 2 0 1 7 C yc l e ( i ssued

only to the extent of unrelated inves-

amounts included in the net interest,

i n D ece m b er 2 0 1 7 )

tors’ interests in the associate or joint

is recognised in other comprehensive

These improvements include:

venture. The IASB has deferred the

income.
IFRS 3 Business Combinations

effective date of these amendments
indefinitely, but an entity that early

The amendments apply to plan amend-

The amendments clarify that, when an

adopts the amendments must apply

ments, curtailments, or settlements oc-

entity obtains control of a business that

them prospectively. The Group will

curring on or after the beginning of the

is a joint operation, it applies the re-

apply these amendments when they

first annual reporting period that begins

quirements for a business combination

become effective.

on or after 1 January 2019, with early ap-

achieved in stages, including remeasur-
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ing previously held interests in the assets

trol on or after the beginning of the first

beginning of the earliest comparative pe-

and liabilities of the joint operation at fair

annual reporting period beginning on or

riod. Since the Group’s current practice

value. In doing so, the acquirer remeas-

after 1 January 2019, with early applica-

is in line with these amendments, the

ures its entire previously held interest in

tion permitted. These amendments are

Group does not expect any effect on its

the joint operation.

currently not applicable to the Group but

consolidated financial statements.

may apply to future transactions.
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

An entity applies those amendments to
business combinations for which the

IAS 12 Income Taxes

The amendments clarify that an entity

acquisition date is on or after the begin-

The amendments clarify that the income

treats as part of general borrowings any

ning of the first annual reporting period

tax consequences of dividends are

borrowing originally made to develop

beginning on or after 1 January 2019,

linked more directly to past transactions

a qualifying asset when substantially all

with early application permitted. These

or events that generated distributable

of the activities necessary to prepare

amendments will apply on future busi-

profits than to distributions to owners.

that asset for its intended use or sale

ness combinations of the Group.

Therefore, an entity recognises the in-

are complete.

come tax consequences of dividends
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

in profit or loss, other comprehensive

An entity applies those amendments

A party that participates in, but does not

income or equity according to where the

to borrowing costs incurred on or after

have joint control of, a joint operation

entity originally recognised those past

the beginning of the annual reporting

might obtain joint control of the joint op-

transactions or events.

period in which the entity first applies

eration in which the activity of the joint

those amendments. An entity applies

operation constitutes a business as de-

An entity applies those amendments for

those amendments for annual report-

fined in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify

annual reporting periods beginning on

ing periods beginning on or after 1 Janu-

that the previously held interests in that

or after 1 January 2019, with early appli-

ary 2019, with early application permit-

joint operation are not remeasured.

cation is permitted. When an entity first

ted. Since the Group’s current practice

applies those amendments, it applies

is in line with these amendments, the

An entity applies those amendments to

them to the income tax consequences

Group does not expect any effect on its

transactions in which it obtains joint con-

of dividends recognised on or after the

consolidated financial statements.

5.4 U
 se of accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions
JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s ac-

by the entity on its own account. Amounts

The preparation of these consolidated

counting policies, management has

collected on behalf of third parties such as

financial statements requires manage-

made the following judgements, which

sales taxes, goods and services taxes and

ment to make judgements, estimates

have the most significant effect on the

value-added taxes are not economic ben-

and assumptions that affect the re-

amounts recognised in the consolidated

efits which flow to the entity and do not re-

ported amounts of revenue, expenses,

financial statements:

sult in increases in equity. Therefore, they

assets and liabilities, and the disclosure

should be excluded from revenue. The

of contingent liabilities, at the end of the

R E C O G N ITI O N O F G R O S S

management makes its own judgement

reporting period. However, uncertainty

VERSUS NET REVENUES

as to whether the entity is acting as prin-

about these assumptions and estimates

The Group is subject to various govern-

cipal or agent in collecting the tax based

could result in outcomes that require

mental taxes and levies. The regulations

on various indicators as well as changing

a material adjustment to the carrying

differ significantly from one country to

circumstances in each of the countries

amount of the asset or liability affected

another. Revenue includes the inflows of

were the Group operates. Further details

in future periods.

economic benefits received and receivable

are given in notes 5.13.19 and 5.6.
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E S TIMAT E S

determined for an individual asset, un-

used tax credits and unused tax losses

The Group based its assumptions and

less the asset does not generate cash

to the extent that it is probable that

estimates on parameters available when

inflows that are largely independent of

taxable profit will be available against

the consolidated financial statements

those from other assets or groups of as-

which the deductible temporary dif-

were prepared. Existing circumstances

sets. Estimating a value-in-use amount

ferences can be utilised. Significant

and assumptions about future devel-

requires management to make an esti-

management judgement is required to

opments, however, may change due to

mate of the expected future cash flows

determine the amount of deferred tax

market changes or circumstances arising

from the cash generating unit and also to

assets that can be recognised, based

beyond the control of the Group. Such

choose a suitable discount rate in order

on the likely timing and the level of fu-

changes are reflected in the assump-

to calculate the present value of those

ture taxable profits together with future

tions when they occur.

cash flows. Further details are given in

tax planning strategies. Further details

notes 5.3.1, 5.3.7, 5.14 and 5.15.

on taxes are disclosed in notes 5.3.19
and 5.12.

The key assumptions concerning future
and other key sources of estimation

B E TTI N G T R A N S A C TI O N S

uncertainty at the reporting date, which

Betting transactions are measured at the

R E C O V E R ABL E AM O U N T O F

have a significant risk of causing a mate-

fair value of the consideration received

R E C E I V ABL E S

rial adjustment to the carrying amounts

or paid. This is usually the nominal

Where there are indicators that any re-

of assets and liabilities within the next

amount of the consideration; however,

ceivable is impaired at a balance sheet

financial year, are discussed below:

in relation to unresolved bets for sports

date, management makes an estimate

betting and lottery, the fair value is esti-

of the asset’s recoverable amount. Fur-

I N D E F I N ITI V E LI F E

mated in accordance with IFRS 9 using

ther details are given in notes 5.3.11

I N TA N G IBL E A S S E T S A N D

valuation and probability techniques,

and 5.17.

G O O D WILL

taking into account the probability of

The Group determines at least on an

the future win. Further details are given

PROVISIONS

annual basis whether indefinite life

in notes 5.3.4 and 5.6. Open betting po-

Provisions take into account an expected

intangible assets and goodwill are im-

sitions are recorded as a liability given

expense, showing it as a liability on the

paired. This requires an estimate of an

the fact that the profit margins are fixed.

balance sheet. Created provisions repre-

asset’s recoverable amount which is the

sent the best management estimate of

higher of an asset’s or cash-generating

D E F E R R E D TA X

the future outflow of the economic ben-

unit’s (CGU’s) fair value less costs of

Deferred tax assets are recognised for

efits. Further details are given in notes

disposal and its value in use and it is

deductible temporary differences, un-

5.3.17 and 5.28.

5.5 Business combinations
Ac q u i s i t i ons i n 2 0 1 8

Hattrick Sports Group Ltd.

to the members of the Hattrick Group. This

There were no acquisitions in 2018.

On 19 May 2017, the Group acquired

acquisition will further strengthen Fortu-

a 100% stake in Hattrick Sports Group Ltd.,

na’s position as the largest licensed multi-

Ac q u i s i t i ons i n 2 0 1 7

an unlisted company based in Ireland. The

channel sports betting and gaming opera-

Fortuna Virtual d.o.o.

Hattrick Sports Group Ltd. (Hattrick Group)

tor in Central & Southeastern Europe. The

In 2017 FEGNV founded Fortuna Vir-

is the parent entity and it has the following

consolidated financial statements include

tual d.o.o., which is a Croatian limited li-

subsidiaries – Hattrick – PSK d.o.o (Croatia,

the results of the Hattrick Group from

ability company incorporated as a holding

100% share), OK Albastru Rosu s.r.l. (Ro-

19 May 2017 (the acquisition date).

company. It was founded with the purpose

mania, 99.99% share) and Hattrick Bet s.r.l.

of taking over the Hattrick Group. The

(Romania, 100% share). The Hattrick Group

The fair values of the identifiable assets

100%-owner of Fortuna Virtual d.o.o. is

operates in Sports betting and Gaming. OK

and liabilities of Hattrick Group as of the

Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.

Albastru Rosu s.r.l. renders rental services

date of acquisition were:
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€ 000

19 May 2017
Fair value recognised on acquisition

Assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Restricted cash

43,904
6,943
—
340

Other non-current assets

1,503

Current receivables

6,026

Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Assets total

825
8,642
68,183

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Provisions
Current liabilities

12,640
7,295
260
6,982

Total liabilities

27,177

Net assets directly associated with acquisition

41,006

Goodwill arising on acquisition

59,955

Purchase consideration transferred

100,961

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary
(included in cash flows from investing activities)

8,642

Cash paid

(70,624)

Net cash flow on acquisition

(61,982)

Loan provided to the acquiree, prior to the acquisition

(12,590)

Contingent consideration

(30,869)

Total

(105,441)
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The difference between the amount

The price for Hattrick Sports Group

total maximum consideration therefore

of the “Purchase consideration trans-

consists of an initial consideration of ap-

is € 135 million. The contingent consid-

ferred” and the sum of “Cash paid” and

proximately € 70 million and a contingent

erations represent the best estimate in

the “Contingent consideration” repre-

consideration represented by a retained

fair value. In addition Fortuna provided

sents the exchange rate difference

liability and an earn-out mechanism based

a loan to the acquiree in the amount of

arising on the translation of the trans-

on the future financial performance of

€ 12.6 million. A reconciliation of fair value

action from the functional currency of

Hattrick Sports Group that may lead to

measurement of the contingent consid-

the subsidiaries.

a maximum payment of € 65 million. The

eration liability is provided below:

€ 000
As at 1 January 2018

39,358

Unrealised fair value changes recognised in profit or loss

(3,617)

Currency translation

(255)

As at 31 December 2018

35,486

€ 000
As at 1 January 2017

—

Liability arising on business combination

30,869

Unrealised fair value changes recognised in profit or loss

8,127

Currency translation

362

As at 31 December 2017

39,358

As of the date of the acquisition, the

tinuing operations of the Group. If the

Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.

fair value of the intangible assets

acquisition had taken place at the be-

and Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.

was € 43,904 thousand. The carrying

ginning of the year, revenue from con-

In 2017 FEGNV founded Fortuna Bet

amount was € 2,165 thousand. The

tinuing operations would have been ap-

Shops Holding s.r.l. and Fortuna Bet

difference between the fair value and

proximately € 82,366 thousand and the

Holding s.r.l., which are Romanian lim-

the gross amount is the result of the

profit from continuing operations for the

ited liability companies incorporated as

(re)valuation of the acquired software,

period would have been approximately

holding companies. They were founded

brand names, betting licences and

€ 1,242 thousand.

with the purpose of taking over Roma-

customer relationships. Deferred tax

nian betting companies (Bet Zone s.r.l,

related to this adjustment was recog-

The goodwill recognised is primarily at-

Bet Active s.r.l., Public Slots s.r.l., Slot

nised in liabilities. The value of current

tributed to the expected synergies and

Arena s.r.l.). Fortuna Entertainment

receivables was € 6,026 thousand. The

other benefits from combining the as-

Group N. V. owns directly or indirectly

gross amount was € 6,552 thousand.

sets and activities of Hattrick Group with

100% stakes in both companies.

The difference between the fair value

those of the Group. The goodwill is not

and the gross amount represents bad

deductible for income tax purposes.

Romanian Companies
(Bet Zone s.r.l, Bet Active s.r.l.,

debt provision.
The acquisition costs amounted to

Public Slots s.r.l., Slot Arena s.r.l.)

From the date of acquisition, Hattrick

€ 1,743 thousand and were fully rec-

On 31 August 2017, the Group ac-

Group has contributed € 56,102 thou-

ognised in Professional expenses (re-

quired a 100% stake in the Romanian

sand of revenue and € 3,431 thousand

ported under “Third party services”, see

companies referred to above. They are

(loss) to profit before tax from the con-

note 5.9, Other operating expenses).

unlisted companies based in Romania.
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The companies operate in Sports bet-

results of the Romanian companies from

plied the acquisition method accounting as

ting and Gaming. This acquisition will

1 September 2017.

defined in IFRS 3 considering the economic

further strengthen Fortuna’s position as

substance of the business combination.

the largest licensed multi-channel sports

The companies were acquired from the

betting and gaming operator in Central

majority shareholder Forbet. As such the

The fair values of the identifiable assets

& Southeastern Europe. The consoli-

acquisition is classified as a transaction

and liabilities of the Romanian compa-

dated financial statements include the

under common control. The Company ap-

nies as at the date of acquisition were:

€ 000

31 August 2017
Fair value recognised on acquisition

Assets
Intangible assets

2,661

Property, plant and equipment

2,524

Deferred tax assets

—

Restricted cash

420

Other non-current assets

506

Current receivables

485

Other current assets

1,741

Cash and cash equivalents

2,329

Assets total

10,666

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

592

Deferred tax liability

404

Provisions

182

Current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets directly associated with acquisition

9,328
10,506

160

Goodwill arising on acquisition

41,920

Purchase consideration transferred

42,080

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition:
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary
(included in cash flows from investing activities)

2,329

Cash paid

(32,080)

Net cash flow on acquisition

(29,751)

Loans acquired from the seller

(2,923)

Contingent consideration

(10,001)

Total

(42,675)
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As of the date of the acquisition, the

names, betting licences and customer

€ 15 million represents a contingent liabil-

fair value of the intangible assets was

relationships. Deferred tax related to

ity based on the earn-out mechanism to

€ 2,661 thousand. The gross amount

this adjustment was recognised in li-

be paid for up to 48 months. In addition,

was € 133 thousand. The difference

abilities.

Fortuna Group refinanced € 3 million of

between the fair value and the gross

Fortbet’s loans. A reconciliation of the fair

amount is the result of the (re)valua-

The total consideration for the acquisition

value measurement of the contingent

tion of the acquired software, brand

will be € 47 million, out of which approx.

consideration liability is provided below:

€ 000
As at 1 January 2018

10,574

Unrealised fair value changes recognised in profit or loss
Currency translation

1,646
(3)

As at 31 December 2018

12,217

€ 000
As at 1 January 2017

—

Liability arising on business combination

10,001

Unrealised fair value changes recognised in profit or loss
Currency translation

575
(2)

As at 31 December 2017

10,574

As of the date of the acquisition, the

€ 1,994 thousand (profit) to profit be-

sets and activities of Hattrick Group with

fair value of the intangible assets was

fore tax from the continuing operations

those of the Group. The goodwill is not

€ 2,660 thousand. The gross amount

of the Group. If the acquisition had taken

deductible for income tax purposes.

was € 133 thousand. The difference

place at the beginning of the year, rev-

between the fair value and the gross

enue from continuing operations would

The acquisition costs amounted to

amount is the result of the (re)valuation

have been approximately € 46,151 thou-

€ 193 thousand and were fully rec-

of the acquired customer relationships.

sand and the profit from continuing op-

ognised in Professional expenses (re-

Deferred tax related to this adjustment

erations for the period would have been

ported under “Third party services”, see

was recognised in liabilities.

approximately € 2,241 thousand.

note 5.9, Other operating expenses).

From the date of acquisition, the Ro-

The goodwill recognised is primarily at-

Reconciliation of the carrying amount of

manian companies have contributed

tributed to the expected synergies and

goodwill at the beginning and end of the

€ 18,374 thousand of revenue and

other benefits from combining the as-

reporting period is presented below:
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€ 000

Goodwill

Gross carrying amount
As of 1 January 2017

47,111

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Hattrick Sports Group)

59,955

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Romanian companies)

41,920

Currency translation

1,926

As of 31 December 2017

150,912

Accumulated impairment losses
As of 1 January 2017

—

Impairment losses recognised during the reporting period

—

Currency translation

—

As of 31 December 2017

—

Net book value
As of 1 January 2017

47,111

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Hattrick Sports Group)

59,955

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Romanian companies)

41,920

Currency translation

1,926

As of 31 December 2017

150,912

5.6 Segment information
For management purposes, Fortuna Group

not qualify as a separate operating seg-

are managed on a group basis and are

is organised into business units based

ment. The information of FEGNV and

not allocated to operating segments.

on geographical areas, and key material

other immaterial locations is included in

aquisitions with the following reportable

the “Other countries” column.

operating segments being distinguished:

•• Czech Republic
•• Slovakia
•• Poland
•• Romania
•• Hattrick Group
•• Other countries

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in

Management monitors the operating re-

a manner similar to transactions with

sults of its business units separately for

third parties. The items included in trans-

the purpose of making decisions about

fer pricing comprise of bookmaking ser-

resource allocation and performance

vices, general management services and

assessment. Segment performance is

IT services which are primarily borne by

evaluated based on operating profit or

Czech entity FORTUNA GAME a. s.

loss which, in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured

The following tables present revenue

The parent company, FEGNV, does not

differently from operating profit or loss

and profit information regarding Fortuna

report any significant results, assets and

in the consolidated financial statements.

Group’s continuing operating segments

liabilities other than its interests in sub-

Group financing (including finance costs

for the years 2018 and 2017, respec-

sidiaries and equity and therefore does

and finance income) and income taxes

tively:
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€ 000
Year ended
31 December 2018

TOTAL
Operating
segments

CZ

SK

PL

RO

Hattrick
Group

Other
countries

IC eliminations

76,869

36,514

56,189

55,589

105,858

4,172

—

335,191

4,576

351

1,050

2,965

11,185

2

—

20,129

—

—

—

—

11

—

—

11

10,218

12,622

16,816

(440)

22,085

564

—

61,865

Capital expenditure

8,157

855

2,412

6,059

7,540

27

—

25,050

Non-current assets

36,131

1,873

4,098

8,130

44,687

194,542

(206,369)

83,092

Operating segment
assets

75,164

30,445

30,405

13,191

50,402

147,658

(75,902)

271,363

Operating segment
liabilities

53,155

11,594

19,201

36,815

74,405

44,871

(75,902)

164,139

Other
countries

IC eliminations

Revenue
Depreciation and
amortisation
Impairment
Operating profit / (loss)

€ 000
Year ended
31 December 2017

Hattrick
Group

TOTAL
Operating
segments

CZ

SK

PL

RO

61,738

33,654

40,636

18,374

56,079

24

(10)

210,495

Depreciation and
amortisation

3,518

401

906

825

6,142

5

—

11,797

Impairment

2,921

—

—

—

—

—

—

2,921

Operating profit / (loss)

3,222

13,161

11,235

3,273

11,883

(1,682)

(653)

40,439

Capital expenditure

5,071

304

1,440

802

3,497

476

—

11,590

Non-current assets

32,705

1,386

2,833

5,057

48,328

194,510

(206,369)

78,450

Operating segment
assets

51,480

29,930

20,368

9,434

30,867

3,655

(38,568)

107,166

Operating segment
liabilities

32,315

9,663

11,877

21,764

72,434

20,359

(38,568)

129,844

Revenue

CZ = Czech Republic; SK = Slovakia; PL = Poland; RO = Romania

Segment results for each operating seg-

Segment assets exclude goodwill of

sand as of 31 December 2018 and 31 De-

ment exclude net finance costs of € 1,651

€ 150,618 thousand and € 150,912 thou-

cember 2017, respectively, and derivatives

thousand and € 15,219 thousand for 2018

sand as of 31 December 2018 and

of € 45 thousand and € 66 thousand as

and 2017 and income tax expense of

31 December 2017, respectively, and

of 31 December 2018 and 31 Decem-

€ 12,558 thousand and € 9,538 thousand

derivatives of EUR 3 thousand as of

ber 2017, respectively, as these liabilities

for 2018 and 2017, respectively.

31 December 2018, as these assets are

are managed on a group basis.

managed on a group basis.
Capital expenditure consists of additions

Segment non-current assets include intangible assets and property, plant and

Segment liabilities excludes bank loans of

to property, plant and equipment and

equipment.

€ 217,069 thousand and € 129,663 thou-

intangible assets.
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I N F O R MATI O N AB O U T P R O D U C T S A N D S E R V I C E S
An analysis of Fortuna Group’s betting revenue from continuing operations for the period is as follows. Amounts Staked do not
represent Fortuna Group’s revenue and comprise of the total Amount Staked by customers on betting activities.

€ 000
Year ended
31 December 2018

CZ

SK

PL

RO

Hattrick
Group

Other

TOTAL
Operating
segments

Total Amounts Staked

1,202,003

492,961

406,418

470,334

1,091,459

71,236

3,734,411

— of which: Bets – Sports
betting & Gaming

1,199,091

489,660

357,648

461,869

1,074,133

71,236

3,653,637

2,912

3,301

48,770

8,465

17,326

(1,092,810)

(425,226)

(297,261)

(402,107)

(973,308)

109,193

67,735

109,157

68,227

118,151

— of which: Online – Sports
betting & Gaming

90,018

52,422

79,502

9,772

— of which: Retail – Sports
betting & Gaming

19,175

15,313

29,655

(27,110)

(29,380)

Other revenues

(5,214)

Revenue

76,869

— of which: Commissions –
Sports betting & Gaming
Paid out prizes
Gross Win

Withholding tax paid

—
(60,075)

80,774
(3,250,787)

11,161

483,624

45,265

—

276,979

58,455

72,886

11,161

206,645

(48,770)

(11,622)

(21,665)

(2,823)

(141,370)

(1,841)

(4,198)

(1,016)

9,372

(4,166)

(7,063)

36,514

56,189

55,589

105,858

4,172

335,191

€ 000
Year ended
31 December 2017

CZ

SK

PL

RO

Hattrick
Group

Other

TOTAL
Operating
segments

Total Amounts Staked

835,207

389,686

255,482

134,917

386,032

155

2,001,479

— of which: Bets – Sports
betting & Gaming

832,617

386,421

224,824

132,061

375,879

155

1,951,957

2,590

3,265

30,658

2,856

10,153

—

(749,547)

(331,542)

(180,799)

(112,419)

(323,987)

(113)

(1,698,407)

Gross Win

85,660

58,144

74,683

22,498

62,044

(43)

303,072

— of which: Online – Sports
betting & Gaming

68,923

43,044

47,303

3,181

18,256

—

180,707

— of which: Retail – Sports
betting & Gaming

16,737

15,100

27,380

19,317

43,788

43

122,365

(20,920)

(23,185)

(30,658)

(3,780)

(10,942)

(19)

(89,504)

Other revenues

(3,011)

(1,305)

(3,389)

(344)

4,976

—

(3,073)

Revenue

61,729

33,654

40,636

18,374

56,078

24

210,495

— of which: Commissions –
Sports betting & Gaming
Paid out prizes

Withholding tax paid

CZ = Czech Republic; SK = Slovakia; PL = Poland; RO = Romania

49,522
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C O N T R A C T BALA N C E S

€ 000

31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2017

1 Jan 2017

9,107

6,273

4,836

Players’ accounts (liabilities)

The current business relations with

for transactions with individual play-

customers are represented with play-

ers. The players’ accounts represent

ers’ accounts, current liability on the

money immediately available to cus-

balance sheet. The Company manages

tomers. There are no material receiva-

the players’ accounts as a wallet used

bles in relation to customers.

5.7 Personnel expenses
€ 000

2018

2017

Wages and salaries

86,682

51,430

Social security costs

11,455

11,567

384

176

3,070

1,508

101,590

64,681

6,078

6,118

12

12

6,066

6,106

17,774

11,230

3,964

4,165

—

—

13,810

7,065

—

—

79

—

1,845

1,413

19,698

12,643

Directors’ remuneration
Other payroll costs
Total

Number of employees in the period:
Average number of employees
Key managers
Staff

Remuneration of key management personnel of Fortuna Group
Wages and salaries
of which:
short-term employee benefits
post employment benefits
other long-term benefits
share-based payment
Termination benefits
Social security costs
Total remuneration
Key management includes country managing directors and group top management.
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5.8 Other operating income
€ 000

2018

2017

32

40

Revenues from rental of real estate

101

131

Other income

394

944

Total

527

1,115

2018

2017

42,752

24,263

7,262

4,501

Marketing and advertising

31,460

17,724

Telecommunication costs

2,262

1,678

Energy and utilities

3,662

2,336

Repairs and maintenance

2,155

947

Taxes and fees to authorities

8,255

2,801

227

528

IT services

13,788

7,891

Third party services (legal, professional etc.)

28,493

21,799

Travelling and entertainment cost

3,102

1,841

Others

8,498

5,408

151,916

91,717

Gain on sale of fixed assets

Other income 2017 includes services

€ 520 thousand (pre-acquisition period

and the trademark lease rendered to

in 2017 only). For more information refer

Romanian entities in the amounts of

to note 5.33.

5.9 Other operating expenses
€ 000
Operating lease expense (note 5.34)
Materials and office supplies

Bad debt expense

Total

Expenses of the Czech, Slovak, Polish,

loss including VAT, as VAT cannot be

Croatian and Romanian companies are

claimed on the input side.

charged to the statement of profit or
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5.10 Finance costs and income
€ 000

2018

2017

Interest on bank loans

3,604

2,581

2

16

Other finance costs

1,019

753

Financial assets and liabilities at FV through P&L (contingent consideration
transferred)

1,677

8,702

Foreign exchange losses

1,266

6,233

Total finance costs

7,568

18,285

Interest on bank deposits

198

118

Other finance income

565

142

Financial assets and liabilities at FV through P&L

3,624

—

Foreign exchange gains

1,530

2,806

Total finance income

5,917

3,066

Total finance costs, net

1,651

15,219

Interest on other debts and borrowings

Financial assets and liabilities at FV

from the acquisition of Hattrick Sports

through P&L represents a change in val-

Group and former Fortbet Romanian

ue of the variable part of consideration

companies.
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5.11 Discontinued operations
In December 2017, management of

held for sale and as discontinued op-

the Czech Republic lottery segment.

Fortuna Group decided to start the

erations. The sale was completed on

Being classified as discontinued op-

process to sell a 98.4% share in FOR-

23 May 2017. The consideration re-

erations, the Czech Republic lottery

TUNA sázky a. s. to an unrelated party.

ceived of € 4,315 thousand represents

segment is no longer presented in the

On 9 March 2017, Fortuna announced

cash proceeds for the 98.4%, net of the

segment note. The results of FORTUNA

the intention to sell the Czech lottery

related reimbursement of the minority

sázky, a. s. are presented below; the

business. From December 2017 FOR-

shareholder. The business of FORTUNA

current period ends on the day of the

TUNA sázky a. s. was classified asas

sázky a. s. represented the entirety of

transaction completion:

€ 000

2018

2017

Amounts Staked

—

5,664

Revenue

—

1,870

Personnel expenses

—

(610)

Depreciation and amortisation

—

—

Impairment of PPE and intangible assets

—

(5)

Other operating income

—

3

Other operating expenses

—

(1,465)

Operating profit

—

(207)

Finance income

—

45

Finance cost

—

(9)

Profit before tax

—

(171)

Income tax expense

—

—

Loss on disposal of discontinued operations

—

(74)

Profit for the year from discontinued operations

—

(245)

2018

2017

Total Amounts Staked

—

5,664

Paid out prizes

—

(3,291)

Gross Win

—

2,373

Withholding tax paid

—

(543)

Other revenues

—

40

Revenue

—

1,870

Analysis of the Lottery Revenue is as follows:
€ 000
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The assets and liabilities of FORTUNA sázky a. s. classified as held for the sale of the parent as of the closing date (23 May 2017) are
as follows:

€ 000

23 May 2017

Assets
Intangible assets

36

Property, plant and equipment

1,199

Deferred tax assets

147

Restricted cash

1,893

Other non-current assets

221

Current receivables

263

Other current assets

1,234

Cash and cash equivalents

1,044

Assets held for sale

6,037

Liabilities
Provisions

867

Trade and other payables – ST

635

Provisions – ST

63

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale

1,565

Net assets directly associated with disposal group

4,472

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

(125)

Reserve of disposal group classified as held for sale

(125)

The net cash flows incurred by FORTUNA sázky a. s. are as follows:

€ 000

2018

2017

Operating

—

3,120

Investing

—

(40)

Financing

—

—

Net cash outflow / inflow

—

3,080

2018

2017

Basic, profit / (loss) for the year

—

(0.005)

Diluted, profit / (loss) for the year

—

(0.005)

€ Earnings per share from discontinued operations

5.13

75
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5.12 Income tax
The major components of the income tax expense are:

€ 000

2018

2017

16,820

11,386

(126)

607

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences

(4,136)

(2,455)

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss

12,558

9,538

Income tax expense from continuing operations

12,558

9,538

—

—

Current income tax:
Current income tax charge
Prior year adjustments
Deferred tax:

Income tax expense from discontinued operations

Reconciliation of the income tax ex-

tory income tax rate to income tax

31 December 2018 and 2017, respec-

pense applicable to the accounting

expense at Fortuna Group’s effective

tively, is as follows:

profit before income tax at the statu-

income tax rate for the years ended

€ 000

2018

2017

60,214

25,220

—

(171)

Accounting profit before income tax

60,214

25,049

At Dutch statutory income tax rate of 25% (2017: 25%)

15,054

6,262

Effect of permanent and other differences

(2,469)

67

Effect of tax losses utilisation

(827)

—

Unrecognised tax asset from the tax losses incurred

1,004

1,493

Tax non-deductible expenses

6,330

2,959

Non-taxable betting revenues

—

—

(2,282)

—

(126)

607

Effect of higher/lower tax rates in other countries

(4,216)

(1,850)

At the effective income tax rate of 20.9% (2017: 38.1%)

12,558

9,538

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement

12,558

9,538

—

—

12,558

9,538

Accounting profit before income tax from continuing operations
Profit / (loss) before tax from discontinued operations

Non-taxable other income
Adjustments in respect to current income tax of previous years

Income tax attributable to discontinued operations
Total
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D E F E R R E D TA X
Deferred tax relates to the following:
Consolidated
statement of
profit or loss

Consolidated statement
of financial position

€ 000

31 December
2018

31 December
2017

(5,836)

(6,967)

6,274

Tax losses carried forward
Difference between carrying amounts of
trademarks for accounting and tax purposes

Difference between carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment for accounting and tax
purposes
Impairment adjustments and provisions

Other

1 January
2017

2018

2017

91

922

632

3,489

1,887

2,824

1,822

—

2

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

500

324

87

143

—

3,889

2,454

Deferred tax income / (expense)
Deferred tax asset / (liability)

938

(3,152)

2,065

6,763

3,831

2,065

(5,825)

(6,983)

—

Deferred tax asset / (liability), net

938

(3,152)

2,065

Deferred tax asset / (liability), net, attributable to
a continuing operation

938

(3,152)

1,921

Deferred tax asset / (liability), net, attributable to
the disposal group held for sale

—

—

144

Reflected in the statement of the financial position
as follows:
Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax liability

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the consolidated statement of the financial position are € 20,071 thousand (2017: € 14,616 thousand). Tax losses come primarily from holding companies.

Year of expiration

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2027

Total

Amount of tax losses

1,577

1,437

2,522

448

3,281

1,743

5,418

2,457

1,188

20,071

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset:
€ 000

2018

2017

Opening balance as at 1 January

3,831

2,065

Tax income (expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss

2,971

1,905

6

3

(45)

2

—

(144)

6,763

3,831

Tax income (expense) during the period recognised in other comprehensive income
Currency translation
Discontinued operations
Closing balance, 31 December

77
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Reconciliation of deferred tax liability:

€ 000

2018

2017

Opening balance as of 1 January

6,983

—

—

7,699

1

—

(1,164)

(663)

5

(53)

—

—

5,825

6,983

Deferred tax liability acquired as part of subsidiary
Tax income (expense) during the period recognised in other comprehensive income
Tax income (expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss
Currency translation
Discontinued operations
Closing balance, 31 December

5.13 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated

There were no dilutive potential ordi-

come and share data used in the

by dividing the net profit for the year

nary shares as of 31 December 2018

basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the equity holders of

and 2017, respectively. Basic and

computations:

the parent by the weighted average

diluted earnings per share were the

number of ordinary shares in FEGNV

same. The following reflects the in-

outstanding during the year.

€ 000

2018

2017

47,656

15,682

—

(240)

47,656

15,442

52,000,000

52,000,000

Profit / (loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent :
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent for earnings
per share calculation
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for earnings per share calculation

Statement of profit or loss – €

2018

2017

Basic and diluted earnings per share

0.916

0.297

Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations

0.916

0.302

—

(0.005)

Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations

No other transactions involving or-

ing date and the date of completion

dinary shares or potential ordinary

of these consolidated financial state-

shares took place between the report-

ments.
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5.14 Goodwill
€ 000
1 January 2018

150,912

Additions arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

—

Disposal of subsidiaries

—

Currency translation

(294)

31 December 2018

150,618

€ 000
1 January 2017

47,111

Additions arising on acquisition of subsidiaries

101,875

Disposal of subsidiaries

—

Currency translation

1,926

31 December 2017

150,912

Goodwill arising from a business combi-

ting and gaming industry and Hattrick

of 4 years (2018-2021) assumes year

nation is allocated upon an acquisition

companies operating in the sports bet-

on year average growth of 17.66% in

to each of Fortuna Group’s cash gen-

ting and gaming industry. The impair-

Revenue. A long-term growth rate of

erating units (CGUs) expected to ben-

ment test of goodwill (which relates to

3% per annum (2017: 3%) is assumed

efit from the synergies of the business

Czech companies) also includes the new

for the period beyond the explicit cash

combination.

gaming platform which makes the major

flow projection.

part of intangible assets.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs

The cash flow projection covers a pe-

are determined from the higher value-

The cash flow projection covers a pe-

riod of four years and is discounted

in-use calculations and the fair values

riod of four years (2017: 4 years) and

using an average pre-tax discount rate

of the related CGUs. The key assump-

is discounted using an average pre-tax

of 15.0% for Hattrick Romania CGU

tions for the value-in-use calculations

discount rate of 11.3% (2017: 9.2%) for

(2017: 12.9.%). The forecasted period

are those regarding discount rates,

the Czech Republic. The forecasted pe-

of 4 years (2018-2021) assumes year

growth rates and expected changes in

riod of 4 years (2018-2021) assumes

on year average growth of 25.36% in

revenue and direct costs incurred dur-

year on year average growth of 1% in

Revenue. A long-term growth rate of

ing the year. Management estimates

Revenue. A long-term growth rate of 3%

2% per annum (2017: 2%) is assumed

discount rates using pre-tax rates that

(2017: 3%) per annum is assumed for

for Hattrick Romania CGU, for the

reflect current market assessments of

the period beyond the explicit cash flow

period beyond the explicit cash flow

the time value of money and the risks

projection.

projection.

The cash flow projection covers a pe-

The cash flow projection covers a pe-

The current goodwill relates to acquisi-

riod of four years and is discounted

riod of four years and is discounted

tions of Czech companies operating in

using an average pre-tax discount rate

using an average pre-tax discount

the sports betting industry, Romanian

of 14.8% for the Fortuna Romania CGU

rate of 11.9% for Hattrick Croatia CGU

companies operating in the sports bet-

(2017: 12.6.%). The forecasted period

(2017: 10.6%). The forecasted period

specific to the CGUs.
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of 4 years (2018-2021) assumes year

beyond the explicit cash flow projec-

tified any impairment indicators of the

on year average growth of 11.31% in

tion.

recognised goodwill.

per annum (2017: 3%) is assumed for

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, re-

The carrying amount of goodwill has

Hattrick Croatia CGU, for the period

spectively, Fortuna Group has not iden-

been allocated as follows:

Revenue. A long-term growth rate 3%

C a rry i ng a m oun t of good w i l l a l l oc a t ed t o seg m en t s

€ 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Czech Republic – sports betting

49,483

49,841

Hattrick Sports Group – sports betting & gaming

59,852

59,745

Fortuna Romania – sports betting & gaming

41,283

41,326

150,618

150,912

Total

Fortuna Group annually tests goodwill

Sensitivity to changes in

reasonably possible change in any of the

for impairment or more frequently if

assumptions

above key assumptions would cause the

there are indications that goodwill might

With regard to the assessment of value-

carrying amount of goodwill to materially

be impaired.

in-use, management believes that no

exceed its recoverable amount.
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5.15 Intangible assets
Software

Brand
name

Other
intangible
fixed assets

Assets not
yet in use

Total

21,804

22,202

25,138

5,187

74,331

—

—

—

—

—

Additions

4,533

—

20

4,433

8,986

Disposals

(7)

—

(4)

(2,921)

(2,932)

Transfers

4,460

—

26

(6,327)

(1,841)

Currency translation

(111)

(42)

(10)

(9)

(172)

31 December 2018

30,679

22,160

25,170

363

78,372

1 January 2018

7,493

816

3,026

2,921

14,256

Amortisation for the year

5,620

893

4,260

—

10,773

Impairment

11

—

—

—

11

Disposals

(7)

—

(4)

(2,921)

(2,932)

Transfers

(1,865)

—

24

—

(1,841)

Currency translation

(51)

6

(12)

—

(57)

31 December 2018

11,201

1,715

7,294

—

20,210

Carrying amount 31 December 2018

19,477

20,445

17,876

363

58,162

Carrying amount 1 January 2018

14,311

21,386

22,112

2,266

60,075

€ 000

Cost:
1 January 2018
Acquisition of subsidiaries

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
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Software

Brand
name

Other
intangible
assets

Assets not
yet in use

Total

9,105

6,053

438

9,217

24,813

10,773

16,021

19,319

—

46,113

Additions

2,251

—

47

1,956

4,254

Disposals

(2,059)

—

(4)

—

(2,063)

Transfers

1,188

—

5,159

(6,356)

(9)

Currency translation

546

128

179

370

1,223

31 December 2017

21,804

22,202

25,138

5,187

74,331

1 January 2017

6,265

—

327

—

6,592

Amortisation for the year

3,266

817

2,694

—

6,777

—

—

—

2,921

2,921

Disposals

(2,059)

—

(4)

—

(2,063)

Transfers

—

—

—

—

—

Currency translation

21

(1)

9

—

29

31 December 2017

7,493

816

3,026

2,921

14,256

14,311

21,386

22,112

2,266

60,075

2,840

6,053

111

9,217

18,221

€ 000

Cost:
1 January 2017
Acquisition of subsidiaries

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:

Impairment

Carrying amount 31 December 2017
Carrying amount 1 January 2017

B R A N D N AM E

carrying amount of the intangible asset

discount rate of 11.3% (2017: 9.2%) for

Upon the acquisition of the subsidiary

was € 6,357 thousand as of 31 Decem-

the Czech Republic. A long-term growth

Fortuna sázková kancelář a. s. (merged

ber 2018 (2017: € 6,403 thousand). The

rate of 3% (2018: 3%) per annum is as-

with FORTUNA GAME, a. s., effective

brand name was pledged as a security

sumed for the period beyond the explicit

1 January 2012), the Consolidated Group

for bank loans (note 5.29).

cash flow projection.

“FORTUNA” which was assessed as hav-

The intangible asset does not generate

S ens i t i v i t y t o c h a nges

ing an indefinite useful life, as there is

largely independent cash inflows and is al-

i n a ssu m p t i ons

no foreseeable limit to the period over

located to the Czech operations as the low-

With regard to the assessment of value-

which it is expected to generate net cash

est level of cash generating unit. The Czech

in-use, management believes that no

inflows, given the strength and durabil-

operation was tested for impairment by

reasonably possible change in any of the

ity of the brand and the level of market-

applying the discounted cash flow tech-

above key assumptions would cause the

ing support. The brand has been on the

nique and using projected financial results.

carrying amount of the unit to materially

recognised the intangible brand name

market in the Czech Republic since 1990.

exceed its recoverable amount.
The cash flow projection covers a pe-

The intangible is not amortised and is

riod of four years (2017: 4 years) and

Within the acquisition of Hattrick

tested for impairment at year-end. The

is discounted using an average pre-tax

Group, new Brand names were rec-
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ognized on the balance sheet of the

O t h er i n t a ng i b l e a sse t s

new sports betting and gaming plat-

Group. Casa Pariurilor is a brand name

Other intangible assets represent primar-

form. Part of the assets was put in use

related to the Romanian market and

ily betting and gaming licences (€ 11,896

in 2018 due to launching a new gaming

PSK represents a well-known trade-

thousand) and customer relationship da-

platform. Because of change in plat-

mark on the Croatian market. Those

tabases (€ 2,282 thousand) recognized

form development strategy, portion of

brand names are amortised and the

as an intangible asset within acqusition.

the Assets not yet in use was identified
as unusable for the future and was im-

amortisation period is set to 180
months. The brand names are pledged

Asse t s no t ye t i n use

paired in the amount of € 2,921 thou-

as a security on bank loans in favour of

Assets not yet in use as of 31 Decem-

sand. The impaired asset was disposed

Česká Spořitelna a. s.

ber 2017 include investment in the

in 2018.

5.16 Property, plant and equipment
Land and
buildings

Plant and
equipment

Assets not
yet in use

Total

2,658

29,858

2,185

34,701

Acquisition of subsidiaries

—

—

—

—

Additions1

31

13,088

2,979

16,098

Disposals

(51)

(1,913)

—

(1,964)

Transfers

93

2,087

(2,180)

—

Currency translation

(20)

(233)

(40)

(293)

31 December 2018

2,711

42,887

2,944

48,542

1,506

14,820

—

16,326

139

9,261

—

9,400

Disposals

(381)

(1,553)

—

(1,934)

Transfers

—

—

—

—

Currency translation

9

171

—

180

31 December 2018

1,255

22,357

—

23,612

Carrying amount 31 December 2018

1,456

20,530

2,944

24,930

Carrying amount 1 January 2018

1,152

15,038

2,185

18,375

€ 000
Cost:
1 January 2018

Accumulated depreciation:
1 January 2018
Depreciation charge for the year

1	The most significant additons in 2018 relate to investment into Retail network (IT and other equipment including furniture, outfit, slot machines etc.) in the total amount of
€ 10,618 thousands.
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Land and
buildings

Plant and
equipment

Assets not
yet in use

Total

2,327

14,626

3,521

20,474

Acquisition of subsidiaries

670

8,778

—

9,448

Additions

103

4,406

2,932

7,441

Disposals

(571)

(2,845)

—

(3,416)

Transfers

39

4,365

(4,395)

9

Currency translation

90

528

127

745

31 December 2017

2,658

29,858

2,185

34,701

1,676

12,324

—

14,000

304

4,716

—

5,020

Disposals

(540)

(2,662)

—

(3,202)

Transfers

—

—

—

—

Currency translation

66

442

—

508

31 December 2017

1,506

14,820

—

16,326

Carrying amount 31 December 2017

1,152

15,038

2,185

18,375

651

2,302

3,521

6,474

€ 000
Cost:
1 January 2017

Accumulated depreciation:
1 January 2017
Depreciation charge for the year

Carrying amount 1 January 2017
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5.17 Current receivables
€ 000

31.12. 2018

31.12. 2017

Receivables from related parties

50

55

Advance payments and deposits

3,741

3,722

Other receivables (current)

10,196

4,635

Total

13,987

8,412

Current receivables

For terms and conditions relating

As of 31 December 2018, the provision

to related party receivables, refer to

for impairment of trade receivables (ex-

note 5.33.

cluding receivables from employees mentioned above) amounted to € 529 thou-

Current receivables also include receiva-

sand (2017: € 425 thousand). See the

bles related to licensing (B2B) and pay-

table below for the movements in the

ment methods.

provision for impairment of receivables.

Movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables

€ 000

1 January 2018

425

Amounts written off during the year

(12)

Charge for the year

115

Currency translation
Provisions transferred to the Assets held for sale
31 December 2018

1 January 2017
Acquisition of subsidiaries

1
—
529

1
412

Charge for the year

11

Currency translation

1

31 December 2017

425
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The following table relates to the ageing of current receivables. As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, respectively, most of the receivables were
neither past due nor impaired.

Past due
€ 000

Not yet due

Total
<30 days

31‑60 days

61‑90 days

91‑180 days

>181 days

31 December 2018

12,084

1,340

54

7

25

477

13,987

31 December 2017

6,343

973

16

126

73

881

8,412

In the consolidated statement of the financial position of the Company, there are no other financial assets that are past due but not
impaired.

5.18 Other assets
Other non-current assets – € 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

42

42

3,746

2,545

256

—

Other

3

161

Total

4,047

2,748

Advance payments and security deposits – related parties
Advance payments and security deposits
Prepayments

Advance payments and security deposits consist mostly of rental deposits paid for rent on branches and offices.

Other current assets – € 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Goods for sale

14

60

Other inventory

527

413

—

—

Prepayments

10,214

7,774

Total

10,755

8,247

Prepayments – related parties

Prepayments consist mostly of prepaid rent on branches and offices.
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5.19 Related party loan
Related party loan – € 000
Related party loan
Related party loan – interest
Total

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

105,000

—

84

—

105,084

—

Fortuna Group rendered a loan to its parent, Fortbet Holdings Ltd. in the amount of 105,000 tsd. EUR split into two tranches.

Facility
€ 000

Starting
date

Expiration
date

Effective
average
interest %

Fortbet Holdings

74,391

20 Dec 18

24 Apr 23

2.360%

Fortbet Holdings

30,693

20 Dec 18

24 Apr 23

2.460%

Company

Total

105,084

Interest rate is based on the calculation of 3M EURIBOR and a margin of 2.36% (tranche € 74,332 tsd.) and a margin of 2,46% (tranche
€ 30,668 tsd.)

Move m en t s i n t h e l o a n f a c i l i t i es dur i ng 2 0 1 8
€ 000

Fortbet

Fortbet

Total

—

—

—

74,332

30,668

105,000

Interest

59

25

84

Repayments

—

—

—

Currency translation

—

—

—

31 December 2018

74,391

30,693

105,084

—

—

—

1 January 2018
Additions

Of which current portion
The rendered loan is denominated in EUR.
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5.20 Restricted cash
€ 000
Restricted cash

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

734

3,101

Fortuna Group has limited access

cording to Romanian legislation, a bet-

pany can only withdraw the security

to the above-mentioned cash de-

ting company has to deposit certain

upon receiving an approval from the

posits made with banks. The funds

amounts of cash as security for poten-

state authorities once the gaming ac-

are blocked in accordance with the

tial liabilities to the state and bettors

tivity terminates.

Gaming regulations in Romania. Ac-

to a special bank account. The Com-

5.21 Loan notes
€ 000
Loan notes
Loan notes (interest)
31 December

2018

2017

20,000

—

411
20,411

—

The Group acquired two Loan notes from a related party, Penta funding a. s. The Loan notes are due in June 2019 and bear a fixed
interest rate of 3.7%.

5.22 Bank term deposit
€ 000
Term deposit
Term deposit (interest)
31 December

2018

2017

25,000

—

1

—

25,001

—

The Company deposited cash in the amount of 25,000 tsd. EUR to a related party, PRIMA bank a. s. The term deposit is due in April 2019.
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5.23 Cash and cash equivalents
€ 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Cash at bank

73,890

69,528

Cash in hand and in transit

10,488

11,188

Cash and cash equivalents

84,378

80,716

31.12.2018
Assets

31.12.2017
Assets

Cash flow hedge

3

—

Total

3

—

31.12.2018
Liabilities

31.12.2017
Liabilities

Cash flow hedge

45

66

Total

45

66

Cash at bank bears interest at floating

Fortuna Group has pledged € 49,911

rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

thousand of its cash in bank deposits as
security for bank loans (2017: € 46,466

Short-term deposits are classified as

thousand).

a cash equivalent only if they have terms
to a maturity of three months or less.

5.24 Derivatives
As at 31 December 2018, Fortuna Group

swaps fixed the 3-month PRIBOR/EU-

held interest rate swaps with a notional

RIBOR variable interest rates and were

amount of € 51,400 thousand. These

designated as cash flow hedges.

Interest rate swaps – € 000

Interest rate swaps – € 000
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5.25 Issued capital and reserves
Au t h or i sed s h a res
2018
# of shares
thousands

2017
# of shares
thousands

250,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

# of shares
thousands

Par value
per share
€

Share capital
€ 000

31 December 2018

52,000

0.01

520

31 December 2017

52,000

0.01

520

Ordinary shares of € 0.01 each

O rd i n a ry s h a res i ssued a nd fu l l y p a i d

S TAT U T O R Y R E S E R V E

In Slovakia, contributions must be at

The reserve represents the amount of

In accordance with the commercial law

least 10% of the share capital upon the

the undistributable funds, which cannot

in the Czech Republic (until 31 Decem-

foundation of the Company and at least

be transferred to the parent company

ber 2013) and Slovakia, companies have

10% of after-tax profit for each subse-

in the form of dividends. The dividend

been required to form an undistribut-

quent year, until the fund reaches at

capacity of FEGNV is not affected as the

able statutory reserve for contingencies

least 20% of share capital. The fund can

distribution to FEGNV shareholders is

against possible future losses and other

only be used to offset losses.

determined only by the shareholders’

events.

equity of FEGNV.
Romanian legislation states that the le-

Until 31 December 2013 in the Czech

gal reserve is deductible within the limit

HEDGE RESERVE

Republic, contributions were at least

of 5% applied to the accounting profit,

The net loss on cash flow hedges recog-

20% of after-tax profit in the first

plus the corporation tax expense, until

nised in equity as of 31 December 2018

year in which profits were made and

it reaches 20% of the share capital. The

was € 66 thousand net of the tax effect

5% of after-tax profit for each subse-

reserve is calculated cumulatively from

of € 6 thousand, i.e. € 60 thousand.

quent year, unless the fund reached

the beginning of the year and is deduct-

at least 20% of share capital. The fund

ible in the calculation of the quarterly or

N AT U R E A N D P U R P O S E

could only be used to offset losses.

annual tax result, as the case may be.

OF RESERVES

Since 2014, with new legislation in

The reserves so formed will increase or

Foreign currency translation

place, this obligation was cancelled. As

decrease depending on the level of the

reserve

a consequence, ALICELA a. s. and RIVER-

accounting profit in the calculation pe-

The foreign currency translation re-

HILL a. s. transferred statutory reserves

riod. Also, the increase or decrease of

serve is used to record exchange dif-

to the retained earnings in 2014, FOR-

the reserve thus created is also made

ferences arising from the translation

TUNA GAME a. s. in 2017 and FORTUNA

depending on the level of the share

of the financial information of foreign

RENT s. r. o. in 2015.

capital.

subsidiaries.
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5.26 Dividends paid and proposed
Since 2015, the dividend policy of FEG

nel, multi-product and multi-country

In light of this development, the man-

has been under review due to the

capability, operational excellence and

agement of Fortuna Entertainment

planned investments in future growth

people that will support further organ-

Group N. V. will propose zero dividend pay-

opportunities, especially investments in

ic growth and expansion into Central

ments in 2017 and 2018. The long term

a new IT platform enabling multi-chan-

& Eastern Europe.

dividend policy will be revised after 2018.

F AI R V AL U E HI E R A R C H Y

All financial instruments carried at fair value

•• Level 3 – Valuation techniques (non-

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017,

are categorised in three categories by refer-

respectively, Fortuna Group had open

ence to the observability and significance of

bets, which are regarded as derivative

the inputs used in measuring fair value. The

As of 31 December 2018, the Group held

contracts, at a fair value of € 2,122 thou-

categories are defined as follows:

the following financial instruments meas-

5.27 Fair values

sand (liability), and € 1,582 thousand (liability), respectively. In 2018, an interest
rate swap fair value in the amount of
€ 66 thousand was also included.

•• Level 1 – Quoted market prices
•• Level 2 – Valuation techniques (mar-

market observable)

ured at fair value:

ket observable)

31 December 2018
€ 000

Level 1
€ 000

Level 2
€ 000

Level 3
€ 000

(2,122)

—

—

(2,122)

Interest rate swaps

(45)

—

(45)

—

Jackpot provision

(18)

—

(18)

—

Financial instruments
Open bets (from continuing and discontinued operations)

Open bets are regarded as derivative

a result the difference between the fair

include swap models, using present

financial instruments which are not

value of these financial instruments as

value calculations. The models incorpo-

quoted on an active market and for

of the year-end and the actual pay-out

rate various inputs including the credit

which no observable data is available;

is deemed immaterial. A higher average

duality of counterparties and interest

the fair value of these financial instru-

margin on betting would result in a lower

rate curves.

ments is not determined by reference to

fair value of open bets.

published price quotations or estimated

Jackpot provision is recognised in fair

by using a valuation technique based on

Fortuna Group enters into interest rate

value as derivative and is classified as

assumptions supported by prices from

swap contracts with various counter-

a long-term provision (note 5.28)

observable current market transactions.

parties, principally financial institutions

Their fair value is derived from the aver-

with investment grade credit ratings.

Set out below is a comparison by class

age margin on betting events realised by

The derivatives valued using valuation

between the carrying amounts and fair

the Group in the previous three months.

techniques with market observable in-

values of Fortuna Group’s financial in-

Open bets are paid out within a short

puts are interest rate swaps. The most

struments as disclosed in the financial

time-frame after the year-end and as

frequently applied valuation techniques

statements.
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Carrying amount
€ 000

Fair value
€ 000

105,084

105,084

734

734

4,047

4,047

Current receivables

13,987

13,987

Loan notes

20,411

20,411

Bank term deposit

25,001

25,001

Cash and cash equivalents

84,378

84,378

184,806

184,806

Other non-current liabilities

21,971

21,971

Trade and other payables

61,837

61,837

Current portion of long-term bank loans

32,263

32,263

45

45

29,775

29,775

Carrying amount
€ 000

Fair value
€ 000

Restricted cash

3,101

3,101

Other non-current assets

2,748

2,748

Current receivables

8,412

8,412

80,716

80,716

113,615

113,615

Other non-current liabilities

50,231

50,231

Trade and other payables

47,405

47,405

Current portion of long-term bank loans

16,048

16,048

66

66

1,658

1,658

31 December 2018
Assets
Related party loan
Restricted cash
Other non-current assets

Liabilities
Long-term bank loans

Derivatives
Other current financial liabilities (open bets)

31 December 2017
Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities
Long-term bank loans

Derivatives
Other current financial liabilities (includes open bets)
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The fair value of the financial assets

rying amounts largely due to the short-

and 2017, respectively, the carrying

and liabilities is included at the amount

term maturities of these instruments.

amounts of such receivables, net of al-

at which the instrument could be ex-

lowances, were not materially different

changed in a current transaction be-

Long-term fixed-rate and variable-rate

tween willing parties, other than in

receivables and borrowings are evalu-

from their calculated fair values.

a forced or liquidation sale.

ated by Fortuna Group based on pa-

The fair value of loans from banks and

rameters such as interest rates, spe-

other financial liabilities, obligations un-

The following methods and assumptions

cific country risk factors, the individual

der finance leases as well as other non-

were used to estimate the fair values:

creditworthiness of customers and risk

current financial liabilities are estimated

characteristics of the financed project.

by discounting future cash flows using

Cash and short-term deposits, current

Based on this evaluation, provisions are

rates currently available for debt on

receivables, trade payables, and other

formed for the expected losses of these

similar terms, credit risk and remaining

current liabilities approximate their car-

receivables. As of 31 December 2018

maturities.

5.28 Provisions
€ 000
1 January 2018
Acquisition of subsidiaries

Employee
bonuses

Jackpot

Other
provisions

Total

15,371

—

1,024

16,395

—

—

—

Additions

19,805

18

3,999

23,822

Utilised

(4,979)

—

(235)

(5,214)

—

—

—

—

(171)

—

(11)

(182)

—

—

—

—

30,026

18

4,777

34,821

Short-term part of the provision

4,066

—

4,764

8,830

Long-term part of the provision

25,960

18

13

25,991

31 December 2018

30,026

18

4,777

34,821

Discount rate adjustment
Currency translation
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale
31 December 2018
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€ 000

Employee
bonuses

Jackpot

Other
provisions

Total

6,161

—

795

6,956

441

441

1 January 2017
Acquisition of subsidiaries

—

Additions

11,152

—

174

11,326

Utilised

(2,525)

—

(419)

(2,944)

—

—

—

—

583

—

33

616

—

—

—

—

15,371

—

1,024

16,395

Short-term part of the provision

4,844

—

1,016

5,860

Long-term part of the provision

10,527

—

8

10,535

31 December 2017

15,371

—

1,024

16,395

Discount rate adjustment
Currency translation
Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale
31 December 2017

EMPLOYEE BONUSES

in cash in 2019 after the confirmation

published price quotations or estimated

The Company has formed a provision

of the annual results by the General

by using a valuation technique based on

for employee bonuses which relates

meeting. The recognised provision for

assumptions supported by prices from

to both the long-term incentive (LTIP)

LTIPs is established based on the period

observable current market transactions.

plan as well as annual bonuses. The

served by the employee in proportion

It is accrued at each draw taking into ac-

long-term incentive plan represents

to the total target period.

count the long-term pay-out ratio. The

a motivation plan for key management

provision for Jackpot is reported in as-

for the period of 3 to 5 years. The exact

P R O V I S I O N F O R JA C K P O T

amount is uncertain as it represents

Jackpot provision is accounted for at

management’s best estimate. Employ-

fair value as derivative. As this financial

O TH E R P R O V I S I O N S

ee bonuses are conditional on meeting

instrument is not quoted on an active

Other provisions contain liabilities re-

goals which are set in advance (EBITDA).

market and no observable data is avail-

lated to possible legal claims, bonuses

If the targets are met at the minimum

able, the fair value of this financial instru-

to suppliers and other liabilities with

level of 90%, the bonuses will be paid

ment is not determined by reference to

uncertain timing or amount.

sets held for sale.
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5.29 Bank loans
The summary of the actual structure of the syndicated loans provided by Česká Spořitelna, a. s., acting as an agent and security agent,
is provided below:

Long-term
bank loans

Currency

Nominal
interest rate

Facility A1

CZK

3M PRIBOR
+ 1.10%

Facility A2

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.05%

Facility A3

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.05%

Facility A4

EUR

3M PRIBOR
+ 2.05%

Facility A5

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.05%

Facility B1

CZK

3M PRIBOR
+ 1.20%

Facility B2

CZK

3M PRIBOR
+ 1.20%

Facility A6

RON

3M ROBOR
+ 1.50%

Facility A7

RON

3M ROBOR
+ 1.50%

Facility A8

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.05%

Facility B3

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.15%

Security
Shares of the subsidiary companies FORTUNA
GAME a. s., RIVERHILL a. s., ALICELA a. s., Fortuna
Entertainment Group N. V., Hattrick PSK d.o.o.,
Hattrick Bet s.r.l.,
FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.,
Bet Active s.r.l., Bet Zone s.r.l., Public Slots s.r.l., Slot
Arena s.r.l., Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l. and
Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.;
Bank accounts receivables FORTUNA
GAME a. s., FORTUNA SK a. s., FORTUNA online
zakłady bukmacherskie Sp.z o. o., RIVERHILL a. s.,
ALICELA a. s., Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.,
Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l., Fortuna Bet
Holding s.r.l., Hattrick PSK d.o.o., Hattrick Bet s.r.l.,
Bet Active s.r.l., Bet Zone s.r.l., Public Slots s.r.l. Slot
Arena s.r.l. ;
IC receivables FORTUNA GAME a. s.,
FORTUNA SK a. s., Hattrick PSK d.o.o.,
Hattrick Bet s.r.l.,FORTUNA online zakłady
bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o., FORTUNA SK a. s., Slot
Arena s.r.l., Public Slots s.r.l., Bet Zone s.r.l., Fortuna
Entertainment Group N. V.;
Receivables related to acquisition agreements
Hattrick PSK d.o.o. (Hattrick acquisition), Fortuna Bet
Shops Holding s.r.l. and Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.,
Bet Active s.r.l., Bet Zone s.r.l.;
Intellectual property (trade marks, internet
domains) Hattrick PSK d.o.o., FORTUNA GAME a. s.,
Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V., FORTUNA online
zaklady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o., Bet Active s.r.l.,
Hattrick Bet s.r.l.

Maturity

2018
€ 000

April 2023

15,671

April 2023

9,079

April 2023

1,297

April 2023

15,738

April 2023

11,068

April 2023

31,030

April 2023

10,138

April 2023

10,229

April 2023

8,402

April 2023

73,727

April 2023

30,690

Total long-term bank loans

217,069

of which non-current portion

184,806

of which current portion

32,263
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Long-term
bank loans

Currency

Nominal
interest rate

Facility A1

CZK

3M PRIBOR
+ 2.00%

Facility A2

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.15%

Facility A3

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.15%

Facility A4

EUR

3M PRIBOR
+ 2.15%

Facility A5

EUR

3M EURIBOR
+ 2.15%

Facility B1

CZK

3M PRIBOR
+ 2.10%

Facility B2

CZK

3M PRIBOR
+ 2.10%

Facility A6

RON

3M ROBOR
+ 2.30%

Facility A7

RON

3M ROBOR
+ 2.30%

Security

Maturity

2017
€ 000

Shares of the subsidiary companies FORTUNA
GAME a. s., RIVERHILL a. s., ALICELA a. s., Fortuna
Entertainment Group Ltd., Fortuna Virtual d.o.o.,
Hattrick PSK d.o.o., Hattrick Bet S.R.L.;
Intellectual property FORTUNA GAME a.s, FORTUNA
online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o. o., Hattrick
PSK d.o.o., Hattrick Bet S.R.L.;
Bank accounts receivables FORTUNA GAME a. s.,
FORTUNA SK a. s., FORTUNA online zakłady
bukmacherskie Sp. z o. o., RIVERHILL a. s., ALICELA a. s.,
Fortuna Entertainment Group Ltd., Fortuna
Virtual d.o.o., Fortuna Bet Shops Holding S.R.L.,
Fortuna Bet Holding S.R.L., Hattrick PSK d.o.o., Hattrick
Bet S.R.L.;
IC receivables FORTUNA GAME a. s., FORTUNA SK a. s.,
Hattrick PSK d.o.o., Hattrick Bet S.R.L.;
Receivables related to acquisition agreements
Fortuna Virtual d.o.o. (Hattrick acquisition), Fortuna Bet
Shops Holding S.R.L. and Fortuna Bet Holding S.R.L.
Intellectual property – trade marks, internet domains

April 2023

19,268

April 2023

11,098

April 2023

1,582

April 2023

19,437

April 2023

13,673

April 2023

31,649

April 2023

10,162

April 2023

12,514

April 2023

10,280

Total long-term bank loans

129,663

of which non-current portion

113,615

of which current portion

16,048

U ndr a w n b orro w i ng

Balance sheet items pledged as a security in

C o m p l i a nce w i t h B a nk

f a c i l i t i es

favour of Česká Spořitelna a. s. represents

coven a n t s

As of 31 December 2018, Fortuna Group

primarily Cash and cash equivalents (note

Fortuna Group has to comply with bank

had undrawn committed borrowing facil-

5.23) and brand names (note 5.15). Inter-

loan covenants (leverage and cash flow

ities in the amount of € 6,500 thousand

company receivables (which are eliminated

cover). Fortuna Group provides a com-

(in 2017: € 6,500).

from consolidation but are disclosed on the

pliance certificate and reporting on the

local level of individual statutory financial

covenants on the quarter bases for

Bank guarantees

statements) represent a security in the

the twelve-month period ending on 31

Fortuna Group has utilised bank guaran-

amount of € 79,030 thousand as of 31 De-

March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 De-

tees in the amount of € 11,469 thousand

cember 2018 (2017: € 53,429 thousand).

cember. The main financial covenants are

(in 2017: € 11,117 thousand).

a cash flow cover (last twelve months cash
D er i v a t i ves

flow / debt service) ratio at of at least 1.1

In 2018, additional EUR tranches (A8

Fortuna Group enters into interest rate

and leverage (last twelve months EBITDA /

and B3) were drawn by FEG NV in total

swap contracts to hedge its risks associat-

net debt) ratio not exceeding 3.0 as of

amount of € 105,000 thousands.

ed with interest rates. Following tranches

31 December 2018. These covenants are

are hedged – A2, A4, A5 (100% of notial

calculated in accordance with definitions

P l edges a nd gu a r a n t ees

amount) and B1 (50% of notial amount).

agreed with the lenders. As of 31 Decem-

The parent company, Fortbet Holdings

Hedged tranches represent about 25% of

ber 2018, the cash flow cover ratio was

Limited, pledged all the shares of For-

the total bank loan balance as of 31 De-

3.40 and leverage ratio was 1.35.

tuna Entertainment Group N. V. in favour

cember 2018. The hedging is effective

of Česká spořitelna a. s. as a security to

and the A tranches (EUR) are hedged un-

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 Decem-

the bank loan facility.

til repayment (April 2023). The B tranche

ber 2017, Fortuna Group was in compli-

(CZK) is hedged until 30 June 2020.

ance with all bank loan covenants.
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5.30 Other non-current liabilities
€ 000
Liability from Purchase of Subsidiary – Long-term portion

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

21,654

49,932

317

299

21,971

50,231

Other payables and estimated accounts payable
Total

Liability from Purchase of Subsidi-

Short-term part of the liability related

According to the Share Purchase agree-

ary represents contingent liabilities

to acquisition of Hattrick Sports Group

ments, the dates of payments of individ-

reported at fair value and related to

is recognized in Other current liabilities,

ual purchase parts depend on certain

acquisitions of Hattrick Sports Group

see the note 5.32. Short term part in

conditions to be satisfied.

in the amount of € 9,437 thousand

the amount of € 26,042 thousand is

(in 2017: € 39,358 thousand) and

expected to be paid in 2019.

former Fortbet Romanian companies
in the amount of € 12,217 thousand

The liability related to former Fortbet

(in 2017: € 10,574 thousand). See the

Romanian companies is expected to be

detail in note 5.5.

paid out in the course of 2021.

5.31 Trade and other payables (current)
€ 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

8,361

5,178

1

16

Wages and salaries payable

8,521

6,358

Social security and health contributions payable

2,292

1,866

17,367

14,184

9,107

6,273

Accrued expenses

10,448

9,245

Received deposits

2

—

5,739

4,285

61,837

47,405

Trade and other payables (current)
Trade accounts and notes payable
Payables to related parties

Betting tax and other tax payable
Unpaid wins

Other payables and estimated accounts payable
Total

Unpaid wins are paid out within a short time-frame after the year-end and present actual amounts won by the clients.

97

98
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5.32 Other current liabilities
€ 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

26,049

—

Other payables and estimated accounts payable

1,604

77

Unresloved bets

2,122

1,581

29,775

1,658

Liability from Purchase of Subsidiary – Short-term portion

Total

Liability from Purchase of Subsidi-

acquisitions of Hattrick Sports Group

a long-term liability. See the detail in

ary represents contingent liabilities

in the amount of € 26,049 thousand.

note 5.5 and also note 5.30 Other non-

reported at fair value and related to

In 2017 the earn-out was reported as

current liability.

5.33 Related party disclosures
The consolidated financial statements include the following companies:
Consolidated entities

Country of incorporation

Nature of activity

The Netherlands

Holding company

RIVERHILL a. s.

Czech Republic

Holding company

ALICELA a. s.

Czech Republic

Holding company

FORTUNA GAME a. s.

Czech Republic

Sports betting and gaming

FORTUNA RENT s. r. o.

Czech Republic

Rentals

Poland

Sports betting

Slovakia

Sports betting

Croatia

Sports betting and gaming

Hattrick Bet s.r.l.

Romania

Sports betting and gaming

OK Albastru Rosu s.r.l.

Romania

Rentals

PRO HB Slots s.r.l.

Romania

Slots

Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.

Romania

Holding company

Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.

Romania

Holding company

Bet Active Concept s.r.l.

Romania

Sports betting

Bet Zone s.r.l.

Romania

Sports betting and gaming

Alter Power Plant s.r.l.

Romania

Other

Slot Arena s.r.l.

Romania

Slots

Public Slots s.r.l.

Romania

Slots

Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.

FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.
FORTUNA SK, a. s.
Hattrick – PSK d.o.o.
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Compared to the previous period, there

The following table lists the total

are no longer the disclosed companies

amounts relating to transactions entered

Hattrick Sports Group Ltd. and Fortuna

into with related parties for the relevant

Virtual d.o.o. Both companies mergered

financial year:

with their subsidiary Hattrick PSK d.o.o.
which is the successor of the transaction.

Consolidated statement of financial position – € 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Digital Park Einsteinova, a. s.

42

42

Total other non-current assets – related parties

42

42

FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED

105,084

—

Total related party loans rendered

105,084

—

Digital Park Einsteinova, a. s.

50

55

PRIMA banka Slovensko a. s.

25,001

—

Penta funding s. r. o.

20,411

—

—

—

45,462

55

FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED

12,217

10,574

Total other non-current liabilities – related parties

12,217

10,574

DÔVERA zdravotná poisťovňa, a. s.

30

23

The Bookkeeper B.V.

—

2

Digital Park Einsteinova, a. s.

95

75

Media and Digital Services a. s.

44

10

Copenhagen Gambling

—

17

Penta Investments Limited

—

4

169

131

Privatbanka, a. s.

137

67

Total cash in related parties

137

67

Other non-current assets

Related party loans rendered

Receivables from related parties

Penta Investments Limited
Total receivables from related parties

Other non-current liabilities – contingent liability, earn-out

Payables to related parties

Total payables to related parties

Cash in related parties

The payables to DÔVERA zdravotná poisťovňa, a. s. relate to health insurance payments.

99

100
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss – € 000

2018

2017

Bet Zone s.r.l.

—

108

Bet Active Concept s.r.l.

—

412

Total other operating income from related parties

—

520

84

—

411

—

1

—

496

—

—

90

Privatbanka, a. s.

1

4

Total financial expense from related parties

1

94

99

176

240

245

AB Facility, s. r. o.

—

6

The Bookkeeper B.V.

—

25

Copenhagen Gambling

—

19

Bory Mall, a. s.

20

17

BM Energy, s. r. o.

—

1

Media and Digital Services a. s.

—

225

Mediworx software solutions a. s.

—

2

News and Media Holding a. s.

—

5

Nemocnice Vrchlabí a.s

1

—

Penta Investments Limited

9

272

369

993

Other operating income from related parties

Financial income from related parties
FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED
Penta funding s. r. o.
PRIMA banka Slovensko a. s.
Total financial income from related parties

Financial expense from related parties
FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED

Purchases from related parties
DÔVERA zdravotná poisťovňa, a. s.
Digital Park Einsteinova, a. s.

Total purchases from related parties

As of 31 December 2018, Fortuna’s ma-

market prices. Outstanding balances

recorded any impairment of receiva-

jority shareholder was FORTBET HOLD-

at the year-end are unsecured, and

bles relating to amounts owed by re-

INGS LIMITED, a subsidiary of Penta In-

interest-free, with the settlement being

lated parties. This assessment is made

vestments Limited, which held a 100%

in cash. No guarantees have been pro-

each financial year by examining the

stake. All the above-mentioned com-

vided or received for any related party

financial position of the related party

panies are part of Penta Group and

receivables or payables. For the years

and the market in which the related

the sales to, and purchases from, re-

ended 31 December 2018 and 2017,

party operates. For 2018, the Group

lated parties are conducted at normal

respectively, Fortuna Group has not

also applied the ECL model in accord-
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ance with IFRS 9 regarding intergroup

sifies as a transaction under common

S HA R E S H E L D B Y TH E

receivables and related party balances

control. The Company applied the acqui-

MA N A G E M E N T

by using forward looking information.

sition method under IFRS 3 considering

As of 31 December 2018, Directors and

The Group measures ECL determined

the economic substance of the business

Members of the Management Board did

by evaluating a range of possible out-

combination. For more information see

not hold any shares or stock options is-

comes including the possibility that

note 5.5.

sued by the Company.

Financial expense from Privatbanka a. s.

As of 31 December 2018, Directors and

relates to bank fees and interest on bank

Members of the Supervisory Board did

account balances.

not hold any shares or stock options is-

a credit loss occurs, and recovery action plans.
Other operating income from Bet

sued by the Company.

Zone s.r.l. and Bet Active Concept s.r.l.
relates to trademark lease and profes-

Purchases from DÔVERA zdravotná

sional services reinvoiced with mark-

poisťovňa, a. s. represent health insur-

As of 31 December 2018, members of

up. Due to the acquisition completed

ance payments. Purchases from Digital

the management of the Group did not

on 31 August 2017, only transactions

Park Einsteinova, a. s. relate to the rent

hold any shares or stock options issued

reported in profit or loss are reported

on office premises.

by the Company.

were acquired from the majority share-

AB Facility, s. r. o. is no longer reported

There was no change in comparison with

holder FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED (to-

in the statement of the financial position

the state as of 31 December 2017 – no

gether with Slot Arena s.r.l., and Public

due to a sale beyond the Penta Group at

shares were held by management of the

Slots s.r.l.). As such the acquisition clas-

the beginning of 2017.

Company.

until the closing date. The companies

5.34 Commitements and contingencies
O P E R ATI N G L E A S E

tracts contain market review clauses for

Future minimum rental payments pay-

C O MMIT E M E N T S –

the case in which Fortuna Group exer-

able under non-cancellable operating

TH E G R O U P A S L E S S E E

cises its option to renew. The Company

leases as of 31 December are as fol-

Operating leases mainly relate to build-

does not have an option to purchase

lows:

ings with lease terms of between three

the leased assets upon the expiry of the

to 10 years. All operating lease con-

lease period.

€ 000

2018

2017

Instalments due within one year

15,354

10,251

Instalments due between two and five years

26,358

16,341

388

480

42,752

24,263

Instalments due after more than five years
Operating lease expense (note 5.9)

Some of the contracts also include vari-

included in the table above as they are

able payments dependent on Amounts

not part of the minimum rental pay-

Staked. These payments have not been

ments.

101

102
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F I N A N C E L E A S E A N D HI R E

market review clauses for the case

P U R C HA S E C O MMITM E N T S –

in which Fortuna Group exercises its

TH E G R O U P A S L E S S E E

option to renew. The Company does

Finance leases relate to cars with lease

not have an option to purchase the

terms of between three to five years.

leased assets upon the expiry of the

All finance lease contracts contain

lease period.

€ 000

2018

2017

Instalments due within 3 months

133

42

Instalments due between 3 months and within 1 year

581

139

Instalments due after 1 year and within 2 years

651

94

Instalments due after 2 years and within 5 years

536

80

—

—

1,901

355

Future finance charges on finance leases

151

10

Present value of finance lease payments

1,750

345

Carrying amount of assets under finance leases

1,750

345

Instalments due after 5 years
Total minimum lease payments

5.35 F
 inancial risk management objectives
and policies
Fortuna Group’s principal financial in-

MA R K E T R I S K

ing interest rates of the debt and de-

struments, other than derivatives, com-

Market risk is the risk that the fair value

rivatives and the proportion of finan-

prise of bank loans, cash and short-term

or future cash flows of a financial instru-

cial instruments in foreign currencies

deposits. The main purpose of these fi-

ment will fluctuate because of changes in

are all constant, and on the basis of

nancial instruments is to raise funds for

market prices. Market prices comprise of

the hedge designations in place as of

Fortuna Group’s operations. Fortuna

three types of risk: interest rate risk, cur-

31 December 2018 and 2017, respec-

Group has various other financial instru-

rency risk and other price risks, such as

tively.

ments such as current receivables, trade

equity risk. Financial instruments affected

and other payables that arise directly

by market risk include loans and borrow-

The following assumptions have been

from its operations.

ings, cash and cash equivalents, deposits

made in calculating the sensitivity analy-

and derivative financial instruments.

ses:

transactions, such as interest rate swaps.

The sensitivity analyses in the following

•• The statement of the financial posi-

The purpose of these transactions is to

sections relate to the positions as of

assist in the management of Fortuna

31 December 2018 and 2017, respec-

Group’s financial risk and to generate

tively.

Fortuna Group also enters into derivative

the desired effective interest rate profile.

tion sensitivity relates to derivatives

•• The sensitivity of the relevant statement of profit or loss item is the effect

The sensitivity analyses have been pre-

of the assumed changes in respec-

Fortuna Group is exposed to market risk,

pared on the basis that the amount

tive market risks. This is based on

credit risk and liquidity risk.

of net debt, the ratio of fixed to float-

the financial assets and financial li-
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abilities held as of 31 December 2018

companies and hence any movements

nomic conditions. The Group also used

and 2017, respectively, including the

of currency rates of their functional cur-

publicly available information from rating

effect of hedge accounting.

rencies against each other and the euro

agencies.

(e.g. Czech Koruna, Polish Zloty) does
It is, and has been throughout the year

not give rise to significant exchange

T R A D E R E C E I V ABL E S A N D

under review, the policy of the Fortuna

rate risk.

CONTRACT ASSETS
For trade receivables of non-core busi-

Group that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken other than

C R E D IT R I S K

ness assets, an impairment analysis is

betting and gaming transactions.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a coun-

performed at each reporting date using

terparty will default on its contractual

a provision matrix to measure expected

I N T E R E S T R AT E R I S K

obligations resulting in a financial loss

credit losses. The provision rates are

Fortuna Group is exposed to inter-

to Fortuna Group. Credit risk arises from

based on days past due for groupings

est rate risk on interest bearing loans

cash and cash equivalents, trade receiva-

of various customer segments with simi-

and borrowings and on cash and cash

bles and loans.

lar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical re-

equivalents.

gion, product type and rating, and coverIn relation to its core business sub-

age by letters of credit or other forms of

Fortuna Group manages interest rate

stance, Fortuna Group’s exposure to

credit insurance).

risk by having a portfolio of fixed and

credit risk is limited since the vast ma-

variable rate loans. The Group policy

jority of its sales are carried out on the

LIQ U I D IT Y R I S K

aims at having around 25% of its bor-

basis of prepayments made by custom-

Fortuna Group’s objective is to main-

rowings at fixed interest rates.

ers. A marginal part of the pre-payments

tain a balance between the continuity of

is executed with the use of credit cards,

funding and flexibility through the use

Currently about 50% of the bank tranch-

where management adopts monitoring

of borrowings with a range of maturi-

es are secured via derivatives (IRS SWAP).

and a credit control policy which mini-

ties.

Secured tranches are denominated in

mises any credit risk exposure.

EUR and CZK.

Fortuna Group’s policy on liquidity is
With respect to trade receivables related

to ensure that there are sufficient me-

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

to other sales, Fortuna Group ensures

dium-term and long-term committed

Fortuna Group carries out operations

that products and services are provided

borrowing facilities to meet the me-

through a number of foreign enter-

to customers with an appropriate cred-

dium-term funding requirements. As

prises. The day to day transactions of

itworthy history. Risk control assesses

of 31 December 2018, there were un-

foreign subsidiaries are carried out in

the credit quality of customers, taking

drawn committed borrowing facilities of

local currencies. Fortuna Group’s ex-

into account the financial position, past

CZK 160,000 thousand (€ 5,922 thou-

posure to currency risk at the transac-

experience and other factors.

sand; 2017: € 5,000 thousand). Total

tional level is monitored and reviewed
regularly.

committed facilities had an average maRegarding impairment analysis, for 2018,

turity of 2 years in 2018 (2017: 3 years).

the Group applied the ECL model in acFortuna Group seeks to mitigate the ef-

cordance with IFRS 9 regarding inter-

Prudent liquidity risk management im-

fect of its structural currency exposure

group receivables and related party

plies maintaining sufficient cash and

arising from the translation of foreign

balances by using forward looking infor-

other liquid assets, the availability of

currency assets through bank loan draw-

mation. The Group measures ECL deter-

funding through an adequate amount

ings in the same currencies. However

mined by evaluating a range of possible

of committed credit facilities, and the

there are bank loans drawn in CZK within

outcomes including the possibility that

ability to close out market positions. Due

the Polish entities and in EUR and CZK

a credit loss occurs and recovery ac-

to the dynamic nature of the underly-

within Croatian entities which constitute

tion plans. The possibility of the credit

ing businesses, the Company’s treasury

currency exposure.

loss occuring (PD) has been estimated

maintains flexibility in funding.

by using reasonable and supportable
The exchange rate risk is kept at an ac-

information that is available as the re-

The Company monitors the level of cash

ceptable level since the majority of op-

porting date about past events, current

on a daily basis and draws bank cash

erations are carried out within operating

conditions, and forcasts of future eco-

when and if needed.

103

104
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LIQ U I D IT Y R I S K P R O F IL E

cial liabilities as of 31 December 2018

The table below summarises the ma-

and 2017, respectively, based on con-

turity profile of Fortuna Group’s finan-

tractual undiscounted payments:

< 1 year

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

> 5 years

Total

Trade and other payables

28,934

—

—

—

28,934

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

37,419

72,362

124,299

—

234,080

714

638

549

—

1,901

36,559

12,459

1,604

—

50,622

103,626

85,459

126,452

—

315,537

< 1 year

1 to 3
years

3 to 5
years

> 5 years

Total

Trade and other payables

47,405

—

—

—

47,405

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

19,905

38,356

36,426

49,986

144,673

181

174

—

—

355

1,896

59,963

—

61

61,920

69,387

98,493

36,426

50,470

254,353

€ 000

Financing leasing
Other liabilities
31 December 2018

€ 000

Financing leasing
Other liabilities
31 December 2017
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1 January 2018

Cash flows –
drawn

Cash flows –
repaid

Reclassified as part
of disposal group /
new acquisitions

Foreign exchange
movement

Changes in Fair
Value

New leases

Other

31 December 2018

C HA N G E S I N LIABILITI E S A R I S I N G F R O M F I N A N C I N G A C TI V ITI E S

Current interest-bearing loans and
borrowings (excluding items listed
below)

16,048

—

(6,150)

—

145

—

—

22,769

32,812

Current obligations under finance
leases and hire purchase contracts

20

—

(8)

—

1

—

—

356

369

Non-current interest-bearing loans
and borrowings (excluding items
listed below)

113,615

105,000

(10,114)

—

923

—

—

(22,769)

186,655

335

—

(203)

—

26

—

1,730

(356)

1,532

Dividends payable

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Derivatives

66

—

—

—

(24)

—

—

42

130,084

105,000

(16,475)

—

1,095

(24)

1,730

—

221,410

€ 000

Non-current obligations under
finance leases

1 January 2017

Cash flows –
drawn

Cash flows –
repaid

Reclassified as part
of disposal group /
new acquisitions

Foreign exchange
movement

Changes in Fair
Value

New leases

Other

31 December 2017

Total

Current interest-bearing loans and
borrowings (excluding items listed
below)

5,528

—

(5,569)

—

41

—

—

16,048

16,048

Current obligations under finance
leases and hire purchase contracts

—

—

(2)

22

—

—

—

—

20

Non-current interest-bearing loans
and borrowings (excluding items
listed below)

24,625

136,951

(35,122)

—

3,209

—

—

(16,048)

113,615

(95)

373

(5)

—

62

—

335

€ 000

Non-current obligations under
finance leases

—

Dividends payable

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Derivatives

—

—

—

—

66

—

—

66

30,153

136,951

395

3,245

66

62

—

130,084

Total

(40,788)
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I N T E R E S T R AT E S E N S ITI V IT Y

variables held constant, of Fortuna

The following table demonstrates the

Group’s profit before tax and equity

sensitivity to a reasonably possible

(through the impact on floating rate bor-

change in interest rates, with all other

rowings):

Increase/(decrease) in
interest rate by

Effect on profit
before tax
€ 000

Effect on other
comprehensive income
€ 000

CZK

1% / (1%)

(263) / 263

129 / (129)

PLN

1% / (1%)

(13) / 13

—/—

EUR

1% / (1%)

(1,051) / 1,051

297 / (297)

RON

1% / (1%)

(188) / 188

—/—

HRK

1% / (1%)

(164) / 164

—/—

(1,679) / 1,679

426 / (426)

2018

2017
CZK

1% / (1%)

(294) / 294

132 / (132)

PLN

1% / (1%)

(16) / 16

—/—

EUR

1% / (1%)

—/—

366 / (366)

RON

1% / (1%)

(228) / 228

—/—

HRK

1% / (1%)

(157) / 157

—/—

(695) / 695

498 / (498)

C o n sol i d a t e d F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s o f Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

change rates, with all other variables

S E N S ITI V IT Y

held constant, of the Group’s equity aris-

The following table demonstrates the

ing from the translation of the foreign

sensitivity to a change in foreign ex-

operations:

Increase / decrease in exchange rate by 1%

(Decrease) / increase in equity
€ 000

As of 31 December 2018:
CZK/EUR

(334) / 334

PLN/EUR

(16) / 16

RON/EUR

(483) / 483

HRK/EUR

(115) / 115

As of 31 December 2017:
CZK/EUR

(358) / 358

PLN/EUR

(118) / 118

RON/EUR

(408) / 408

HRK/EUR

(100) / 100

There are loan tranches denominated

change losses and foreign exchange

in CZK and RON. Those loans can have

gains. The bank loans are not secured

a significant impact on the foreign ex-

against the exchange rate movements.

Increase / decrease in exchange rate by 1%

(Decrease) / increase in bank loans
€ 000

As of 31 December 2018:
CZK/EUR

(418) / 418

RON/EUR

(188) / 188

Increase / decrease in exchange rate by 1%

(Decrease) / increase in equity
€ 000

As of 31 December 2017:
CZK/EUR

(613) / 613

PLN/EUR

(231) / 231

The impact of changes in exchange rates on the profit or loss statement is immaterial.
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C A P ITAL MA N A G E M E N T

of changes in economic conditions. To

Fortuna includes interest bearing

Capital includes equity attributable to

maintain or adjust the capital struc-

short-term and long-term loans and

the equity holders of the parent.

ture, Fortuna may adjust the dividend

borrowings less cash and cash equiva-

payment to shareholders, return

lents in net debt. The Company defines

The primary objective of the Group’s capi-

capital to shareholders or issue new

EBITDA as net profit after tax before

tal management is to ensure that it main-

shares.

non-controlling interest, income tax,

tains a strong credit rating and healthy

net financial costs, depreciation and

capital ratios in order to support the busi-

Fortuna monitors capital using a gear-

amortisation, tangible and intangible

ness and maximise shareholder value.

ing ratio defined as net debt divided by

assets impairment and goodwill im-

EBITDA. The Group’s policy is to keep

pairment.

Fortuna manages its capital structure

the gearing ratio below 1.1.

and makes adjustments to it in light

€ 000

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

184,806

113,615

32,263

16,048

—

—

217,069

129,663

84,378

80,716

132,691

48,947

2018

2017

60,214

25,220

1,651

15,219

—

—

20,140

11,797

—

2,921

82,005

55,152

1,62

0.89

Interest bearing loans and borrowings:
Long-term loans
Current portion of long-term loans
Short-term loans

Less cash and cash equivalents
Net debt

€ 000
Profit before taxation
Finance costs, net
Goodwill impairment
Depreciation and amortisation
Intangible assets impairment
EBITDA
Gearing ratio

COnSOLiDateD finanCiaL StatementS Of fOrtuna entertainment GrOup n. v.

5.36 Events after the balance sheet day
no significant event occurred between
the balance sheet date and the date of
the financial statements.

amsterdam, 29 march 2019

Per Widerström

Marek Rendek

Chairman of the Management Board

Member of the Management Board

of fortuna entertainment Group n. v.

of fortuna entertainment Group n. v.
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Statement of the financial position as of 31 December 2018
€ 000

Notes

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Intangible assets

6.5

—

—

Property, plant and equipment

6.6

—

—

Investments in subsidiaries

6.7

194,516

194,510

Financial assets

6.8

105,290

203

Other non-current assets

6.9

—

6

299,806

194,719

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Receivables from related parties

6.23

—

—

Prepayments and other current assets

6.10

59

104

Loan notes

6.11

10,206

—

Bank term deposit

6.11

25,001

—

Cash and cash equivalents

6.12

1,478

556

36,744

660

336,550

195,379

Total current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

C o r p o r a t e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s o f Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

€ 000

Notes

31 December 2018

31 December 2017

520

520

115,705

115,705

Retained earnings

61,591

58,150

Profit for the year

13,793

3,441

191,609

177,816

6.14

87,974

—

6.15, 6.23

39,585

7,912

127,559

7,912

6.16

95

182

6.15, 6.23

—

8,747

Payables to related parties

6.23

119

344

Current portion of long-term bank loans

6.14

16,443

—

Accruals and other current liabilities

6.17

725

378

17,382

9,651

336,550

195,379

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity

6.13

Share capital
Share premium

Total Equity

Non-current liabilities
Long-term bank loans
Loans from Group companies
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Creditors
Loans from Group companies

Total current liabilities

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2018
€ 000
Dividend income

Notes

2018

2017

6.18

15,277

5,950

25

13

15,302

5,963

6.19

(280)

(182)

6.5, 6.6

—

(5)

6.20

(774)

(2,028)

14,248

3,748

Net royalty income
Revenues
Personnel expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating expenses
Operating profit
Finance income

6.21

308

85

Finance cost

6.22

(763)

(392)

13,793

3,441

—

—

13,793

3,441

—

—

13,793

3,441

Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year

C o r p o r a t e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s o f Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2018
€ 000

Notes

2018

2017

13,793

3,441

Depreciation and amortisation

—

5

Impairment of investment in subsidiary

—

—

109

288

13,902

3,734

5

—

95

(83)

(14)

770

13,988

4,421

—

—

13,988

4,421

(105,000)

(200)

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:

Net interest expense (income)

(6.22, 6.11, 6.8)

Operating cash flow before working capital changes
(Increase) / Decrease in other current assets
(Increase) / Decrease in receivables
(Decrease) / Increase in payables and other liabilities
Cash generated from operating activities
Corporate income tax paid
Net cash flows provided by / (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Net proceeds from borrowings (provided)

(6.8)

Purchase of short-term financial instruments

(35,000)

Purchase of equipment and intangible fixed assets

—

—

Proceeds / (Acquisition) of financial fixed assets

—

—

Acquisition of subsidiaries

(6)

(15,503)

(140,006)

(15,703)

22,600

3,400

104,340

—

Interest paid

—

—

Dividend paid

—

—

Additional withholding tax paid

—

—

126,940

3,400

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

922

(7,882)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

556

8,437

1,478

556

Net cash flows provided by / (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from borrowings (received)
Net proceeds from bank loans

Net cash flows (used in)/provided by financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

(6.15)

In 2018 FEGNV received dividends of € 15,277 thousand and in 2017 dividends of € 6,011 thousand.
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018
Share
capital

Share
premium

Legal
Reserve

Profit for
the year

Retained
earnings

Total

520

115,705

5,155

3,441

52,995

177,816

Appropriation of net result

—

—

—

(3,441)

3,441

—

Legal reserve on development cost

—

—

(4,791)

—

4,791

—

Profit for the year

—

—

—

13,793

—

13,793

520

115,705

364

13,793

61,227

191,609

As of 1 January 2018

As of 31 December 2018

Legal reserve on development cost rep-

tangible assets which is not yet put in

resents the amount corresponding with

use on the Group level.

the balance of internally developed in-

Share
capital

Share
premium

Legal
Reserve

Profit for
the year

Retained
earnings

Total

520

115,705

9,217

6,937

41,996

174,375

Appropriation of net result

—

—

—

(6,937)

6,937

—

Legal reserve on development cost

—

—

(4,062)

—

4,062

—

Profit for the year

—

—

—

3,441

—

3,441

520

115,705

5,155

3,441

52,995

177,816

€ 000
As of 1 January 2017

As of 31 December 2017
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Notes to the financial statements as of 31 December 2018

6.1 Corporate information
The financial statements for the year

suance of these stand alone financial

ended 31 December 2018 of Fortuna

statements. These financial statements

Entertainment Group N. V. (“FEGNV”)

should be read in conjunction with the

comprise of the statements of the finan-

IFRS consolidate financial statements to

cial position as of 31 December 2018

enable users to obtain appropriate and

and 31 December 2017, respectively,

better understanding of the Group’s fi-

the statements of comprehensive in-

nancial performance, financial position,

come, the statements of changes in eq-

statement of changes in equity, and cash

The Annual General Meeting held on

uity and the statements of cash flows for

flows generated by the Group.

11 June 2018 appointed new member

Management Board
Chairman:
Member:

Per Widerström
Marek Rendek

the years ended 31 December 2018 and

of the Management Board Mr. Marek

31 December 2017, respectively, as well

Rendek. Ms. Janka Galacova stepped

as of a summary of significant account-

6.1.1 Description of business

ing policies and other explanatory notes.

down from the Management Board after
her eight-year term expired. The General

Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V. is en-

Meeting accepted the resignation letter

The Company’s registered office is at

gaged through operating subsidiaries in

of Mr. Boudewijn Wenting from the Man-

Strawinskylaan 809, Amsterdam, Neth-

the betting industry under local licences

agement Board.

erlands, Chamber of Commerce number

in the Czech Republic, Slovakia, Romania,

34364038. A total 100.00% of the shares of

Croatia and in Poland. Sports betting is

An Extraordinary General Meeting held

the Company are held by Fortbet Holdings

the key product of FEGNV with the most

on 11 November 2018 dismissed mem-

Limited, having its registered office at Agias

popular betting events being football,

bers of the Supervisory Board and ac-

Fylaxeos & Polygnostou 212, C&I Center,

ice hockey and basketball. The odds

cepted the resignation letter submitted

2nd floor, 3082 Limassol, Cyprus.

are distributed to customers via online

by member of the Board of Directors,

websites and retail chains in the Czech

Mr. Richard van Bruchem.

The Company has issued non statutory

Republic, Slovakia, Romania, Croatia and

general purpose consolidated finan-

Poland.

cial statement prepared in accordance

No further changes in the composition of
the Management Board and the Super-

with International Financial Reporting

FEGNV had the following members of its

Standards (EU) on the same date of is-

Management as of 31 December 2018:

visory Board occurred in 2018.

117

118

A n n u a l R eport 2 0 1 8

6.2 Basis of preparation
These financial statements have been

Reporting Interpretations Committee

The financial statements were prepared

prepared in accordance with Interna-

(“IFRIC”).

on a historical cost basis unless dis-

tional Financial Reporting Standards

closed otherwise.

(“IFRS”) as adopted by the European

These financial statements do not

Union. IFRS comprises of standards and

represent statutory financial state-

The financial statements are presented

interpretations approved by the Inter-

ments, and are not prepared for the

in EUR and all values are rounded to the

national Accounting Standards Board

purposes of submission to the regula-

nearest thousand (€ 000) except when

(“IASB”) and the International Financial

tory bodies.

otherwise indicated.

6.3 Summary of significant accounting policies
The accounting policies used in preparing the financial statements for the year

6.3.2 Property, plant and
equipment

ended 31 December 2018 are set out
below.

ognised is de-recognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any

Property, plant and equipment and oth-

gain or loss arising on de-recognition of

er fixed assets are stated at cost less ac-

the asset (calculated as the difference

cumulated depreciation and any impair-

between the net disposal proceeds and

ment in value. Assets not yet in use are

the carrying amount of the asset) is in-

carried at cost and are not depreciated.

cluded in the statement of profit or loss

Intangible assets acquired separately are

Depreciation of an asset begins when it

when the asset is derecognised.

measured at cost and those acquired as

is available for use, i.e. when it is in the

part of a business combination are rec-

location and condition necessary for it to

The assets’ residual values, useful lives

ognised separately from goodwill if the

be capable of operating in the manner

and methods of depreciation are re-

fair value can be measured reliably on

intended by management. Depreciation

viewed at each financial year-end, and

initial recognition. The costs relating to

is calculated on a straight-line basis over

are adjusted prospectively, if appropri-

internally generated intangible assets,

the estimated useful life of an asset as

ate.

principally software costs, are capitalised

follows:

6.3.1 Intangible assets

R E C O V E R ABL E AM O U N T O F

if the criteria for recognition as assets
are met. Other internally generated in-

Useful life

tangible assets are not capitalised and
expenditure is charged against profit
in the year in which the expenditure is

Office furniture
and equipment

5 years

incurred.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
The carrying values of non-current assets with finite lives are reviewed for
impairment when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the car-

Impairment is recognised when the car-

rying values may not be recoverable. If

The useful lives of intangible assets are

rying amount of an item of property,

any such indication exists, and where

assessed as either finite or indefinite.

plant, or equipment exceeds its recov-

the carrying values exceed the estimat-

The straight-line amortisation method

erable amount. The recoverable amount

ed recoverable amount, the assets or

is used.

is the higher of an asset’s fair value less

cash-generating units are written down

costs of disposal and its value in use.

to their recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equip-

For goodwill, and intangible assets that

ment and any significant part initially rec-

have indefinite useful lives, the recover-

Useful life
Software

5 years
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able amount is estimated at each bal-

has rights, to variable returns from its in-

For investments in equity instruments

ance sheet date.

volvement with the investee and has the

that are not held for trading, classifica-

ability to affect those returns through

tion will depend on whether the Com-

The recoverable amount is the higher of

its power over the investee. Specifically,

pany has made an irrevocable election at

an asset’s or cash generating unit’s fair

the Company controls an investee if, and

the time of initial recognition to account

value less costs of disposal and its value

only if, the Company has:

for the equity investment at FVOCI. This

in use. In assessing value in use, the es-

election is made on an investment by

timated future cash flows are discounted

•• Power over the investee (i.e. existing

to their present value using a pre-tax dis-

rights that give it the current ability

count rate that reflects current market

to direct the relevant activities of the

All other financial assets are classified as

assessments of the time value of money

investee)

measured at FVTPL.

and the risks specific to the asset. For an
asset that does not generate largely in-

•• Exposure,

investment basis.

or rights, to variable re-

For assets measured at fair value, gains

dependent cash inflows, the recoverable

turns from its involvement with the

and losses will either be recorded in

amount is determined for the cash gen-

investee, and

profit or loss or OCI. For investments

erating unit to which the asset belongs.
Impairment losses are recognised in

•• The ability to use its power over the
investee to affect its returns

the statement of profit or loss in the
depreciation line item. Assets and any
significant part initially recognised is
derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected

in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether
the Company has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition

6.3.4 Financial assets
and financial
liabilities – 2018

to account for the equity investment at
FVOCI.
F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –
R ecogn i t i on a nd

from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on de-recognition of the asset

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

derecogn i t i on

(calculated as the difference between

C l a ss i f i c a t i on

All purchases and sales of financial as-

the net disposal proceeds and the car-

From 1 January 2018, the Company clas-

sets that require delivery within the time

rying amount of the asset) is included in

sifies its financial assets in the following

frame established by regulation or market

the statement of profit or loss when the

measurement categories:

convention (“regular way” purchases and

asset is derecognised.

•• those to be measured subsequently

sales) are recorded at trade date, which
is the date when the Company commits

The assets’ residual values, useful lives

at fair value (either through OCI or

to deliver a financial instrument. All other

and methods of depreciation are re-

through profit or loss), and

purchases and sales are recognized when

viewed at each financial year-end, and
they are adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

•• those to be measured at amortised

the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

cost.
Financial assets are derecognised when

6.3.3 Investments in
subsidiaries

The classification and subsequent

the rights to receive cash flows from the

measurement of debt financial assets

financial assets have expired or have

depends on: (i) the Company’s business

been transferred and the Company has

model for managing the related assets

transferred substantially all the risks and

Investments in subsidiaries are stated

portfolio and (ii) the cash flow character-

rewards of ownership.

at cost less a provision for impairment,

istics of the asset. On initial recognition,

if any.

the Company may irrevocably designate

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

a debt financial asset that otherwise

Me a sure m en t

A subsidiary is an entity that is directly

meets the requirements to be measured

At initial recognition, the Company meas-

or indirectly controlled by the Company.

at amortized cost or at FVOCI to be clas-

ures a financial asset at its fair value plus,

sified at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

in the case of a financial asset not at FVT-

Control is achieved when the Company,

significantly reduces an accounting mis-

PL, transaction costs that are directly at-

or through its subsidiaries, is exposed, or

match that would otherwise arise.

tributable to the acquisition of the finan-
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cial asset. Transaction costs of financial

the financial assets, where the assets’

reported separately from other changes

assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in

cash flows represent solely payments

in fair value.

profit or loss. Fair value at initial recogni-

of principal and interest, are measured

tion is best evidenced by the transaction

at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

price. A gain or loss on initial recognition

amount are taken through OCI, except

I m p a i r m en t – cred i t l oss

is only recorded if there is a difference

for the recognition of impairment gains

a l l o w a nce for E C L

between fair value and transaction price

or losses, interest income and foreign ex-

From 1 January 2018, the Company as-

which can be evidenced by other observ-

change gains and losses which are recog-

sesses on a forward looking basis the

able current market transactions in the

nised in profit or loss. When the financial

ECL for debt instruments (including

same instrument or by a valuation tech-

asset is derecognised, the cumulative

loans) measured at amortized cost and

nique whose inputs include only data

gain or loss previously recognised in OCI

FVOCI and with the exposure arising

from observable markets.

is reclassified from equity to profit or loss

from loan commitments and financial

and recognised in other gains/(losses).

guarantee contracts. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the cri-

cash flows due in accordance with the

when determining whether their cash

teria for amortised cost or FVOCI are

contract and all the cash flows that the

flows are solely payment of principal

measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on

Company expects to receive, discounted

and interest.

a debt investment that is subsequently

at an approximation of the original effec-

measured at FVTPL is recognised in

tive interest rate. The Company meas-

D e b t i ns t ru m en t s

profit or loss in the period in which it

ures ECL and recognises credit loss

Subsequent measurement of debt in-

arises.

allowance at each reporting date. The

struments depends on the Company

measurement of ECL reflects: (i) an un-

‘sbusiness model for managing the as-

E q u i t y i ns t ru m en t s

biased and probability weighted amount

set and the cash flow characteristics of

The Company subsequently measures all

that is determined by evaluating a range

the asset. There are three measurement

equity investments at fair value. Where

of possible outcomes, (ii) time value of

categories into which the Company clas-

the Company ‘smanagement has elected

money and (iii) all reasonable and sup-

sifies its debt instruments:

to present fair value gains and losses on

portable information that is available

equity investments in OCI, there is no

without undue cost and effort at the

Amortised cost: Assets that are held

subsequent reclassification of fair value

end of each reporting period about past

for collection of contractual cash flows

gains and losses to profit or loss follow-

events, current conditions and forecasts

where those cash flows represent solely

ing the derecognition of the investment,

of future conditions.

payments of principal and interest are

any related balance within the FVOCI

measured at amortised cost. Interest

reserve is reclassified to retained earn-

The carrying amount of the financial as-

income from these financial assets is in-

ings. The Company ‘s policy is to desig-

sets is reduced through the use of an

cluded in ‘other income’. Any gain or loss

nate equity investments as FVOCI when

allowance account, and the amount of

arising on derecognition is recognised

those investments are held for strategic

the loss is recognised in the consolidat-

directly in profit or loss and presented in

purposes other than solely to generate

ed statement of profit or loss and other

other gains/(losses) together with foreign

investment returns. Dividends from such

comprehensive income.

exchange gains and losses. Impairment

investments continue to be recognised

losses are presented as separate line

in profit or loss as other income when

Debt instruments measured at amor-

item in the consolidated statement of

the Company ‘s right to receive pay-

tized cost are presented in the consoli-

profit or loss and other comprehensive

ments is established.

dated statement of financial position

income. Financial assets measured at

net of the allowance for ECL. For loan

amortised cost comprise: cash and cash

Changes in the fair value of financial

commitments and financial guarantee

equivalents, bank deposits with original

assets at FVTPL are recognised in the

contracts, a separate provision for ECL

maturity over 3 months, trade receivables

consolidated statement of profit or loss

is recognised as a liability in the consoli-

and financial assets at amortised cost.

and other comprehensive income as

dated statement of financial position.

applicable. Impairment losses (and reFVOCI: Assets that are held for collection

versal of impairment losses) on equity

For debt instruments at FVOCI, an al-

of contractual cash flows and for selling

investments measured at FVOCI are not

lowance for ECL is recognised in profit
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or loss and it affects fair value gains or

Refer to note 3.10, Credit risk section

considering, among other, the following

losses recognised in OCI rather than the

for a description of how the Company

factors: any new contractual terms that

carrying amount of those instruments.

determines when a SICR has occurred.

substantially affect the risk profile of the

If the Company determines that a finan-

asset (eg. profit share or equity based re-

Expected losses are recognized and

cial asset is credit impaired, the asset

turn), significant change in interest rate,

measured according to one of two ap-

is transferred to Stage 3 and its ECL is

change in the currency denomination,

proaches: general approach or simplified

measured as a Lifetime ECL. The Compa-

new collateral or credit enhancement

approach.

ny’s definition of credit impaired assets

that significantly affects the credit risk

and definition of default is explained in

associated with the asset or a significant

note 3.10, Credit risk section.

extension of a loan when the borrower

For trade receivables including trade re-

is not in financial difficulties.

ceivables with a significant financing component and contract assets and lease

Additionally the Company has decided

receivables the Company applies the

to use the low credit risk assessment

If the modified terms are substantially

simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9,

exemption for investment grade finan-

different, the rights to cash flows from

which uses lifetime expected losses to be

cial assets. Refer to note 3.10, Credit

the original asset expire and the Com-

recognised from initial recognition of the

risk section for a description of how the

pany derecognises the original financial

financial assets. Therefore, the Company

Company determines low credit risk fi-

asset and recognises a new asset at its

does not track changes in credit risk,

nancial assets.

fair value. The date of renegotiation is

but instead recognizes a loss allowance

considered to be the date of initial rec-

based on lifetime ECLs at each report-

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

ognition for subsequent impairment cal-

ing date. The Company has established

R ec l a ss i f i c a t i on

culation purposes, including determin-

a provision matrix that is based on its his-

Financial instruments are reclassified

ing whether a SICR has occurred. The

torical credit loss experience, adjusted

only when the business model for man-

Company also assesses whether the

for forward–looking factors specific to the

aging those assets changes. The reclas-

new loan or debt instrument meets the

debtors and the economic environment.

sification has a prospective effect and

SPPI criterion. Any difference between

takes place from the start of the first

the carrying amount of the original as-

reporting period following the change.

set derecognised and fair value of the

For all other financial asset that are
subject to impairment under IFRS 9,

new substantially modified asset is rec-

the Company applies general approach

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

ognised in profit or loss, unless the sub-

three stage model for impairment. The

Wr i t e off

stance of the difference is attributed to

Company applies a three stage model

Financial assets are written off, in whole

a capital transaction with owners.

for impairment, based on changes in

or in part, when the Company exhaust-

credit quality since initial recognition.

ed all practical recovery efforts and has

In a situation where the renegotiation

A financial instrument that is not credit

concluded that there is no reasonable

was driven by financial difficulties of the

impaired on initial recognition is classi-

expectation of recovery. The write off

counterparty and inability to make the

fied in Stage 1.

represents a derecognition event. The

originally agreed payments, the Com-

Company may write off financial assets

pany compares the original and revised

Financial assets in Stage 1 have their

that are still subject to enforcement

expected cash flows to assets whether

ECL measured at an amount equal to

activity when the Company seeks to

the risks and rewards of the asset are

the portion of lifetime ECL that results

recover amounts that are contractually

substantially different as a result of the

from default events possible within the

due, however, there is no reasonable

contractual modification. If the risks and

next 12 months or until contractual ma-

expectation of recovery.

rewards do not change, the modified asset is not substantially different from the

turity, if shorter (“12 month ECL”). If the
Company identifies a significant increase

F i n a nc i a l a sse t s –

original asset and the modification does

in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial recogni-

Mod i f i c a t i on

not result in derecognition. The Company

tion, the asset is transferred to Stage 2

The Company sometimes renegotiates

recalculates the gross carrying amount

and its ECL is measured based on ECL on

or otherwise modifies the contractual

by discounting the modified contractual

a lifetime basis, that is, up until contrac-

terms of the financial assets. The Com-

cash flows by the original effective inter-

tual maturity but considering expected

pany assesses whether the modification

est rate, and recognises a modification

prepayments, if any (“Lifetime ECL”).

of contractual cash flows is substantial

gain or loss in profit or loss.
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F i n a nc i a l a sse t s a t

6.3.5 Financial assets – 2017

a m or t i sed cos t

directly to the statement of profit or
loss. Subsequently, the fair values are

These amounts generally arise from

Financial assets within the scope of IFRS 9

re-measured and gains and losses from

transactions outside the usual operat-

are classified as

changes therein are recognised in the

ing activities of the Company. These are
held with the objective to collect their
contractual cash flows and their cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest. Accordingly, these are
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision

•• financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

•• financial

assets at amortised cost

(debt instruments)

statement of profit or loss.

6.3.7 De-recognition of
financial assets and
liabilities

for impairment. Financial assets at amor-

•• financial assets at fair value through

A financial asset (or, where applicable,

tised cost are classified as current assets

OCI with recycling of cumulative gains

a part of a financial asset or a part of

if they are due within one year or less (or

and losses (debt instruments)

a group of similar financial assets) is

in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented
as non current assets.
F i n a nc i a l l i a b i l i t i es –

•• financial

derecognised when:
assets designated at fair

value through OCI with no recycling

The rights to receive cash flows from the

of cumulative gains and losses upon

asset have expired.

derecognition (equity instruments)

Me a sure m en t c a t egor i es

FEGNV has transferred its rights to re-

Financial liabilities are initially recog-

FEGNV determines the classification of

ceive cash flows from the asset or has as-

nised at fair value and classified as sub-

its financial assets on initial recognition.

sumed an obligation to pay the received

sequently measured at amortised cost,

cash flows in full without material delay

except for (i) financial liabilities at FVTPL:

Trade receivables are generally account-

to a third party under a ‘pass-through’

this classification is applied to deriva-

ed for at amortised cost. FEGNV reviews

arrangement; and either (a) FEGNV has

tives, financial liabilities held for trading

indicators of impairment on an ongoing

transferred substantially all the risks and

(e.g. short positions in securities), con-

basis and, where indicators exist, FEGNV

rewards of the asset, or (b) FEGNV has

tingent consideration recognised by an

makes an estimate of the assets’ recov-

neither transferred nor retained substan-

acquirer in a business combination and

erable amounts.

tially all the risks and rewards of the asset,

other financial liabilities designated as
such at initial recognition and (ii) financial
guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

but has transferred control of the asset.

6.3.6 Financial liabilities –
2017

When FEGNV has transferred its rights to
receive cash flows from an asset or has
entered into a pass-through arrangement,

O ffse t t i ng f i n a nc i a l

Financial liabilities comprise of interest-

and has neither transferred nor retained

i ns t ru m en t s

bearing loans and borrowings. On initial

substantially all the risks and rewards of

Financial assets and financial liabilities

recognition, financial liabilities are meas-

the asset nor transferred control of the

are offset and the net amount reported

ured at fair value less transaction costs

asset, the asset is recognised to the extent

in the consolidated statement of finan-

where they are not categorised as finan-

of FEGNV’s continuing involvement in the

cial position if, and only if, there is a cur-

cial liabilities at fair value through profit

asset. In that case, FEGNV also recognises

rently enforceable legal right to offset

or loss. Except for derivative financial

an associated liability. The transferred as-

the recognised amounts and there is an

instruments, FEGNV has not designated

set and the associated liability are meas-

intention to settle on a net basis, or to

any financial liabilities upon initial rec-

ured on a basis that reflects the rights and

realise the asset and settle the liability

ognition as at fair value through profit

obligations that FEGNV has retained.

simultaneously. This is not generally the

or loss.

case with master netting agreements,

Continuing involvement, which takes the

and the related assets and liabilities are

Financial liabilities at fair value through

form of a guarantee over the transferred

presented gross in the consolidated

profit or loss are measured initially at

asset, is measured at the lower of the

statement of financial position.

fair value, with transaction costs taken

original carrying amount of the asset
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and the maximum amount of consideration that FEGNV could be required

6.3.9 Foreign currency
translation

to repay.

6.3.12 New and amended
standards and
interpretations

The presentation and functional cur-

6.3.8 Loans and receivables

rency of FEGNV is the Euro (“EUR” or

The Company applied IFRS 15, IFRS 9 and

“€”).

several other amendments and interpretations for the first time in 2018. None

Loans and receivables are non-deriva-

Transactions in foreign currencies are in-

of the changes have any impact on the

tive financial assets with fixed or deter-

itially recorded in the functional currency

consolidated financial statements of the

minable payments that are not quoted

at the foreign currency rate prevailing at

Company. The Company has not earlier

in an active market. After initial meas-

the date of the transaction.

adopted any standards, interpretations
or amendments that have been issued

urement, such financial assets are sub-

but are not yet effective.

sequently measured at amortised cost

Monetary assets and liabilities denomi-

using the effective interest rate method

nated in foreign currencies are retrans-

(EIR), less impairment. The amortised

lated at the foreign currency rate of ex-

I F R S 9 F i n a nc i a l

cost is calculated by taking into account

change prevailing at the balance sheet

Ins t ru m en t s

any discount or premium on acquisition

date. All differences are taken to the

(a) Classification and measurement

and fees or costs that are an integral

statement of profit or loss.

The new standard requires debt fi-

part of the EIR.

nancial assets to be classified into two
Non-monetary items that are measured

measurement categories: those to be

EIR amortisation is included in finance

in terms of the historical cost in a for-

measured subsequently at fair value,

income in the statement of profit or loss.

eign currency are translated using the

either through other comprehensive

The losses arising from impairment are

exchange rates as of the dates of the

income (FVOCI) or through profit or

recognised in the statement of profit or

initial transactions. Non-monetary items

loss (FVTPL) and those to be measured

loss in finance costs.

measured at fair value in a foreign cur-

at amortized cost. The determination is

rency are translated using the exchange

made at initial recognition. For debt fi-

INTEREST-BEARINGS LOANS

rates at the date when the fair value is

nancial assets the classification depends

A N D B O R R O WI N G S

determined.

on the entity’s business model for man-

All loans and borrowings are initially
recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs as-

aging its financial instruments and the

6.3.10 Expenses

sociated with the borrowing. After initial

contractual cash flows characteristics of
the instruments. For equity financial assets it depends on the entity’s intentions

recognition, interest-bearing loans and

Costs and expenses are allocated to the

borrowings are subsequently measured

year to which they relate. Losses are

and designation.

at amortised cost using the effective in-

recognised in the year in which they are

In particular, assets that are held for col-

terest method.

identified.

lection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely pay-

Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the li-

6.3.11 Contingencies

abilities are derecognised as well as

ments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash

through the effective interest rate meth-

Contingent assets are not recognised

flows and for selling the financial assets,

od (EIR) amortisation process.

in the financial statements but are dis-

where the assets’ cash flows represent

closed when an inflow of economic

solely payments of principal and inter-

The amortised cost is calculated by tak-

benefits is probable. Contingent liabili-

est, are measured at fair value through

ing into account any discount or pre-

ties are not recognised in the financial

other comprehensive income. Lastly, as-

mium on acquisition and fees or costs

statements. They are disclosed in the

sets that do not meet the criteria for am-

that are an integral part of the EIR. The

notes unless the possibility of an out-

ortised cost or fair value through other

EIR amortisation is included in finance

flow of resources embodying economic

comprehensive income are measured at

costs in the statement of profit or loss.

benefits is remote.

fair value through profit or loss.
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For investments in equity instruments

Upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Compa-

tion separately. Reassessment of certain

that are not held for trading, the classifi-

ny recognised no additional impairment

key considerations (e.g. the lease term,

cation depends on whether the entity has

on the Company’s. Trade receivables or

variable rents based on an index or rate,

made an irrevocable election at the time

cash held as deposits with banks.

the discount rate) by the lessee is required

of initial recognition to account for the eq-

upon certain events. Lessor accounting is

uity investment at fair value through other

In accordance with the transition provi-

substantially the same as today’s lessor

comprehensive income. If no such elec-

sions in IFRS 9, the Company has elect-

accounting, using IAS 17’s dual classifica-

tion has been made or the investments

ed the simplified transition method for

tion approach. IFRS 16 also requires les-

in equity instruments are held for trading

adopting the new standard. Accordingly,

sees and lessors to make more extensive

they are required to be classified at fair

any effect of transition to IFRS 9 should

disclosures than under IAS 17. The new

value through profit or loss.

be recognised as at 1 January 2018 as

standard is effective for the financial years

an adjustment to the opening retained

beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with

The classification and measurement

earnings (or other components of equity,

certain transition reliefs permitted. Early

requirements of IFRS 9 did have only

as appropriate). In accordance with the

application is permitted, but not before

an immaterial impact on the Company.

transition method elected by the Com-

an entity applies IFRS 15 – Revenue from

The Company continued measuring at

pany for implementation of IFRS 9 the

Contract with Customers. Entities that are

fair value all financial assets previously

comparatives have not been restated

lessees are allowed to choose either a full

held at fair value under IAS 39.

but are stated based on the previous

retrospective or a modified retrospective

policies which comply with IAS 39. How-

transition approach.

(b) Impairment

ever, for presentation purposes, the as-

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamental-

sets and liabilities at 31 December 2017

The Company is assessing the impact of

ly changed the Company’s accounting for

have been reclassified in accordance

IFRS 16. As of 31.12.2018, there is no lease

impairment losses for financial assets by

with the IFRS 9 principles, hence have

contract which meets IFRS 16 criteria. The

replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach

been re‑presented. The re‑presentation

new standard has no impact on the bal-

with a forward-looking expected credit

had no material impact on the consoli-

ance sheet and equity of the Company.

loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9 requires the

dated financial statements.
IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty

Company to recognise an allowance for
ECLs for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss and
contract assets as well as cash deposits

6.3.13 Future accounting
developments

held at banks.

over Income Tax Treatment
The Interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax
treatments involve uncertainty that af-

The new and amended standards and in-

fects the application of IAS 12 and does

IFRS 9 also introduces a single impair-

terpretations that are issued, but not yet

not apply to taxes or levies outside the

ment model applicable for debt instru-

effective, up to the date of issuance of

scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically

ments at amortised cost and fair value

the Company’s financial statements are

include requirements relating to interest

through other comprehensive income

disclosed below. The Company intends

and penalties associated with uncertain

and removes the need for a triggering

to adopt these new and amended stand-

tax treatments. The Interpretation spe-

event to be necessary for recognition

ards and interpretations, if applicable,

cifically addresses the following:

of impairment losses. The new impair-

when they become effective.

ment model under IFRS 9 requires the

•• Whether an entity considers uncer-

recognition of allowances for doubtful

I F R S 1 6 Le a ses

debts based on expected credit losses

IFRS 16 requires lessees to account for

(ECL), rather than incurred credit losses

all leases under a single on-balance sheet

as under IAS 39. The standard further

model (subject to certain exemptions)

about the examination of tax treat-

introduces a simplified approach for cal-

in a similar way to finance leases under

ments by taxation authorities

culating impairment on trade receivables

IAS 17 with recognition exemptions for

as well as for calculating impairment on

leases of ’low-value’ assets and short-term

contract assets and lease receivables,

leases. Lessees recognise a liability to pay

profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused

which also fall within the scope of the

rentals with a corresponding asset, and

tax losses, unused tax credits and

impairment requirements of IFRS 9.

recognise interest expense and deprecia-

tax rates

tain tax treatments separately

•• The

•• How

assumptions an entity makes

an entity determines taxable
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•• How an entity considers changes in

venture. The amendments clarify that the

considering the effect of the asset ceil-

gain or loss resulting from the sale or con-

ing. This amount is recognised in profit or

tribution of assets that constitute a busi-

loss. An entity then determines the effect

An entity has to determine whether to

ness, as defined in IFRS 3, between an in-

of the asset ceiling after the plan amend-

consider each uncertain tax treatment

vestor and its associate or joint venture, is

ment, curtailment or settlement. Any

separately or together with one or more

recognised in full. Any gain or loss resulting

change in that effect, excluding amounts

other uncertain tax treatments. The ap-

from the sale or contribution of assets that

included in the net interest, is recognised

proach that better predicts the resolution

do not constitute a business, however, is

in other comprehensive income.

of the uncertainty should be followed.

recognised only to the extent of unrelated

The interpretation is effective for annual

investors’ interests in the associate or joint

The amendments apply to plan amend-

reporting periods beginning on or after

venture. The IASB has deferred the effec-

ments, curtailments, or settlements occur-

1 January 2019, but certain transition re-

tive date of these amendments indefinitely,

ring on or after the beginning of the first

liefs are available. The Company will apply

but an entity that early adopts the amend-

annual reporting period that begins on or

the interpretation from its effective date.

ments must apply them prospectively. The

after 1 January 2019, with early application

Company will apply these amendments

permitted. These amendments will apply

when they become effective.

only to any future plan amendments, cur-

facts and circumstances

Amendments to IFRS 9:
Prepayment Features with

tailments, or settlements of the Company.

Negative Compensation

Amendments to IAS 19: Plan

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be

Amendment, Curtailment or

Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term

measured at amortised cost or at fair val-

Settlement

interests in associates and joint

ue through other comprehensive income,

The amendments to IAS 19 address the

ventures

provided that the contractual cash flows

accounting when a plan amendment, cur-

The amendments clarify that an entity

are ‘solely payments of principal and in-

tailment or settlement occurs during a re-

applies IFRS 9 to long-term interests in

terest on the principal amount outstand-

porting period. The amendments specify

an associate or joint venture to which the

ing’ (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument

that when a plan amendment, curtailment

equity method is not applied but that, in

is held within the appropriate business

or settlement occurs during the annual

substance, form part of the net invest-

model for that classification. The amend-

reporting period, an entity is required to:

ment in the associate or joint venture

set passes the SPPI criterion regardless of

•• Determine current service cost for the

is relevant because it implies that the

the event or circumstance that causes the

remainder of the period after the plan

expected credit loss model in IFRS 9 ap-

early termination of the contract and ir-

amendment, curtailment or settle-

plies to such long-term interests.

respective of which party pays or receives

ment, using the actuarial assumptions

reasonable compensation for the early

used to remeasure the net defined

The amendments also clarified that, in

termination of the contract.

benefit liability (asset) reflecting the

applying IFRS 9, an entity does not take

benefits offered under the plan and

account of any losses of the associate or

the plan assets after that event

joint venture, or any impairment losses

ments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial as-

The amendments should be applied
retrospectively and are effective from
1 January 2019, with earlier application

•• Determine

(long-term interests). This clarification

on the net investment, recognised as adnet interest for the re-

justments to the net investment in the

permitted. These amendments have no

mainder of the period after the plan

associate or joint venture that arise from

impact on the consolidated financial

amendment, curtailment or settle-

applying IAS 28 Investments in Associ-

statements of the Group.

ment using: the net defined benefit

ates and Joint Ventures.

liability (asset) reflecting the benefits
Amendments to IFRS 10 and

offered under the plan and the plan

The amendments should be applied ret-

IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of

assets after that event; and the dis-

rospectively and are effective from 1 Jan-

Assets between an Investor and its

count rate used to remeasure that

uary 2019, with early application permit-

Associate or Joint Venture

net defined benefit liability (asset).

ted. Since the Group does not have such

The amendments address the conflict be-

long-term interests in its associate and

tween IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with

The amendments also clarify that an en-

joint venture, the amendments will not

the loss of control of a subsidiary that is

tity first determines any past service cost,

have an impact on its consolidated finan-

sold or contributed to an associate or joint

or a gain or loss on settlement, without

cial statements.
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Annual Improvements 2015-2017

operation constitutes a business as de-

applies those amendments, it applies

Cycle (issued in December 2017)

fined in IFRS 3. The amendments clarify

them to the income tax consequences

These improvements include:

that the previously held interests in that

of dividends recognised on or after the

joint operation are not remeasured.

beginning of the earliest comparative pe-

•• IFRS 3 Business Combinations

riod. Since the Group’s current practice
An entity applies those amendments to

is in line with these amendments, the

The amendments clarify that, when an

transactions in which it obtains joint con-

Group does not expect any effect on its

entity obtains control of a business that

trol on or after the beginning of the first

consolidated financial statements.

is a joint operation, it applies the re-

annual reporting period beginning on or

quirements for a business combination

after 1 January 2019, with early applica-

achieved in stages, including remeasur-

tion permitted. These amendments are

ing previously held interests in the assets

currently not applicable to the Group but

The amendments clarify that an entity

and liabilities of the joint operation at fair

may apply to future transactions.

treats as part of general borrowings any

value. In doing so, the acquirer remeasures its entire previously held interest in

•• IAS 12 Income Taxes

the joint operation.

•• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

borrowing originally made to develop
a qualifying asset when substantially all
of the activities necessary to prepare

The amendments clarify that the income

that asset for its intended use or sale

An entity applies those amendments to

tax consequences of dividends are

are complete.

business combinations for which the

linked more directly to past transactions

acquisition date is on or after the begin-

or events that generated distributable

An entity applies those amendments

ning of the first annual reporting period

profits than to distributions to owners.

to borrowing costs incurred on or after

beginning on or after 1 January 2019,

Therefore, an entity recognises the in-

the beginning of the annual reporting

with early application permitted. These

come tax consequences of dividends

period in which the entity first applies

amendments will apply on future busi-

in profit or loss, other comprehensive

those amendments. An entity applies

ness combinations of the Group.

income or equity according to where the

those amendments for annual re-

entity originally recognised those past

porting periods beginning on or after

transactions or events.

1 January 2019, with early application

•• IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

permitted. Since the Group’s current
A party that participates in, but does not

An entity applies those amendments for

practice is in line with these amend-

have joint control of, a joint operation

annual reporting periods beginning on

ments, the Group does not expect

might obtain joint control of the joint op-

or after 1 January 2019, with early appli-

any effect on its consolidated financial

eration in which the activity of the joint

cation is permitted. When an entity first

statements.

C o r p o r a t e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s o f Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

6.4 U
 se of accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions
JUDGEMENTS

adjustment to the carrying amount of

the next financial year, are discussed

The preparation of these financial state-

the asset or liability affected in future

below:

ments requires management to make

periods.
R E C O V E R ABL E AM O U N T S O F

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

E S TIMAT E S

R E C E I V ABL E S

of expenses, assets and liabilities, and

The key assumptions concerning future

The Company performed impairment

the disclosure of contingent liabilities,

and other key sources of uncertainty

assessment analysis by using the ECL

at the end of the reporting period.

in estimation at the reporting date,

model and exercised judgement to es-

However, uncertainty about these as-

which have a significant risk of causing

timate recoverable amounts based on

sumptions and estimates could result

a material adjustment to the carrying

various economic scenarios, recovery

in outcomes that require a material

amounts of assets and liabilities within

rates, and probability of defaults.

6.5 Intangible assets
€ 000

Software

Total

303

303

Additions

—

—

Disposals

—

—

303

303

303

303

Additions

—

—

Disposals

—

—

303

303

Carrying amount 31 December 2018

—

—

Carrying amount 1 January 2018

—

—

Cost:
1 January 2018

31 December 2018

Accumulated amortisation:
1 January 2018

31 December 2018

127

128

A n n u a l R eport 2 0 1 8

€ 000

Software

Total

303

303

Additions

—

—

Disposals

—

—

303

303

298

298

5

5

303

303

—

—

5

5

Other fixed assets

Total

1 January 2018

9

9

31 December 2018

9

9

9

9

Additions

—

—

Disposals

—

—

9

9

Carrying amount 31 December 2018

—

—

Carrying amount 1 January 2018

—

—

Cost:
1 January 2017

31 December 2017

Accumulated amortisation:
1 January 2017
Additions
Disposals
31 December 2017

Carrying amount 31 December 2017
Carrying amount 1 January 2017

6.6 Property, plant and equipment
€ 000
Cost:

Accumulated amortisation:
1 January 2018

31 December 2018
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€ 000

Other fixed assets

Total

1 January 2017

9

9

31 December 2017

9

9

9

9

Additions

—

—

Disposals

—

—

9

9

Carrying amount 31 December 2017

—

—

Carrying amount 1 January 2017

—

—

Cost:

Accumulated amortisation:
1 January 2017

31 December 2017

Depreciation started in 2011; the depreciation rate of office furniture and equipment is set to 20%.

6.7 Investments in subsidiaries
FEGNV held the following subsidiaries as of 31 December 2018:

Entity name

Country of
incorporation

Percentage
held
31. 12. 2018

Principal
Activity

Historic
cost
€ 000

Carrying
amount
31. 12. 2018
€ 000

(i)

RIVERHILL a. s.

Czech Republic

100%

Holding

105,977

105,977

(ii)

FORTUNA SK, a. s.

Slovak Republic

100%

Entertainment

70,000

70,000

(iii)

FORTUNA online zakłady
bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.

Poland

33.33%

Entertainment

3,030

3,030

(iv)

Hattrick PSK d.o.o (Fortuna
Virtual d.o.o.)

Croatia

100%

Entertainment

6,003

6,003

(v)

Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.

Romania

100%

Holding

5,250

5,250

(vi)

Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.

Romania

100%

Holding

4,250

4,250

(vii)

PRO HB Slots s.r.l.

Romania

100%

Entertainment

6

6

194,516

194,516

31 December 2018

129

130
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Move m en t s i n i nves t m en t s i n su b s i d i a r i es

Movements 2018

1.1.2018
€ 000

Acquisition
share
€ 000

Additions
share
€ 000

Impairment
€ 000

31.12.2018
€ 000

105,977

—

—

—

105,977

70,000

—

—

—

70,000

(i)

RIVERHILL a. s.

(ii)

FORTUNA SK, a. s.

(iii)

FORTUNA online zakłady
bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.

3,030

—

—

—

3,030

(iv)

Hattrick PSK d.o.o.
(Fortuna Virtual d.o.o.)

6,003

—

—

—

6,003

(v)

Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.

5,250

—

—

—

5,250

(vi)

Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.

4,250

—

—

—

4,250

(vii)

PRO HB Slots s.r.l.

—

6

—

—

6

194,510

—

—

—

194,516

1.1.2017
€ 000

Acquisition
share
€ 000

Additions
share
€ 000

Impairment
€ 000

31.12.2017
€ 000

105,977

—

—

—

105,977

70,000

—

—

—

70,000

3,030

—

—

—

3,030

Total

Movements 2017
(ii)

RIVERHILL a. s.

(iii)

FORTUNA SK, a. s.

(iv)

FORTUNA online zakłady
bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.

(v)

Fortuna Virtual d.o.o.

—

6,003

—

—

6,003

(vi)

Fortuna Bet Shops
Holding s.r.l.

—

5,250

—

—

5,250

(vii)

Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.

—

4,250

—

—

4,250

179,007

15,503

—

—

194,510

Total

On 20 March 2017, the Company

d.o.o. (HR) – Hattrick PSK as a succes-

as a holding company with the purpose

founded Fortuna Virtual d.o.o., based in

sor. Since then, FEGNV has held a direct

of acquiring Romanian companies Bet

Croatia. Fortuna Virtual was founded as

100% share in Hattrick PSK d.o.o.

Zone s.r.l., Public Slots s.r.l. and Slot

a holding company with the purpose of

Arena s.r.l. On 31 August 2017, the trans-

acquiring Hattrick Group (Hattrick Sports

On 5 April 2017, the Company founded

action was closed.In October 2017, the

Group Ltd. as a parent company and its

Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l., based

subsidiary OK Albastru Rosu s.r.l. found-

subsidiaries operating in Romania and

in Romania. Fortuna Bet Shops Hold-

ed PRO HB Slots s.r.l., based in Romania.

Croatia). On 19 May 2017, the transac-

ing was founded as a holding company

The company was established with pur-

tion was closed.

with the purpose of acquiring Romanian

pose to run slot business in Romania.

company Bet Active Concept s.r.l. On 31

In April 2018 FEGNV took over PRO HB

August 2017 the transaction was closed.

Slots.

Sports Group Ltd. (June 2018) as the suc-

On 4 April 2017, the Company founded

All shares held by the Company

cessor. Subsequently (November 2018),

Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l., based in Ro-

are pledged to Czech bank Česká

Fortuna Virtual merged with Hattrick PSK

mania. Fortuna Bet Holding was founded

spořitelna, a. s.

In 2018, Fortuna Virtual d.o.o. merged
with the holding company Hattrick
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6.8 Long term Financial assets
FEGNV granted loans to the following

The parent company granted loans to

hereinafter “Fortbet”. The loan was split

subsidiaries:

Romanian holding companies FORTUNA

into two tranches.

•• Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l. (here-

Bet Shops Holding s.r.l. and Fortuna Bet
The following facilities were rendered:

Holding s.r.l. in 2017.

inafter “FBSH”)

•• Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l. (hereinafter
“FBH”)

In 2018, FEGNV granted a loan to its parent company Fortbet Holdings Ltd. (CY),

Facility
€ 000

Starting
date

Expiration
date

Effective
average
interest %

FBSH

114

3 Jul 17

30 Jun 23

1.900% 1

FBH

92

3 Jul 17

30 Jun 23

1.900% 1

Fortbet Holdings

74,391

20 Dec 18

24 Apr 23

2.360% 2

Fortbet Holdings

30,693

20 Dec 18

24 Apr 23

2.460% 2

Company

Total

105,290

1	The facility bears an interest equal to the interest payable by the Company to the banks under the loan contract + margin of 0.5%.
2	The facility bears an interest equal to the interest payable by the Company to the banks under the loan contract + margin of 0.31%, see below, 6.14 Bank loans

Move m en t s i n t h e l o a n f a c i l i t i es dur i ng 2 0 1 8
€ 000

FBSH

FBH

Fortbet

Fortbet

Total

112

91

—

—

203

—

—

74,332

30,668

105,000

2

1

59

25

87

Repayments

—

—

—

—

—

Currency translation

—

—

—

—

—

31 December 2018

114

92

74,391

30,693

105,290

—

—

—

—

—

1 January 2018
Additions
Interest

Of which current portion

131

132
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€ 000

FBSH

FBH

Total

—

—

—

110

90

200

2

1

3

Repayments

—

—

—

Currency translation

—

—

—

31 December 2017

112

91

203

—

—

—

1 January 2017
Additions
Interest

Of which current portion

All the rendered loans are denominated in EUR. Intercompany receivables are pledged in favour of Česká Spořitelna a. s.

6.9 Other non-current assets
€ 000

2018

2017

Deposits

—

6

31 December

—

6

The balance of € 6 thousand relates to a long-term deposit for office rent.

6.10 Prepayments and other current assets
These consist of the following:
€ 000

2018

2017

—

60

6

—

Prepaid office rent

—

5

Other

53

39

31 December

59

104

Dutch VAT receivable
Deposits
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6.11 Short-term Financial assets
€ 000
Loan notes
Loan notes (interest)
31 December

2018

2017

10,000

—

206

—

10,206

—

The Company acquired a Loan note from a related party, Penta Funding a. s. The Loan note is due in June 2019 and bears a fixed
interest rate of 3.7%.

Term deposits – € 000
Term deposit
Term deposit (interest)
31 December

2018

2017

25,000

—

1

—

25,001

—

The Company deposited cash in the amount of 25,000 tsd. EUR to a related party, PRIMA bank a. s. The term deposit is due in April 2019.

6.12 Cash and cash equivalents
€ 000

2018

2017

Cash at banks

1,478

556

31 December

1,478

556

The total amount of cash at banks includes an amount of € 59 thousand (2017: € 18 thousand) outstanding at related companies.

133

134
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6.13 Shareholder’s equity
Au t h or i sed s h a res

2018
# of shares thousands

2017
# of shares thousands

Ordinary shares of € 0.01 each

250,000

250,000

31 December

250,000

250,000

O rd i n a ry s h a res i ssued a nd fu l l y p a i d

# of shares
thousand

Par value
per share – €

Share capital
€ 000

31 December 2018

52,000

0.01

520

31 December 2017

52,000

0.01

520

As of 31.12.2018, all the shares are owned by FORTBET Holdings Ltd.
All the shares issued by the Company are pledged as security for the bank loan facilities.

6.14 Bank loans
The summary of the actual structure of the loans from Česká Spořitelna, a. s. is provided below:

Currency

Effective
interest rate

Maturity

2018
€ 000

Facility A8

EUR

3M EURIBOR + 2.05%

April 2023

73,727

Facility B3

EUR

3M EURIBOR + 2.15%

April 2023

30,690

Long-term bank loans

of which current portion

(16,443)

Total bank loans

104,417

Balance sheet items pledged as a se-

Those two tranches are part of the syndi-

The parent company, Fortbet Holdings

curity in favour of Česká Spořitelna a. s.

cated bank loan described in the notes to

Limited, pledged all the shares of For-

represent primarily shares of subsidiary

the consolidated financial statements of

tuna Entertainment Group N. V. in favour

companies (see note 6.7), cash and cash

Fortuna Group (see note 5.29). The descrip-

of Česká spořitelna a. s. as a security to

equivalents (note 6.12) and intercompany

tion contains complete information on the

the bank loan facility.

receivables (intercompany loans, note 6.8).

security in favour of the financing banks.
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Fortuna Group has to comply with bank

ber and 31 December. The main finan-

tions agreed with the lenders. As of 31 De-

loan covenants (leverage and cash flow

cial covenants are a cash flow cover (last

cember 2018, the cash flow cover ratio was

cover) based on consolidated financials.

12 months’ cash flow / debt service) ratio of

3.40 and the leverage ratio was 1.35.

Fortuna Group provides a compliance cer-

at least 1.1 and a leverage (last 12 months’

tificate and reporting on the covenants on

EBITDA / net debt) ratio not exceeding 3.0

As of 31 December 2018 and 31 Decem-

a quarterly basis for the 12-month periods

as of 31 December 2018. These covenants

ber 2017, Fortuna Group was in compli-

ending on 31 March, 30 June, 30 Septem-

are calculated in accordance with defini-

ance with all bank loan covenants.

6.15 Loans from group companies
FEGNV received loans from the following

•• FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacher-

subsidiaries:

skie Sp. z o.o. (FPL)

•• FORTUNA SK, a. s. (hereinafter “FSK”)
•• FORTUNA GAME a. s. (hereinafter
“FG”)

Loans provided by FORTUNA SK a. s.
were consolidated into one loan with
a prolonged maturity date at the end

The parent company received new

of 2018.

loans in the total amount of 22,600 tsd.
EUR from its subsidiaries in 2018.

The following facilities were obtained:

Facility
€ 000

Starting
date

Expiration
date

Effective
average
interest %

FSK

20,485

31 Dec.18

24 Apr 23

2.000% 1

FG

1,540

3 Aug 17

30 Jun 23

1.600% 2

FG

2,551

3 Aug 17

30 Jun 23

1.631% 2

FZB

15,009

17 Dec 18

24 Apr 23

1.400% 2

Total facilities

39,585

Company

1 The facility bears an interest of 3 month EURIBOR + 200 points.
2 The facility bears an interest of 3 month EURIBOR + 140 points.

Move m en t s i n t h e l o a n f a c i l i t i es dur i ng 2 0 1 8
€ 000

FORTUNA SK

FORTUNA GAME

FORTUNA PL

13,224

3,435

—

7,000

600

15,000

—

22,600

261

56

9

—

326

Repayments

—

—

—

—

—

Currency translation

—

—

—

—

—

31 December 2018

20,485

4,091

15,009

—

39,585

—

—

—

—

—

1 January 2018
Additions
Interest

Of which current portion

RIVERHILL

Total
16,659

135

136
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Move m en t s i n t h e l o a n f a c i l i t i es dur i ng 2 0 1 7
€ 000

FORTUNA SK

FORTUNA GAME

12,968

—

—

3,400

—

—

3,400

256

35

—

—

291

Repayments

—

—

—

—

—

Currency translation

—

—

—

—

—

31 December 2017

13,224

3,435

—

—

16,659

8,747

—

—

—

8,747

1 January 2017
Additions
Interest

Of which current portion

FORTUNA PL

RIVERHILL

Total
12,968

All the loans are denominated in EUR.

6.16 Creditors
€ 000

2018

2017

Third party creditors

95

182

31 December

95

182

Local currency

Equivalent in EUR

EUR

94

94

CZK

12

1

As of 31 December 2018 the creditors were denominated in the following currencies:

€ 000
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6.17 Accruals and other current liabilities
These consist of the following:

€ 000

2018

2017

—

4

8

21

Accrual, audit expenses

133

203

Accrual, other consultancy and administrative expenses

209

113

Other

375

37

31 December

725

378

Salary withholding taxes
Salary

6.18 Dividend income
In 2018 FEGNV recorded the following dividend income from subsidiaries:

Company
FORTUNA SK, a. s.
FORTUNA online zakłady
bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.
RIVERHILL a. s.

Resolution
date

Relating to
year / period

Local
currency

Amount
000

Total
€ 000

2.5.2018

2017

EUR

8,785

8,785

26.4.2018

2017

PLN

12,771

3,022

10.12.2018

2018

CZK

89,271

3,470

31 December

15,277

In 2017 FEGNV recorded the following dividend income from subsidiaries:
Resolution
date

Relating to
year / period

Local
currency

Amount
000

Total
€ 000

FORTUNA SK, a. s.

29.5.2017

2016

EUR

5,843

5,843

RIVERHILL a. s.

1.12.2017

2017

CZK

2,816

107

Company

31 December

5,950

137

138
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6.19 Personnel expenses
The personnel expenses in 2018 were as follows:

€ 000

Staff

Directors

Total

—

273

273

Social security charges

7

—

7

31 December

7

273

280

Staff

Directors

Total

Salaries / wages

92

75

167

Social security charges

15

—

15

107

75

182

Salaries / wages

The personnel expenses in 2017 were as follows:

€ 000

31 December

As of 31 December 2018, the Company employed 2 part-time Managing Directors (2017: 4). In 2017, a full-time equivalent of 1 person
was employed by FEGNV.

6.20 Other operating expenses
These consist of the following:

€ 000

2018

2017

Consultancy expenses

343

1,304

External auditor expenses

189

209

Other expenses

242

515

31 December

774

2,028
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Expenses of Fortuna Group related to external auditor services in the year 2018:

€ 000

Netherlands

other entities

Total

189

438

627

Tax services

—

15

15

Other services

—

—

—

189

453

642

Audit of financial statements

TOTAL

6.21 Finance income
These consist of the following:

€ 000

2018

2017

294

3

Exchange rate gains, other

14

21

Other

—

61

308

85

2018

2017

327

291

77

—

Guarantee fee, subsidiaries

242

96

Exchange rate losses, banks and other

108

—

9

5

763

392

Interest income

31 December

6.22 Finance cost
These consist of the following:

€ 000
Interest expenses, loans from subsidiaries
Interest expenses, bank loans

Banking expenses
31 December

(note 6.23)

139

140
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6.23 Related party disclosures
As of 31 December 2018, Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V. consisted of the following entities, which were held as follows:
Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.
FORTUNA SK, a. s.
Bet Zone s.r.l.
Public Slots s.r.l.
Slot Arena s.r.l.
Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.
Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.
Bet Zone s.r.l.
Alter Power Plant s.r.l.
Public Slots S.R.L.
Slot Arena S.R.L.
Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.
Bet Active Concept s.r.l.
FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o. o
Hattrick – PSK d.o.o.
Hattrick Bet s.r.l.
OK Albastru Rosu s.r.l.
PRO HB Slots s.r.l.
RIVERHILL a. s.
ALICELA a. s.
FORTUNA GAME a. s.
FORTUNA RENT s. r. o.
FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o. o
OK Albastru Rosu s.r.l.
PRO HB Slots s.r.l.
FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o. o
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At the end of 2016, management de-

Bet Shops Holding s.r.l., both based in

On May 2018, Hattrick Sports

cided to sell the lottery business rep-

Romania. Both companies were founded

Group Ltd. merged with Fortuna Vir-

resented by FORTUNA sázky, a. s. The

as holding companies with the purpose

tual d.o.o. (Fortuna Virtual d.o.o. as

transaction was closed on 23 May 2017.

of acquiring Romanian entities Bet Ac-

a successor).

tive Concept s.r.l., Bet Zone s.r.l., Slot
On 20 March 2017, the Company

Arena s.r.l. and Public Slots s.r.l. On 31

On November 2018, Fortuna Virtu-

founded Fortuna Virtual d.o.o., based

August 2018, the transaction was closed.

al d.o.o. merged with Hattrick PSK d.o.o.

in Croatia. Fortuna Virtual was founded

(Hattrick PSK d.o.o. as a successor).

as a holding company with the purpose

On December 2017, FORTUNA online

of acquiring Hattrick Group (Hattrick

zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o. (FOR-

The following table lists the total

Sports Group Ltd. as a parent company

TUNA online), as the successor company,

amounts relating to transactions en-

based in Ireland, and its subsidiaries

acquired FORTUNA SERVICES Sp. z o.o.,

tered into with Group companies and

operating in Romania and Croatia). On

s.k.a. (100% ownership in 2017) and FOR-

other related parties for the relevant

19 May 2018, the transaction was closed.

TUNA SERVICES Sp. z o.o. (100% owner-

financial year:

ship in 2017) in accordance with the
On April 2017, the Company founded

merger project carried out by the govern-

Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l. and Fortuna

ing bodies of the participating companies.

R e l a t ed p a r t y l o a ns rendered

€ 000

2018

2017

113

112

93

91

105,084

—

10,206

—

115,496

203

2018

2017

35

31

PRIMA banka a. s.

25,001

—

FORTUNA SK, a. s.

17

8

25,053

39

2018

2017

Privatbanka, a. s.

38

18

PRIMA banka a. s.

21

—

31 December

59

18

Fortuna Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.
Fortuna Bet Holding s.r.l.
Fortbet Holdings Ltd.
Penta Funding a. s.
31 December

R ece i v a b l es fro m re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000
FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.

31 December

C a s h i n re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000

141

142
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P a y a b l es t o re l a t ed p a r t i es a nd curren t ( por t i on of ) l o a ns rece i ved fro m
re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000

2018

2017

113

247

The Bookkeeper B.V. (formerly Avis Business Services B.V.)

—

2

Bet Active s.r.l.

—

25

Bet Zone s.r.l.

—

14

Slot Arena s.r.l.

—

5

Public Slots s.r.l.

—

4

6

—

—

47

119

344

2018

2017

20,485

13,225

4,091

3,434

FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.

15,009

—

31 December

39,585

16,659

2018

2017

119

73

—

1

FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o. (royalty income)

407

194

Total

526

268

€ 000

2018

2017

FORTUNA SK, a. s.

8,785

5,843

FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.

3,022

—

RIVERHILL a. s.

3,470

107

15,277

5,950

FORTUNA GAME a. s.

OK Albastru Rosu s.r.l.
Hattrick Bet s.r.l.
31 December

Lo a ns rece i ved fro m re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000
FORTUNA SK, a. s.
FORTUNA GAME a. s.

O t h er i nco m e fro m re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000
FORTUNA SK, a. s. (royalty income)
FORTUNA GAME a. s. (royalty income)

D i v i dends fro m re l a t ed p a r t i es

Total

C o r p o r a t e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s o f Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

O t h er expenses - re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000

2018

2017

Penta Investments Limited

—

268

The Bookkeeper B.V. (formerly Avis Business Services B.V.)

20

25

112

121

1

3

—

3

133

420

2018

2017

84

—

206

—

FORTUNA Bet Shops Holding s.r.l.

2

—

FORTUNA Bet Holding s.r.l.

2

—

294

—

2018

2017

260

256

9

—

57

35

1

—

327

291

2018

2017

Bet Active s.r.l.

83

25

Bet Zone s.r.l.

49

14

Slot Arena s.r.l.

17

5

Public Slots s.r.l.

12

4

Hattrick Bet s.r.l.

82

47

243

95

FORTUNA GAME, a. s.
Privatbanka a. s.
Copenhagen Gambling
Total

In t eres t i nco m e - re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000
Fortbet Holdings Ltd.
Penta Funding a. s.

Total

In t eres t expense - re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000
FORTUNA SK, a. s.
FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o.
FORTUNA GAME a. s.
Privatbanka, a. s.
Total

O t h er f i n a nc i a l expense - re l a t ed p a r t i es

€ 000

31 December

143

144
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6.24 Contingent liabilities
All shares of RIVERHILL, a. s., FORTUNA

zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o. held

Fortbet Holdings Limited pledged

SK a. s., Fortuna Virtual d.o.o., Fortuna

by the Company are pledged to Czech

all its FEGNV shares to Česká

Bet Shops Holding s.r.l., Fortuna Bet

bank Česká spořitelna, a. s.

spořitelna, a. s.

Holding s.r.l. and FORTUNA online

6.25 F
 inancial risk management objectives
and policies
FEGNV’s principal financial instruments

currency risk and other price risk, such

rate fluctuations and acts accordingly. All

comprise of cash, receivables from

as equity risk. Financial instruments af-

the loans and borrowings are at a fluctu-

group companies and loans drawn from

fected by market risk include loans and

ating rate of interest. The only exception

group companies.

borrowings and deposits.

is a short term loan note (see note 6.11)

FEGNV is exposed to market risk, credit

I N T E R E S T R AT E R I S K

risk and liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair

rendered at fixed rate (the loan note represents about 6% of total loans rendered).

value or future cash flows of a financial in-

The following table demonstrates the

MA R K E T R I S K

strument will fluctuate because of chang-

sensitivity to a reasonably possible

Market risk is the risk that the fair value

es in market interest rates. FEGNV’s ex-

change in interest rates on loans and

of future cash flows of a financial instru-

posure to the risk of changes in market

affected borrowings. With all other vari-

ment will fluctuate because of changes

interest rates relates primarily to its long-

ables held constant, FEGNV’s profit be-

in market prices. Market prices comprise

term debt obligations with floating inter-

fore tax is affected through the floating

of three types of risk: interest rate risk,

est rates. The Company monitors interest

rate borrowings impact, as follows:

Increase/(decrease) in
interest rate by

Effect on profit
before tax
€ 000

1% / (1%)

(394) / 394

2018
EUR

(394) / 394

2017
EUR

1% / (1%)

(128) / 128
(128) / 128

C o r p o r a t e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s o f Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

FEGNV. Credit risk arises from cash and

will continue to be cash generated from

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the

cash equivalents, trade receivables and

its operating entities as well as exist-

fair value or future cash flows of an ex-

loans.

ing cash.

in foreign exchange rates. FEGNV’s expo-

For 2018, the Company also applied the

The Company montiors liquidity risk by

sure to the risk of changes in foreign ex-

ECL model in accordance with IFRS 9

establishing a rolling budget, and moni-

change rates relates primarily to its oper-

regarding intergroup receivables and

tors the maturity of financial assets and

ating activities (when revenue or expense

related party balances by using forward

financial liabilities.

is denominated in a foreign currency) and

looking information. The Company

its net investments in foreign subsidiaries.

measures ECL determined by evaluating

The table below summarises the maturi-

a range of possible outcomes including

ty profile of FEGNV’s financial liabilities as

FEGNV does not manage its foreign cur-

the possibility that a credit loss occurs,

of 31 December 2018 and 2017 based

rency risk.

and recovery action plans.

on contractual undiscounted payments

C R E D IT R I S K

LIQ U I D IT Y R I S K

Credit risk refers to the risk that a coun-

As FEGNV is a holding company and

terparty will default on its contractual

does not generate autonomous in-

obligations resulting in a financial loss to

come, the primary source of liquidity

posure will fluctuate because of changes

(€ 000):

€ 000
Trade and other payables
Loans from group companies
Bank Loans
Other current liabilities
31 December 2018

€ 000
Trade and other payables
Loans from group companies
Other current liabilities
31 December 2017

< 1 year

1 to 3 years

3 to 5 years

> 5 years

Total

214

—

—

—

214

—

—

42,851

—

42,851

18,155

35,278

56,384

—

109,817

675

—

—

—

675

19,044

35,278

99,235

—

153,557

< 1 year

1 to 3 years

3 to 5 years

> 5 years

Total

526

—

—

—

526

8,915

4,650

3,801

—

17,366

378

—

—

—

378

9,819

4,650

3,801

—

18,270

145

146
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1 January 2018

Cash flow –
drawn

Cash flows –
repaid

Reclassified as part
of disposal group /
new acquisitions

Foreign exchange
movement

Changes in Fair
Value

New leases

Other

31 December 2018

C HA N G E I N LIABILITI E S A R I S I N G F R O M F I N A N C I N G A C TI V ITI E S

Current interest-bearing loans and
borrowings (excluding items listed
below)

8,747

—

—

—

—

—

—

(8,747)

—

Current obligations under finance
leases and hire purchase contracts

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Non-current interest-bearing loans
and borrowings (excluding items
listed below)

7,912

127,600

—

—

—

—

—

9,074

144,586

Non-current obligations under
finance leases

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Dividends payable

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Derivatives

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

16,659

127,600

—

—

—

—

—

327

144,856

€ 000

1 January 2017

Cash flow –
drawn

Cash flows –
repaid

Reclassified as part
of disposal group /
new acquisitions

Foreign exchange
movement

Changes in Fair
Value

New leases

Other

31 December 2017

Total

Current interest-bearing loans and
borrowings (excluding items listed
below)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

8,747

8,747

Current obligations under finance
leases and hire purchase contracts

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Non-current interest-bearing loans
and borrowings (excluding items
listed below)

12,968

3,400

—

—

—

—

—

(8,456)

7,912

Non-current obligations under
finance leases

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Dividends payable

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Derivatives

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

12,968

3,400

—

—

—

—

—

291

16,659

€ 000

Total

C o r p o r a t e F i n a n c i a l S t a t e m e n t s o f Fo r t u n a E n t e r t a i n m e n t G r o u p N . V .

C A P ITAL MA N A G E M E N T

business and maximise shareholder

light of changes in economic conditions.

The primary objective of FEGNV capital

value.

To maintain or adjust the capital struc-

management is to ensure that a strong

ture, FEGNV may adjust the dividend

credit rating and healthy capital ratios

FEGNV manages its capital structure and

payment to shareholders, return capital

are maintained in order to support the

makes adjustments to the structure in

to shareholders or issue new shares.

6.26 Significant events during the year
On 19 November 2018, Fortbet paid

of Fortuna by operation of Dutch law

No significant events occured between

an amount corresponding to the num-

and the former minority shareholders

the balance sheet date and the date of

ber of Fortuna shares it did not already

have a right to receive their share of the

the financial statements.

own into the consignment account of

proceeds from the Dutch consignment

the Dutch Ministry of Finance. As such,

office (i.e. EUR 7.94 per previously held

Fortbet became the sole shareholder

share).
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Other
Information

O ther I n form a tio n

Appropr i a t i on of

The profit is available for distribution as

resu l t a ccord i ng t o t h e

far as the shareholders’ equity exceeds

a r t i c l es of a ssoc i a t i on

the issued part of the paid-in share capi-

The profit of the year is at the disposal

tal plus the legal reserves.

of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

7.1 Independent Auditor’s Report
	To the Board of Directors of Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V.

7.1.1 Report on the Audit
of the non-statutory
Consolidated Financial
Statements and
the non-statutory
separate Financial
Statements

flows of the Company for the year then

ent of the Group and the Company in

ended and notes to the consolidated and

accordance with the “International Ethics

separate financial statements, including

Standards Board for Accountants’ Code

a summary of significant accounting poli-

of Ethics for Professional Accountants”

cies and other explanatory information.

(IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our

In our opinion, the accompanying non-

audit of consolidated financial state-

statutory consolidated financial state-

ments and separate financial statements

O p i n i on

ments and separate financial statements

and we have fulfilled our other ethical

We have audited the consolidated fi-

give a true and fair view of the consoli-

responsibilities in accordance with these

nancial statements of Fortuna Entertain-

dated financial position of the Group and

requirements and the IESBA Code. We

ment Group N. V. and its subsidiaries

the Company as at 31 December 2018,

believe that the audit evidence we have

(the “Group”) and the separate financial

and of their financial performance and

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

statements of Fortuna Entertainment

their cash flows for the year then ended

provide a basis for our opinion.

Group N. V. (the “Company”), which are

in accordance with International Fi-

presented in pages 110 to 147 (separate

nancial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as

O t h er i nfor m a t i on

financial statements) and in pages 30 to

adopted by the European Union.

Management is responsible for the oth-

109 (consolidated financial statements)

er information. The other information

and comprise the consolidated statement

B a s i s for O p i n i on

comprises the information included in

of financial position and the statement

We conducted our audit in accordance

the sections: Overview of the Fortuna

of financial position of the Company as

with International Standards on Auditing

Entertainment Group N. V, 2018 Fi-

at 31 December 2018, and the consoli-

(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those

nancial Highlights, Management Board

dated statements of profit or loss and

standards are further described in the

report and Corporate Information in

other comprehensive income, changes in

“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit

pages 2 to 29, but does not include the

equity and cash flows and the statements

of the Consolidated Financial Statements

consolidated financial statements and

of profit or loss and other comprehen-

and The Separate Financial Statements”

the separate financial statements and

sive income, changes in equity and cash

section of our report. We are independ-

our auditor’s report thereon.

149
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Our opinion on the consolidated finan-

for such internal control as Manage-

statements and separate financial state-

cial statements and separate financial

ment determines is necessary to enable

ments.

statements does not cover the other

the preparation of consolidated finan-

information and we do not express any

cial statements and separate financial

As part of an audit in accordance with

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

statements that are free from material

ISAs, we exercise professional judgment

misstatement, whether due to fraud or

and maintain professional scepticism

error.

throughout the audit. We also:

rate financial statements, our responsi-

In preparing the consolidated financial

•• Identify and assess the risks of mate-

bility is to read the other information

statements and separate financial state-

rial misstatement of the consolidated

and, in doing so, consider whether the

ments, Management is responsible for

financial statements and separate fi-

other information is materially incon-

assessing the Group’s and the Compa-

nancial statements, whether due to

sistent with the consolidated financial

ny’s ability to continue as a going con-

fraud or error, design and perform

statements and separate financial state-

cern, disclosing, as applicable, matters

audit procedures responsive to those

ments or our knowledge obtained in the

related to going concern and using the

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

audit or otherwise appears to be materi-

going concern basis of accounting un-

sufficient and appropriate to provide

ally misstated. If, based on the work we

less the Management either intends to

a basis for our opinion. The risk of not

have performed, we conclude that there

liquidate the Group and the Company or

detecting a material misstatement re-

is a material misstatement of this other

to cease operations, or has no realistic

sulting from fraud is higher than for

information, we are required to report

alternative but to do so.

one resulting from error, as fraud may

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements and sepa-

that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

involve collusion, forgery, intentional
Those Charged with Governance are

omissions, misrepresentations, or the

responsible for overseeing the Group’s

override of internal control.

O t h er M a t t er -

and the Company’s financial reporting

N on‑s t a t u t ory

process.

conso l i d a t ed f i n a nc i a l

•• Obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to the audit in order to

s t a t e m en t s a nd sep a r a t e

Aud i t or ’ s R espons i b i l i t i es

design audit procedures that are ap-

f i n a nc i a l s t a t e m en t s

for t h e Aud i t of t h e non -

propriate in the circumstances, but not

The accompanying consolidated finan-

s t a t u t ory C onso l i d a t ed

for the purpose of expressing an opin-

cial statements and separate financial

F i n a nc i a l S t a t e m en t s

ion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

statements are not statutory consoli-

a nd S ep a r a t e F i n a nc i a l

and the Company’s internal control.

dated financial statements and separate

s t a t e m en t s

financial statements of the Group and

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable

•• Evaluate the appropriateness of ac-

the Company, and are not intended for

assurance about whether the non-stat-

counting policies used and the rea-

statutory filing purposes.

utory consolidated financial statements

sonableness of accounting estimates

and the separate financial statements as

and related disclosures made by Man-

R espons i b i l i t i es of

a whole are free from material misstate-

agement.

M a n a ge m en t a nd

ment, whether due to fraud or error, and

T h ose C h a rged w i t h

to issue an auditor’s report that includes

•• Conclude on the appropriateness of

G overn a nce for t h e

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is

Management’s use of the going con-

C onso l i d a t ed F i n a nc i a l

a high level of assurance, but is not a

cern basis of accounting and, based

S t a t e m en t s a nd S ep a r a t e

guarantee that an audit conducted in

on the audit evidence obtained,

F i n a nc i a l s t a t e m en t s

accordance with ISAs will always detect

whether a material uncertainty exists

Management is responsible for the

a material misstatement when it exists.

related to events or conditions that

preparation of the consolidated fi-

Misstatements can arise from fraud or

may cast significant doubt on the

nancial statements and the separate

error and are considered material if, in-

Group’s and the Company’s ability

financial statements that give a true

dividually or in the aggregate, they could

to continue as a going concern. If we

and fair view in accordance with Inter-

reasonably be expected to influence the

conclude that a material uncertainty

national Financial Reporting Standards

economic decisions of users taken on

exists, we are required to draw atten-

as adopted by the European Union, and

the basis of these consolidated financial

tion in our auditor’s report to the re-

OTHER InFORMaTIOn

lated disclosures in the consolidated

ing transactions and events in a manner

ciencies in internal control that we iden-

financial statements and separate fi-

that achieves a true and fair view.

tify during our audit

nancial statements or, if such disclo-

•

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evi-

OthER mattERS

opinion Our conclusions are based

dence regarding the financial informa-

This report is made solely to the Board

on the audit evidence obtained up to

tion of the entities or business activities

of Directors of Fortuna Entertainment

the date of our auditor’s report How-

within the Group to express an opinion

Group n. v., as a body. Our audit work

ever, future events or conditions may

on the consolidated financial state-

has been undertaken so that we might

cause the Group and the Company to

ments We are responsible for the di-

state to the Board of Directors of Fortu-

cease to continue as a going concern

rection, supervision and performance

na entertainment Group n. v. those mat-

of the group audit We remain solely

ters we are required to state to them in

responsible for our audit opinion

an auditor’s report and for no other pur-

sures are inadequate, to modify our

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated

pose To the fullest extent permitted by

financial statements and separate fi-

We communicate with those Charged

law, we do not accept or assume respon-

nancial statements, including the dis-

with Governance regarding, among

sibility to anyone other than the Board

closures, and whether the consolidated

other matters, the planned scope and

of fortuna entertainment Group n. v., for

financial statements and separate finan-

timing of the audit and significant audit

our audit work, for this report, or for the

cial statements represent the underly-

findings, including any significant defi-

opinion we have formed.

Deloitte Limited
Certified public accountants
and Registered auditors
Limassol, 29 march 2019

amsterdam, 29 march 2019

Per Widerström

Marek Rendek

Chairman of the Management Board

Member of the Management Board

of fortuna entertainment Group n. v.

of fortuna entertainment Group n. v.
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Glossary

G l oss a r y

“Alicela”	ALICELA a. s., a joint stock company (akciová společnost), having its registered office at
Praha 1, Na Florenci 2116/15, 110 00, Czech Republic, and registered with the Commercial Register maintained by the Regional Court in Prague, Section B, under the
number 9476
“the Company”, “FEG”, “the Group”	Fortuna Entertainment Group N. V., a limited liability company (Naamloze Vennootschap),
having its statutory seat in Amsterdam, Netherlands, and its registered offices at Strawinskylaan 1223, 1077XX Amsterdam, Netherlands, and registered with the Trade Register of
the Chamber of Commerce of Amsterdam, Netherlands, under number 34364038
“FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED”	FORTBET HOLDINGS LIMITED, a company having its registered office at Agias Fylaxeos
& Polygnostou, 212, C & I Center Building, 2nd floor, 3082, Limassol, Cyprus
“Fortuna GAME”	FORTUNA GAME a. s., a joint stock company (akciová společnost), having its registered office
at Praha 1, Na Florenci 2116/15, 110 00, Czech Republic and registered with the Commercial
Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague, Section B under number 944
“Fortuna PL”	FORTUNA online zakłady bukmacherskie Sp. z o.o., a limited liability company (spółka
z ograniczoną odpowiedzialnością) having its registered office at Bielska 47, Cieszyn,
Poland, and registered with the register of entrepreneurs maintained by the District
Court in Bielsko-Biała, VIII Commercial Division of the National Court Register, under
number 0000002455
“Fortuna RENT”	FORTUNA RENT, s. r. o., a limited liability company (společnost s ručením omezeným) with
its registered office at Prague 1, Vodičkova 699/30, 110 00, Czech Republic, and registered
with the Commercial Register maintained by the Regional Court in Prague, Section C, under
number 104630
“Fortuna SazKan”	FORTUNA sázková kancelář a. s., a joint stock company (akciová společnost), having its
registered office at Prague 1, Vodičkova 30, 110 00, Czech Republic, and registered with
the Commercial Register maintained by the Municipal Court in Prague, Section B under
number 60
“Fortuna SK”

FORTUNA SK, a. s., a joint stock company (akciová spoločnosť), having its registered office at Digital
park II, Einsteinova 23, 851 01, Bratislava 5, Slovak Republic, and registered with the Commercial
Register maintained by the District Court of Bratislava I in Section Sa under number 123/B

“Fortuna Technology”	FORTUNA technology s. r. o. (formerly Intralot Czech s. r. o., a limited liability company
(společnost s ručením omezeným) with its registered office at Praha 1, Na Florenci 2116/15,
110 00, Czech Republic, and registered with the Commercial Register maintained by the
Regional Court in Prague, Section C, under number 181328
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“FortunaWin” 	FortunaWin Ltd., a limited liability company having its registered office at Villa Seminia, 8,
Sir Temi Zammit Avenue, Ta’ Xbiex XBX1011, Malta, and registered with the Malta Financial
Services Authority under number C. 48339; liquidated in 2017
“Riverhill”	RIVERHILL a. s., a joint stock company (akciová společnost), having its registered office at
Praha 1, Na Florenci 2116/15, 110 00, Czech Republic, and registered with the Commercial
Register maintained by the Regional Court in Prague, Section B, under number 9437
“Penta”	Penta Investments Limited, a limited liability company having its registered office at 47 Esplanade, JE1 0BD St. Helier, Jersey, and registered under number 109645
“Fortuna Romania”	A segment of Romanian companies Bet Active Concept S.R.L., Bet Zone S.R.L., Slot Arena S.R.L., Public Slots S.R.L. and acquiring holding companies Fortuna Bet Shops Holding S.R.L. and Fortuna Bet Holding S.R.L.
“Bet Zone”

Bet Zone S.R.L., a limited liability company having its registered office at Barbu Vacarescu Street, no. 13, 1st floor, District 2, Bucharest, Romania; registered under number 34774502

“Bet Active Concept”

Bet Active Concept S.R.L., a limited liability company having its registered office at Strada
Nicolae G. Caramfil, Nr. 85A Camera Nr. 3, Etaj 5, Sectorul 1, Bucharest; registered under
number 34223171

“Slot Arena”

Slot Arena S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Nicolae G. Caramfil Street, no.
85 A, 5th floor, Room 2, District 1, Bucharest, Romania; registered under number 36545823

“Public Slots”	Public Slots S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Nicolae G. Caramfil Street,
no. 85 A, 5th floor, Room 5, District 1, Bucharest, Romania; registered under number 32616468
“Alter Power”	Alter Power S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Nicolae G. Caramfil
Street, no. 85A, 5th floor, Room 6, District 1, Bucharest, Romania; registered under number 32783385
“Fortuna Bet Shops Holding”	Fortuna Bet Shops Holding S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Strada
Nicolae G. Caramfil, Nr. 85A Camera Nr. 8, Etaj 5, Sectorul 1, Bucharest; registered under
number 37334050
“Fortuna Bet Holding”	Fortuna Bet Holding S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Strada Nicolae
G. Caramfil, Nr. 85A Camera Nr. 1, Etaj 5, Sectorul 1, Bucharest; registered under number 37326058
“Hattrick” (“Hattrick Group”)	A segment of companies under Hattrick Sports Group Ltd., Hattrick Sports Group Ltd.,
Hattrick-PSK d.o.o., Hattrick Bet S.R.L., OK Albastru Rosu S.R.L., PRO HB Slots S.R.L. and the
acquiring holding company Fortuna Virtual
“Fortuna Virtual”	FORTUNA VIRTUAL d.o.o., a limited company having its registered office at Hektorovićeva
ulica 2, Zagreb, Croatia; registered under number MBS081087994
“Hattrick Sports Group”	Hattrick Sports Group Ltd., a limited company having its registered office at Deloitte &
Touche House, Earlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2, Ireland; registered under number 482465

G l oss a r y

“Hattrick PSK”	Hattrick-PSK d.o.o., a limited company having its registered office at Sv Leopolda Mandica
14 Dugopolje, Croatia; registered under number 080223744
“Hattrick Bet”	Hattrick Bet S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Strada Negoiu, Nr. 12
Bucharest, Sectorul 3, Bucharest; registered under number 34373098
“OK Albastru Rosu”

OK Albastru Rosu S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Strada Negoiu, Nr. 12 Biroul Nr. 33, Etaj 3 Bucharest, Sectorul 3, Bucharest; registered under number 28980290

“PRO HB Slots”	PRO HB Slots S.R.L., a limited company having its registered office at Strada Negoiu 12,
Parter, Birou Nr. 10, Sector 3, Bucharest; registered under number 38320045
“Yoy”

Year on year, a percentage change in a specific parameter between two matching periods
on an annual basis
Yoy (%) = (parameter of the period / parameter of the same period from previous year – 1) * 100

“Margin”	The Margin is an indicator that should help in the understanding of the effectiveness of
the business.
	Margin = the given indicator / revenue
“EBITDA”

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation. EBITDA should help in the
understanding of the earning potential of a business, without the effect of taxes, cost of
debt capital and depreciation / amortisation.

	EBITDA = Operating Profit + Depreciation Expense + Amortisation Expense
	EBITDA = Net Profit + Interest +Taxes + Depreciation + Amortisation
“EBITDA Margin”	The EBITDA Margin is an indicator that shows the effectiveness of the business on the level
of EBITDA.
	EBITDA Margin = EBITDA / Revenues
“Operating Profit Margin”	The Operating Profit Margin is an indicator that shows the effectiveness of the business
on the level of Operating Profit.
Operating Profit Margin = Operating Profit / Revenues
“Net Profit Margin”	The Net Profit Margin is an indicator that shows the effectiveness of the business on the
level of Net Profit.
	Net Profit Margin = Net Profit / Revenues
“CAPEX as % of Revenues”

CAPEX (Capital Expenditure) as a percentage of Revenues is an indicator that shows the
rate of reinvested Revenues.
CAPEX as % of Revenues = CAPEX / Revenues
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“Net Debt / (Net Cash)”	Net Debt means the aggregate amount of all obligations in respect of bank loans deducting the aggregate amount of cash and cash equivalents at the same time and shows the
financial position of the Group. Net Debt is used in the case of the obligations being higher
than cash and cash equivalents; Net Cash occurs in the opposite situation.
	Net Debt / (Net Cash) = Bank Loans and related obligations – Cash and cash equivalents
“Amounts Staked”	Amounts Staked is a non-IFRS measure representing the amount of bets paid by the players.
	Amounts Staked related to Slots is represented with drops – real cash put in the slot
machine.
“Payouts”

Payouts represents the winnings paid or to be paid to the players. Payouts include also an
estimation of the winnings related to undecided bets.

“Gross Win”	The Gross Win (GW) represents in the revenue structure the output purely derived from
betting before the Withholding Tax, bonuses and other impacts. It only addresses bets and
payouts.
Gross Win = Amounts Staked – Payouts
“Net Gross Win”	The Net Gross Win (NGW) represents in the revenue structure the Gross Win including the
effect of the Withholding Tax.
	NGW = Amounts Staked – Payouts – Withholding Tax
“Market share”

With respect to Chapter 6.1, market share represents an estimated share of the gambling
business in the relevant country, based on Amounts Staked.

“iGaming”	The iGaming or online gaming is the wagering of money or some other value on the outcome of an event or a game, using internet. The iGaming activities represent online casino
(e.g. poker, roulette, slots…).
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